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TR Property Investment Trust plc

The Company's investment objective is to maximise shareholders’ total returns by investing
in the shares and securities of property companies and property related businesses
internationally and also in investment property located in the UK.

Introduction

The Company was formed in 1305 and has been a dedicated property investor since 1982. The Company is an
Investment Trust and 1ts shares are premium fisted on the London Stock Exchange.

Benchmark
The benchmark is the FTSE EPRA/NAREIT Developed Furope Capped Net Total Return index in Sterling.
investment Policy

The Company seeks to achieve its objective by investing in shares and securities of praperty companies and
property related businesses on an international basts, although, with a Pan-European benchmark, the majority of
the investments will be located in that geographical area The Company also invests in mvestment property, located
in the UK only.

Further details of the investment Policies, the Asset Allocation Guidelines and polices regarding the use of geanng are
set out in the Strategic Report on pages 24 to 25 and the entire portfolio 1s shown en page 17.

Investment Manager

F&C investment Business Luimited acts as the Company's alternative investment fund manager ("AIFM") with
portfalio management delegated to Thames Rwver Capital LLP ("the Portfolio Manager” or "the Manager”).
Marcus Phayre-Mudge has managed the portfolio since 1 Apnl 2011 and been part of the Fund Management
team since 1997

Independent Board

The directors are all independent of the Manager and meet regularly to consider nvestment strategy, to monitor
adherence to the stated objective and investment pelicies and to review performance. Details of how the Board
operates and fulfils its responsibilities are set out in the Report of Direciors on pages 40 and 41.

Performance

The Financial Highlights for the current year are set out opposite and Histarical Performance can be found on
page 2. Key Performance Indicators are set out in the Strategic Report on pages 26 and 27.

Retail investors advised by IFAs

The Company currently conducts its affairs so that its shares can be recommended by Independent Financial
Advisers ("IFAs™) in the UK to ordinary retail investors in accordance with the Finanaial Conduct Authority ("FCA™)
rules in relation to non-mainstream invesiment products and intends to continue to do so The shares are excluded
from the FCA's restricbons, which apply to non-mainstream investment products, because they are shares in an
adthonsed investment trust,

Further information

Ceneral shareholder information and detalls of how to invest in TR Property investment Trust pic, including an
investment through an 1SA or saving scheme, can be found on pages 95 to 99. This information can also be
found on the Trust's website www.trproperty.com




Financial Highlights and Performance

Year ended Year anded
31 March 31 March %o
2017 2016 Change
Balance Sheet
Net asset value per share 352.42p 335.56p +5.0%
Shareholders’ funds (E'000) 1,118,424 1065419 +5.0%
Sharas in issue at the end of the period (m) 3174 3175 ~0.0%
Net debt’ 13.3% 11.9%
Share Price
Share price 314.50p 297.50p +5.7%
Market capitalisation £998m £945m +5.7%
Year ended Yea ended
31 March 31 March b
207 2018 Change
Revenue
Revenue earnings per share 11.38p 8.36p +36.1%
Dividends®
Net interim dividend per share 4.10p 3.15p +30.2%
Net Final dwdend per share 6.40p 5.20p +23.1%
Net Total dwidend per share 10.50p 8.35p +25.7%
Performance: Assets and Benchmark
Net Asset Value total return? +8.0% +8 2%
Benchmark total return +6.5% +5.4%
Share price total return® 9.1% —-1.6%
Ongoing Charges”
Excluding performance fee 0.69% 0.72%
including performance fee 0.80% 1.06%
Excluding perfermance fee and direct property costs 0.64% 0 67%

T Net debt s the total value of loan notes, loans (including notional expasure to CMDs) less cash as a proportion of net asset value

2 Net dwidends per share are the dvidends 1n respect of the financal year ended 31 March 2017 An intenm dwidend of 4.10p was paid
in Jancary 2017 A final dwdend of 6 40p (2016 5.20p) will be paid on 1 August 2017 to sharchelders on the register on 23 June 2017

The shares will be quoted ex dwidend on 22 June 2017

[#8)

The total retum NAY pertormance for the year is calculated by reinvesting the dvidends in the assets of the Company from the relevant

ex-dwidend date [hadends are decmed to be renvested on the ex dividend date as this is the protocol used by the Company's

benchmark and other indices

4 The total retum share price petformance is caleulated by renvesting the dividends in the shares of the Company from the relovant

ox dwdend date

L

Ongoing charges are calculated in acordance with the AIC methodology



Historical Performance

For the years ended 31 March
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Performance for the year:
Total Return (%}

NAV(®} 318 229 405 526 15.4 85 215 224 283 8.2 8.0
Benchmark®® 275 230 486 605 152 8.9 178 149 233 54 6.5
Share Price© 244 248 412 60.3 12.6 9.5 258 377 29.5 1.6 9.1
Shareholders” funds

(£'m)

Tota! 973 07 400 598 670 588 684 80% 1010 1065 118
Ordinary shares 973 568 324 476 531 470 684 809 1,010 1,065 1,118
Sigma shares(®) - 139 76 123 140 118 - - - - -

Ordinaty shares
Net revenue
(pence per share)

Earmings 409 5.79 6.49 518 6.94 707 6.74 809 8.89 8386 11.38
Dwidends 410 5.60 575 5.75 6.00 660 700 745 770 B8.35 10.50
NAY per share

{pence) 290.80 21960 12610 18520 20710 18360 21525 25494 318,12 33556 352.42

share price
{pence) 25650 18825 10600 15940 17710 15450 18630 24750 31050 29750 314.50

Indices of growth

Share price 100 73 4] 62 69 50 72 36 121 116 123
Net Assat value!® 100 76 43 64 71 63 74 88 109 15 121
Dwidend Net 100 137 140 140 146 161 171 182 188 204 256
RP} 100 104 303 108 114 118 122 125 126 128 132
Benchmark ¢ 100 75 36 56 61 54 61 65 77 80 a3

Figutes have been prepared 10 accordance with IFRS

(A} The totel 1ncome NAV pertormance for each year 15 calculated by rerwestng the drdends i the assets of the Company from the relevant ex-dundend date
Dandends ae deemed to be reinvested at the ex-dvidend date 25 this 1s the protocol used by the Company’s benchmark and other indices

(8Y Henchmark index composite ndex compnaing the FTSE EPRAMNARET Developed Einope TR index up to March 2013, and thereafter the FTSE EPRA/NAREIT
Develpped Europe Cappued Index Source Thames River Capital

{C) The total return share price performance s calculated by reinvesting the dnadends in the shares ot the Company from the relevant ex-dwidend date
{D} The Sigma share Zlass was launuhed n 2007 and Sigma shares redesignated as Ordinary shares on 17 December 2012
(€} Cepital only values These do not iefect duadends paid

{FY Prce only value o the indices sat ous in {B) zbove

2 IR Pl ooy Imes, oo 4 fn t
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Chairman’s Statement

Hugh Seaborn
Chairman

Introduction

The Trust's net asset value total return for the year of 8 0%
is pleasingly ahead of the benchmark as you will see
below, and similar to that of the previous 12 months at
8.20%. The other similanty with the previcus year is the
positive impact of currency movements on the Fund's total
return. When viewed in local currency terms, the total
returns from pan European property equities were broadly
flat aver the year The weakening of Sterling really began
in June 2015, a year ahead of the Referendum last June.
By our year end on 31 March, the Euro had appreciated
18% over the preceding nineteen months and this
resuited 1n a significant appreciation of our European
assets when measured in Sterling.

The fast 12 months have been qure clearly dominated by
geapoltical risks and their unpredicted outcomes have left
markets off balance However there has been a posttive
responsa ta the most recant results in the Dutch and
French elections where centnist politics have prevailed
resulting it a collective reduction n the nsk pramium.

Physical property pricing remained remarkably robust over
the period across all regions. Given the uncertamues
resuiting from the Brexit Referendum result, the stability in
UK commercial property pricing, after an mital modest
correction, has been encouraging. Indeed the MSCI/IPD
Monthly index has produced a positve capital return in
each of the last six months. Our own physical portfolio
which 15 heavily exposed to London retail and distnbution
n Londeon and the South, fell just 0.7%: over the year due

el Tet FL W 78 e e fere s

primarly to a pending planming appeal affecting values at
our largest asset, the Colonnades in Bayswater.

income remains the dominant requirement from Investors
seeking exposure to this asset class and 1t is encouraging
that the vast majonty of the businesses that the Manager
has invested in have continued to grow their earmings.
Some sectors, notably Genman residential comparues,
have been seen as 'bond proxies’ and have therefore
suffered from cancerns that nising yields would curtail
capttal growth. Gur Manager has remained resolutely of
the view that businesses with solid cash flows and the
opportunity for earmings growth, even where modest, are
appealing, At the time of writing the 10 year Bund yield to
redemption was 0 4% per annum, even though this figure
is bugher than the 0.06% avallable a year earher it remains
paitry and Investors continue to seek incornme outside of
traditional bond markets.

The aim of reduang the fund's exposure to Central
London, which commenced n mid-2015 and increased
ahead of the Referendum, rernains n place. However
exposure 10 the rest of the UK particularly industnal and
distnbution has matenally increased and the overweight to
this asset dlass across Furope has been a significant
contributer to performance In general, retatl property in
the UK remains a challenging environment and the
Manager has continued with his longstanding under
exposure 10 the pure puime shopping centre landlords.

A surpnise performer was the Swiss property companies,
particularly the residential development businesses which
prior to 2016 had offered investors modest retumns over
many years These slocks were outperformers and ther
absence from the portfelio negatively impacted relative
performance

NAV and Share Price Performance

As mentioned earlier the NAV total retum was 8.0% which
was ahead of the benchmark at 6 5%, Encouragingly the
share price total return was 9.1% as the discount between
the share price and the asset value narrowed over the
year. The discount at the year end at 10.8% was ahead of
the 10 year year-end average of 11.6%.

More detall and commentary on performance 1s set out in
the Manager's Report.



Chairman’s Statement

continued

Ordinary Share Class Performance: Total Return over 10 years (rebased)

180 —

Mar-07 Mar-08 Mar-09 Mar-10 Mar-11

M Benchmark Total Return

Revenue Results and Rividend

Revenue for the year increased by over 38% By far the
maost influential factor in this growth has been the impact
of weakening Sterbng on our income from Continental
European stocks. This together with solid income growth
from many of our Investments has driven the income
account o 1much higher levels than antopated. Timing
changes of dividends paid around our year end have also
benefited the revenue account

A final dnvidend of 6 40p per share results in a total
dividend for the year of 10.50p, some 26% ahead of the
2016 full year dmidend of 8.35p per share.

The Board has taken a cautious posttion on the final
dividend in that whilst the increase for the full year s

matenal, 1t is not fully reflective of the increase In earnings.

The Board 1s mindful of the potential negative impact of a
reversal of the sterling weakness experienced in the last
financial year.

Revenue Qutiook

The results announced by some of our investee
companies in the first few months of the financial year
have largely been positive with growth in most, but not all,
the dwidends paid early in the year. As in the prior year,
the most significant influence will be currency changes,
any strengthening in Sterling from its current position wall

Il TR Property Share Price Total Return

Mar-12 Mar-13 Mar-14 Mar-15 Mar-16 Mar-17

! TR Property Net Asset Value Total Returmn

have a negative impact on the revenue account Whilst the
tming of divwdend payments around our year end had a
maodest positive effect in the period just reported, it 15
possibie that the reverse may occur in the current period.

Debt

Gearing has increased from 11.5% to 13 3% over the
year, although the amounts drawn on our lean facilites are
marginally fower, a fugher level of geanng has been
accessed through the use of CFDs, still a very cost
effective means of gearng.

Currencies

As reported earlier currency movements have been
significant over the perod. We continue to use FX forward
contracts to maintain the currency exposure of our
Balance Sheet broadly in ine with that of the benchmark.
The resulting exposures are set out In Nole 11 to the
Financial Statements.

Discount and Share Repurchases

As commented above, the discount narrowed dunng the
year to a level slightly ahead of the 10 year average
although wider than that seen through 2014/15. This 15
a trend which has been seen across the Investment Trust
sector in many specialist and generalist funds
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Chairman’s Statement

continued

A small number of shares (150,000) were repurchased
during the year at an average discount to net asset value
of 15.8%.

Awards

The Trust was a joint winner in the Property category in the
Investrnent Week Investrnent Company of the Year
Awards.

lNVEé IMENT

INVESTMENT COMPANY
OF THE YEAR AWARDS
2016

WINNER

PROPERTY

Board Changes

John Glen 1s not standing for re-election at the
forthcoming AGM 1 would like to thank John for his
considerable contribution to the board over the past
three years and wish tum well for the future

Qutlook

The UK has performed better than many commentators
expected but there are clear nisks due to the uncertainty of
the outcome of negotiations for the UK's exit from the
European Union. Cur concern is that businesses will be
potentially less able to commut to longer term mvestment
(such as new leases) without clanty on key aspects such
as potential trade bamers and cross border supply chains
For similar reasans it is possible that there will be a
deferral of the development cycle resulting n reduced
spectlative construction starts.

Expectations of global growth continue to improve
Although bond yields have risen as a result and there has
been some inflationary response, they remain at

& TR P th, e ne et

historically low levels, In this context the income
charactesistics of real estate coupled to the emergence of
economic growth which provides an environment for
rental growth, will remain attractive to investors. The
Manager continues to seek to invest in businesses with
strong cash flows and the potential for eamings growth
and this combined with the mitigation of risk through a
diverse portfolio investad across numerous submarkets
and geographies, is reflected in thewr decision to masntain
geanng [avels

Hugh Seaborn
Charman
8 June 2017



Manager's Report

Marcus Phayre-Mudge MRICS
Fund Manager

Performance

The Net Asset Value total return for the year of 8.0% was
ahead of the benchmark total return of 6.5%. The share
price otal return (assuming disdend reinvestment) was
9.1% and reflects a shght reduction n the discount relative
to the net asset vajue.

The year under review was one in which geopolinical risk
and unexpected outcomes abounded. In local currencies,
the collectve performance of pan European property
stocks over the penod was wirtually flat The first half,
which indluded the UK Referendum, saw European stocks
(in Euros) nise 3.8% whilst the UK companies (in Sterling)
fell —4.1% and all of this weakness was 1n the aftermath
of the Referendum. The second half saw this reverse with
Europe failling -3.8% and the UK rising 2.3% as investors
began to sense that the UK economy was not about to
enter a marked slowdown. Part of this optimism was
caused by the positive economic effect of weakened
Sterling (which was a beost to exports) Sterling fell by
7.1% against the Euro over the twelve months with all of
that maoverment was post 24 June 2016. This currency
movement was a key driver behing the growth of the
Trust's Sterling denominated asset value.

We remind shareholders of the Trust's longstanding
currency positoning strategy which s to maintain
exposure N ine with that of the benchmark. The
Manager's underlying geographical exposure may of
course be {and invanably 15) very different and therefore
we use currency forward contracts to maintain exposure
broadly i line with thal of the benchmark (see page 15).
The relative performance of the Manager versus the
benchmark 1s, therefore, neither aided nor diluted by such
currency movements

As always, blankel annual statistics hide a wide range of
pertormance both intra penad and al the indwicual slock

level The large number of national elections across
Contmental Europe in 2017 led to increased volatility
given the collectwe difficulty in predicting results with any
certainty. Dutch and French property companies were
amangst the warst performers 1n the second half of the
financial year as investors fretted about therr respective
elections and the nisk of poltical gains by nationalistic
parties At the same tme the traditional safe haven of
domestic Swiss stocks performed well, particularly the
residential businesses of Alireal and Mobimo both
returning over 20% in the year.

German property companies have again proved robust;
collectively delivening over 5% total return over the period
but the valuation maovements were not smoath The Trust
has considerable exposure to both residential and
commercial property In Germany and performance
suffered last Autumn as investors moved aggressively
away from defensives and into cyclicals as the ‘reflation’
tidal wave of the Trump election washed through
Furopean as well as US markets. German residential
businesses with partially regulated rents and Iittle exposure
to the development cycle were viewed as ‘bond proxses’
and sold off heavily between June and December as the
10 year Bund redemption yield moved from -0.146 to
+0.3%. Even after this nise In yelds (which was pamful for
existing holders), the yield on offer sull guarantees a
negative real return to matunty if there 1s inflation over the
decacde Such small returns remind us of the ongoing
distortions created by the central banks’ determination to
assist in keepmg borrowing costs at a mimmum We
remain firmly committed 1o the view that these large,
Iquid listed German residential businesses offening both
earnings growth and income stability with dvidend yields
over 3.5% are attractive.

Income remains a crucial consideration and as investors'
appetite for nsk has waned so has the appaetite for stocks
or sectors which are seen as being ex growth or where the
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Manager's Report

continued

cycle has peaked. Having reduced our expasure to Ceniral
London offices and prime UK retail dunng 2015 and early
2016 we mamiained that underwesght position throughout
the year generating posttive performance. Likewise our
overwelght to industnal/logistics across Europe has
continued to expand and expasure to this asset class was
the largest dnver of performance. As both continental
Europe and the UK experienced improving ecenomic
conditions we continued to add to cur most cyclical
sectors, hotels and self storage. Hispania winch owns a
€1.3bn portfolio of hotels situated on manland Spain, the
Balearcs and Canaries returned 17% over the year whilst
Safestore, the UK and French self storage operator,
retumed 16.3%

Alongside the reduced exposure to London offices there
has been an increased exposure to a small number of
Continental cities, Paris, Stockholm, Madrid and Berlin, The
positioning in Paris 1s a useful llustration of the divergence
of retums across stocks even when they are focused on
(broadly) similar markets. Terrets, our favoured Pans smiall
cap focuses enurely on pnme Central Paris locations, the
stock returned 28 10 whilst the much larger competitors,
Geona and Icade who both own more diverse office
portfolios rose 2.3% and 7 5% respectively.

Property Investment Markets

UK commercial property transaction volumes were,
unsurpnsingly, considerably lower in 2016 at £46.5bn
than the record vear of 2015 (£66.3bn) What was
encouraging was the pace of recovery post the summer.
in fact Q4 2016 volumes were 319% ahead of Q3 and the
highest quartetly figure of 2016. Investors had clearly been
refuctant to engage prioy to June but even with the
uncertainty created by the outcome they have
subsequently commutted, The weakness of Sterling has
played its part, particularly in Central London where
transaction volumes doubied between Q3 and Q4 and
international investors accounted for more than 80% of
volume. However the slowdown ahead of June did drag
overall London transadtion volumes down 1o 16% below
the five year average

UX institutions have been net sellers, particularly the
open-ended funds whose combined portfolios are
significant at c.£35bn (this compares to the entire UK
hsted sector's value of ¢c£65bn), The post Referendum
redemption ‘debacle’ resulted in forced sales in the

] TR Sopoany =0 e arieni i

immediate aftermath Collectively these funds have
continued to be net sellers, building substantial cash
positions 1o cope with their structural liquidity concesns.
Such high cash positions are a drag on performance but it
15 encouraging that the FCA have recently published a
paper with recommendations on potential investar
safeguards within these structures,

Regional markets were encouragingly busy with volumes
ahead of the five year average We also saw intemational
investment in regional markets at an all time high with
£5.3bn of single asset deals. Another significant cohort of
buyers has been the UK local authonties. Fuelled by
access to cheap finance from HM Treasury through the
Public Works Loan Board they have been attracted by the
high margins providing them with a valuable income
streamn Investment by English public sector bodies
reached £1.2bn in 2016 alone.

The capital moverment of the 1PD All Property Monthly
Index saw a fall of 3 7% in the six months to the end of
September However this correction reversed with a gain
of 2% in the six months to March 2017, The intial yield
has moved modestly from 4 9% in March 2016 10 5.3%
in March 2017 and this reflects the ongoing demand for
the asset class. Although transaction volumes are lower
overall than last year, the pick up post the Referendum is
crucial evidence as to the health of the macket,

Although we don't have the same depth of transaction
data for much of Europe, we do see clear evidence of
yields tightening in core city centre office markets, prime
shopping centres and logistics. Funding remans liquid and
at attractive rates ensunng that acquisitions are highly cash
flow generative. With rents recovering in so many of these
markets the abibty to buy rental growth coupled with a
cushian of inhial Income 1s an attractive proposiion. Bond
yields are nsing but from extremely low levels and remain
histarically subdued. The ECB has reduced its bond buying
programme and will undoubtedly reduce it further in the
coming months but stable bank margins and bond
spreads iflustrate the appetite to lend to high quality real
estate even in these poliically charged tmes.

Offices

Take up of space in Central London was, as expected, iower
than in 2015 The City saw total take up of 5.8m sq ft
which was 219 below the previous yedr but still 6%
ahead of the ten year average. The West End was more



Manager's Report

continued

positive at 4.0m sq ft, just 9% below 2015 but 7% ahead
of the ten year average. Tech and Media firms continue to
dominate and this 1s set 1o continue as the financial
services sector grapples with its post Brexit location
requirernents Our cancerns remain focused on the City as
opposed to the West End or Midtown. 1t should be noted
that the largest single acquirer of space n the City in both
2015 and 2016 was WeWork, a new entrant to the UK
servicec office market with a successful track record in the
US. In 2016, they acquired 345,000 sq ft (6% of all take
up) on top of 550,000 sq ft in 2015 Seniced office
cccupiers have always been a key part of any core office
market providing flexibility but when they are the single
largest driver of demand we see that as a risk. The better
news remains the lack of supply and the pre-let status of
the development pipeline This theme of benign supply
runs through most markets and the City s no exception.
The good news is that over 30% of the 2017-2020
pipeling 15 already pre-let with new build completions of
€2 5m sq ft for the next three years We maintain our
position of reduced exposure to the Gty market because
of nsk to demnand rather than over expansion of supply.

The dynamics in the West £nd remain stronger, both in
the context of a broader tenant base which is less exposed
to the regulatary difficulties of doing business autside of
the Eurcpean Umion but also from a net supply
perspective Although supply rese in Q4 2016 with some
high profile completions and vacancy reaching 3 9%, (its
highest since 2013) over 5005 of all completions set for
2017/18 are pre-let. The recent commitments by global
tech giants, such as Facebook and Apple as wefl as newly
listed Snapchat, continues to renforce London's
dominance for Tech and Media who accounted for 35%
of all take up.

Most commentary on UK office markets 1s directed
towards Central London but the health of both Lendon's
hinterland and the big 6 key regional cities are crucial
national indicators. For the fourth year in a row office take
up, ex Central London, has surpassed the long term
average. An impressive statistic given the political
uncertainbies. imporantly, supply levels have continued to
fall with speculative development unable to match take up
particularly when combined with the impact of Permitted
Development Rights (PDR). PDR allows owners of
commercial property (principally offices) to convert their
buidings into residential regardless of the local planning
authonty's stance The continuing demand for new, state

of the art office space has drven pre-lets to an all time
high across the regions, 440 of the 3.6m sq ft is pre-let
and rents are respending with Cardiff now over £25 per
sq ft and Birmingham exceeding £32 per sq ft

Investors have also taken note and 28% of the UK's total
office investment turnover was regional, well ahead of the
10 year average of 23% International investors are not
confining their interest to Lendon and high profile
purchases such as Green Park in Reading acquired by
Mapletree {Singapcrean based) far £560m and HSBC
buying parts of Brindiey Place, Birmuingham’s premuer city
centre office location for £260m are testament to this.

lt 1s fair to point out that access to regional office markets
ihrough the listed sector 15 difficult as so few companies
have exposure. Where we do get exposure 1s the western
quadrants of the M25 and the London suburban markets
through Mckay Secunties and CLS Holdings. Take up has
remaned in {ine with the ten year average and
encouragingly Q1 2017 has seen an upturm when
compared with a year earlier. Vacancy has risen shightly to
6.1% (M25) and supply 1s up 8% on the previous year
but crucally still well below long run averages. Both these
companies have reported new lettings and renewals
comfortably ahead of ERV which reinforces our
commitment to these markets

Pars continues to see robust actvity with the 2016
lle-de-France lettings reaching 25m sq f1, 7% ahead of
2015, Within such a large geographical area as Parns there
are always huge variations in performance and 2016 was
no exception. The core central market (Paris Centre West)
where we are nvested through Terreis (total return 28.1%
year to March 2017) perfarmed very well with vacancy now
at record low levels (3.19%). The most encouraging statistics
were from Southemn Pans and La Défense where a number
of large transactions (defined as over 50,000 sq ft) were
crucial. Although vacancy remains over 9% 1n La Défense
the amount of new build space 15 much smaller and we are
confident that this wall support rents near term. Madnd is a
good example of a recovenng market. Take up was slightly
tower in 2016 than 2015 but the political environment
mst shoulder at least partial responsibility and therefore
we are positive that 2017 will see an improverment given
greater political stability Whilst wo are confident about the
improving Spanish economic cutlook which will directly
impact the Madnd office market, our concern 1s supply
The ity has an overall vacancy rate of 12.5%, there 15
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Manager's Report

continied

over 10m sq ft of space avalable for immediate
occupation. A significant amount 1s in terfiary locations but
even in the core we need to see strong take up to reduce
availabilty. The worry is grawth in supply with five high
quality refurbished buildings amounting to another
330,000 sq ft. coming onto the market in Q4 2016 aione.

Stockholm continues to astorsh with MSCI data showing
capital growth of aver 139 for the central markets driven
by bath rental growth and yield compression. Vacancy
remains below 7% with new buld a tiny proportion of
that, hence our ongoing overweight te this market through
Fabege and Kungsladen.

Retail

The retad sectar continues to be buffeted by the structural
headwinds of multy channel retaling, 2 subject which has
been ared many times in previous reports and will, no
doubt, continue ta feature for many years to come. Quite
simply the way we all shop is now constantly evolving as
technology and fulfilment offers increasing ways of
satisfiing our retall demand without ventuning o a shop —
unless we want to increasing those visits 1s the sole aim
of shopping centre landlords as they seek to persuade
retallers that a physical presence 1in multple locations 1s an
economically sound strategy.

The UK continues to have the highest penetration of
online sales as a percentage of total sales (ex food and
tuel} at 15%, 1t is also growing at 15% per annum when
total sales are growing at 2%. Onhne is therefore
continuing to take overall market share from physical
stores As identified in the intenm repart the rest of
Eurcpe's online market share is much lower than the UK.
That 15 not 1o say they won't catch up, we think that is
inevitable but that landlords appear to have more time to
develop strategies with tenants. The other safety net for
European landiords 15 that overall costs for tenants (the
occupancy cost ratio) 15 lower across much of Europe than
the UK.

Another rapidly pressing issue which 15 impacting UK
retaslers (and therefore shopping centre landlords) 1s the
burden of consumer credit which has been growing at
over 10% over the last year (Bok) and stands at a recaord
£196bn, With interest rates at historically fow levels and
the resumption of rea) wage growth such amounts, whilst
huge, are sustanable. However, inflation caused by nsing
foed prices and the rising costs of imporis due to
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weakened Sterling will mean that real as opposed to
norminal wage growth will be negative over the near term.
In addition, house prices (ex Central London) have nsen
consistently since 2017 and the UK house price to income
ratio 15 almast back to the 2007 peak of 4.5x. None of this
15 good news for retaling.

Across Continental Europe the average level of personal
ndebtness is much lower and whilst real wages are not
rising fast, we have seen dramatic reductions (albeit from
a poor starting point} in levels of unemployment
parbcularly in Southern Europe which is dearly helping
consumption. Germany and Sweden have both
experenced conststent real wage nflation as their
econoimies continue to 1Improve.

The focus has not changed from that reported at the
interim, our UK exposure remains concentrated on higher
yielding local shopping where, crucially, rents are
affordable for tenants and where incremental asset
management iImprovements add value. We continue to
hold Capttal & Regional (12 month total return —9 3%0)
and NewRwer Retail (12 month total return 8.2%). We
remain concerned that whilst the larger UK companies
own the best and dominant centres, the affordability for
retailers is an ongoing issue and the lack of overal! deal
transparency Is alsa an ssue. We therefore view
Hammerson {12 month return 2.8%) expanding their
outlet centres and intu's (12 month return —6.7%) buying
Spanish centres as positive initiatives However we think
that this diverstfication 1s recognition that further large
scale mvestment in therr existing core portfolies has
become increasingly unattractve.

The exception in the UK has been Central London where
the mix of lersure, retatling and dining has proved highly
resthent. The weakness of Sterling has turbocharged
tounsm London hotels, retalers and restaurants have all
been beneficianes.

One strong positive for retail landlords has been the
dramatic reduction in supply of additional shopping centre
space. The market 1s always eventually self correcting and
speculative development dries up in response to weak
dermand. This year the only twe new centres to open are
Oxfard and Bracknell. Bath have large wealthy catchments
in need of goed guality in town retail offenngs. Land
Secunties s developing Oxford and we are confident it will
let up quickly, even so their estimated yield on cost of
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5.9% reflects the low retums even when there 15 demand
from retailers to open new stores

Distribution and Industrial

MSCl's UK Monthly index recorded caprtal growth of 3.3%
in the Industrial/Logistics sector for 2016 compared

to — 3.2% for offices. We fully expect this performance
gap to continue as rental growth accelerates for
distribution assets. Investors are chasing the asset class
and yields are faling partcularly where there 1s a
perceived shortage of sites as well as snapping up large
sheds cn the principal distribution networks/hubs. Drlling
into the data In more detail reveals that capital growth for
London industnal/distribution rose 8% and for the South
East was €.200,

As Vwrote last year, the growth in online retailling
continues to drve a reorgarisation of the distribution
landscape. Amazon alone has been responsible for 235
of the entire take up In UK distnbution space 1n 2016
nelping to drve a surge which reached 34.6m sq ft
Online retallers directly accounted for 29% of this as we
witness the transformation of retailing from “shops 1o
sheds'. Supply continues to struggle with the pace of
demand and it reached its lowest ever level of 22.7m sq ft
in Q4 2016. Although new speculative supply has pushed
this figure back up to 27.6m sq ft in Q1 2017 we still see
a market where rents continue to rise particularly for units
offenng proxmity to larger conurbations, Segro was the
outstanding performer amongst the Big Five UK property
companies, returning 20.5% n the year to March 2CG17. In
hindsight no real surprise given its portfolic of 22 3m sq ft
i the UK and 27.3m sqg ft in Europe of high quality
logistics and industrial space.

The picture across Continental Europe is much the same
Our preferred French logistics developer Argan, returned
32.7% an the back of therr portfolio of 25m sq ft of Class
A logistics property. Elsewhere, our exposure to Southern
Cerman logistics and industnal space is through VIB
vermogen which returned 26 9% again on the back of
strong rental and caprtal growth.

Residential

The performance of the residential secter in the UK needs
to be separated into Central London and remainder. The
change n stamp duty thresholds combined with

Osbome's efforts to remove the tax shield for higher rate
payers owning ‘buy to lets” has impacted growth
particularly in fugher value markets. The Referendum result
compounded concerns about demand from EU nationals
employed n financial services just as the new build
Central London market expenences a spike in supply
Whilst we continue to have no exposure to luxury
apartments {£1,000 per sq ft and above) we do remain
confident about the ability of house builders to sell in
more affordable locations. Gur investment in Telford
Homes, a South East London focused developer who's
average lot size is less than £600,000 has been profitable
with a 12 month total return of 12.5% Through our
holdings in 5t Modwen and CLS we did retain exgosure to
the regeneration of Nine Elms However, CLS announced
(Just post our year end) the sale of ther entire Nine Elms
site for £148m, 40% premium to the December 2016
valuation The purchaser was a Hong Kong listed
developer and the deal provides a useful reminder that,
partucularly when viewed from afar, the break from Europe
may not be viewed quite so negatively.

Outside of London residential markets continue to be
rebust but with real wages stagnating and the elevated
level of consumer indebtness we remain cautious and
have very little exposure. The private rented sector (PRS)
remains a market which will grow but we prefer to own
those firms creating the product such as Telford Homes
{who recently scld two blocks to an institutional PRS
operator) rather than the underlying asset which by s
nature 1s very low yielding.

German residential has been a firm favourte for many
years and at the underlying asset level performance
remains robust with occupational demand remaming firm,
contnuing o be buoyed by both domestic household
growth and net migration (1 2 milhlan people in 2015)
Investor demand has also remained strong and prime
Berlin has set a new record pnce level of 30x the gross
rent (a year ago the level was closer to 26x). The average
capital vafue per sq ft has nsen 25% in the last year but it
still remains relatively affordable when compared with
other major European cities.

Elsewhere In Europe we see continuing growth in
residential values Sweden has shown impressive capital
growth, particularly in the metropolitan areas in spite of
the introduction of macro-prudental tools by the central
bank (arming 1o restnct borrowing avalability)
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Hotels and Self Storage

With the ongoing recovery in many European economies
we have focused our attention on the more cyclical
sectors particularly hotels and self-storage. In the hotel
sector we are not seeking exposure to pure operators but
businesses which blend ownership and management.
Focusing on where they have the ability to manage and
improve a hotel but also where the bulk of the ncome is
from leased assets. Our largest exposure is Hispania,
which has 65% of its assets In hotels and we expect that
to increase further following non core disposals and
further acquisitions. This business 1s focused on tourist
destinatians in both mainfand coastal markets and the
islands. A consequence of the nse in terrorist atrocities has
been the coffapse of tourism in North Africa and Turkey,
Foreign visitars to Turkey are down 30% in the twelve
months to February and the statstics for Egypt are even
worse. Northern Europeans are not abandoning their
sumimer sun but instead "safecationing” with bookings
massively ahead of last year in Greece, France, and Spain.
Hispania’s 12 month total return was 18.4%.

Our self storage focus remains very UK centric due to a
lack of opportumty in Continental Europe Our preferred
stock, Safestore have comfortably beaten the broader
benchmark this year with total return of 16.6% and its mix
of UK and Pans assets remains attrachive. Our positive
view 15 driven by an expectation of a steady increase in
business usage of short 1erm starage space for last mile’
distnbution purposes The ireplaceable network of wrban
and suburban locanens for both Safestore and Bug Yellow
bodes well for demand as online fulfilment delivery times
shorten further

Debt and Equity Capital Markets

The era of unorthodox stimulus by all Europear: central
banks continued throughout the penod. Whilst markets
have anticipated a contnuing reduction i the amount of
assel purchases by the FCB through 2017 the current
level of support has allowed many companies to continue
1o 1ssue debt at record low cost Not suipnsingly the
penod saw record debt issuance in our sector. However
much of this was debt restructunng as companies,
particularly European ones, took the opporiunity to retire
existing bonds and fix for longer periods at these histornc
low levels A strategy we applaud wholeheartedly and one
which some of the larger UK companies should heed
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before it becomes more expensive In total pan European
property companies raised €19 3bn in the twelve months
to March 2017 compared to €13.7bn in the previous
pericd. The avetage LTV, as calculated by EPRA, the
industry trade body, has continued to fall over the period
which 15 reassurmg,

(n previous reports we have sought to pravide one clear
example of how the cost of debt was stll fallng in the
period. (n November last year, Unibail Rodamco, the
largest property company in Europe announced a €500m
8 year bond with a fixed coupon of G.85%, the lowest
ever achreved by a listed property company. Convertibles
have also proved popular particulardy amongst the
residential businesses Buwog ssued a €300m five year
convertible bond with a zero coupon whilst Deutsche
Wohnen placed convertible bonds totalhing €800m with
an aggregate coupon of 0 325%.

Unsurpnsingly given the geopalitical nsks of multiple
elections across Europe and the Referendum in the UK,
equity capital markets were more subdued with £5.7bn
raised through nghts 1ssues and placings but without

a single new IPO into the benchmark index, Germany
dominated with raisings from ADQ and Deutsche Wohnen
in the residential space. We also saw 1ssuance from
Deutsche turoshop, Hambormer and TLC. In the UK the
raisings were dorminated by companes focused on either
industral/logistics, student housing or healthcare. Tritax
Bigbox were once again on the roster raising £250m in
October bringing their total raised since IPO to £1 3bn.
Post the year end they have announced a further rassing
of up to £350m.

Property Shares

As highlighted in the intenm, the first half of the year saw
a very sharp divergence n the performance of the UK and
Continental Europe. The 6.5% ratum from UK property
companies between the beginning of the financial year
and 23 lune 2016 sums up the optimism and expectation
of a Remain vote Over that pentod, Continental Europe
returned just 2 2% m EUR terms From 23 June to the
end of the first half, 30 September, UX stacks fell -8.2%
whilst the Continental names rose 3 9% in EUR terms
These summary figures mask a petiod of extraordinary
volatilty in the aftermath of the Referendum result.

The second half of the year saw property shares
expenencing an autumnal sell off as investors rotated from
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defenswes and companies seen as ‘bond proxies’ into
cyclicals offering greater exposure to an improving global
recovery This rotation gathered pace post the US
presidential election as markets priced in a taiwind of fiscal
support Bond yields across all developed markets rose and
sub sectors such as German residential which are
perceived as stable income streams with restricted growth
due to regulated rents fared very poody in the last quarter
of the year. The German element of the benchmark fell
over 15% between September and November,

The last quarter of the financial year saw a stabiising of
share prices after a strong recovery in Decernber. Investors
began to realise that the US had not only embarked on an
interest rate normalisation phase but may well now
recewe an injection of fiscal largesse with the potential
lowenng of tax rates. However, Europe 1s not travelling at
the same speed and there 15 no expectation that the ECB
15 going to lift the base rate soon. Longer dated bond
yields have continued to rise modestly, the 10 year Bund
rose from =10 bps to +34 kps in the second half of the
financial year, but they remain at histonc low levels,
Investars continue to seek alternative sources of (higher)
income than the miserable returns from fixed iIncome

The last quarter of the finanaiat year concides with the
reportng season for companies with a December year
end and share prices responded to a steady stream of
results which matched or exceeded earnings expectations.
The message from companies was one of continued
focus on revenue and a broad expectation that the
improvements I the underlying econemic envirenment
would translate into tenant demand and rental growth,
One important distinction between the UK and
Continental Eurcpe was the direction of capitalisatron
rates. The UK listed sector, dominated by exposure 1o
Londan and large shopping centres 1s now experiencing
nsing capitalisation rates as rental growth prospects
recede, whilst much of the Continent 1s still reporting yield
compresston parbicularly @ pnme office markets reflecting
the prospect of rental growth.

Investment Activity

investment turnaver {purchases and sales divided by two)
equated to 31.6% of the average assets over the periad
Whilst investment actvity reflected a heighlened level of
tactical repositioning due to a range of macre factors, the
strategic positioning particularly at the asset and sub-sector
level saw & continuation of a number of themes which

have been runming for a while Our approach to retail
exposure is a case In point. We no longer hold erther of
the UK's largest pure refail landiords, Intu and
Hammerson. Our exposure is through Capital & Regional
and New RiverRetail, where we increased the former but
decreased the latter. We continue to focus on stocks
where rents have rebased to attordable levels and where
mvestors are being rewarded through higher mcome
returns 1n an area of the market which is suffenng huge
structural headwinds. Asset management gains are a key
part of the overall returns from these businesses and a
small number of Initiatives can make a large difference in
these smaller companies. In the case of the larger stocks,
they both have large development and repositioning
pipelines but we don't believe the returns offered jusufy
the risk on such large schemes.

We remain more confident about retall in Europe and our
exposure has consolidated inte four names, Unibail and
Klepierre focused on prime and Mercialys and
Eurocommercial in the sub-regional space. We have
therefore exited {or are close to completing our ext} from
Citycon (Fintand), Wereldhave (Netherlands, Finland and
france), Vasined Retail (Netherlands, France and Spain)
and Deutsche Euroshop (Germany and Central Eastern
Europe)

As discussed earlier 1n the report, the winners in the game
of omni channel retailing are the warehouse landlords and
developers We have been increasing our exposure to this
sector for several years (as the other side of the reduction
in retall) and this accelerated both in the UK and
Continental Europe. Segro 1s now the second largest UK
position and the capital raises n September 2016 and
March 2017 enabled significant expansion in our posion.
The stock was the top performing UK large cap i the
penod, returning 20.5%. Hansteen has been a stock we
have traded in over many years and undue share price
weakness early last year enabled us to rebuild the
pasitiion. We were pleased with the announcement of the
sale of the entre European portfolio allowing
management to concentrate on the UK. Londonmetric
announced their intention to ext aver time from retail
warehousing and focus on distnbution and the cormpany is
now 2% of our assels. Ttax Bigbox gives us exposure to
this sector but therr addiction to raising equity waill result in
a cash drag and sub par earnings growth hence our
modest position This 15 not the 1ssue at Argan, our
preferred logistics play in France, where the CEO and his
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family own half the business and are focused on organic
growth. The stock returned 32.7% in the penod

In last year's report { commented on the reduced London
exposure and that strategic move continued up to the
Reterendum. However we were stil! exposed into June
and that resulted i sorme weak relative performance in
the aftermath. The London office speoalists, Derwent
London, Great Portland Estates and Workspace are well
run businesses with solid balance sheets and low
leverage. As a group we did not reduce exposure further
post the result. The surprsing weakness was 11 both

St Modwen and CLS Holdings, two large holdings. We
reduced exposure 1n the former but the subsequent
resthence of the UK regional markets and the appomntment
of a well regarded new CEO led 1o a strong recovery in the
share price On a happier note, we held the CLS position
and then added to it. Alongside ihe Vauxhall site (now
sold), the business had one of the highest cashflows per
share in the sector with a portfoho of edge of city centre
and suburban offices in the UK, France and Germany. The
total return for the year was 18 4%,

With bond yields across Europe set to nse further as the
Eurozone economies improve we have rotated our
residential focus to the higher vielding businesses,
(Vonowvia and LEQ) and those with development pipelines
(Buwog).

Our renewed interest 1n Spain evolved further with
additional mvestment in Hispania. The business will be
wound up by 2020 and importantly management's
carried interest is paid only on the exit.

Revenue and Revenue Qutlook

As highlighted in the Chairman's Statement revenue for
the year 1s up by over 36% with currency being a
significant factor as our European eamings became worth
mare in Sterling terms,

Other factors did play a part, wath some ex-cividend date
changes around the year end being brought forward and
some companies mowing fram annual to more regular
dwidends in the penod. We expect most of these dates to
be mantaned for the current year but companies will not
comimut to ex-dividend dates until they make their indwidual
announcements, so these can atways change agam.
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This step change 0 the level of earmings can be expected
ta be maintained whilst Sterling rernains at current levels,
Results announced year to date have been posttive in the
main with dwidend growth 1n many of the stocks in which
we invest. As expressed earlier, strength of income 1s an
mportant part of our investment decision process and we
remain upbeat about the income account. The big caveat
is currencies, if Sterling begins to strengthen from current
levels this could have a significant negative impact
depending on timing and quantum.

Cearing and Debt

Geanng necreased from 11.9% to 13.3% over the year.
With our private placement long-term debt in place and
funding levels through CFDs still providing very
competitively priced geanng, we reduced the amount
available under one of our revolving credu faciities which
renewed n lanuary, from £50m to £40m This 1s a
rmodest reduction but undrawn debt under these facifities
does carry a non-utilisation fee, as we have sufficient
capacity to gear with this reduced faaility level we opted 1o
make the smali saving

Under new legislaten effective from the beginning of Apnil
2017, the amount of interest deducnble when calculaing
tax payable has been restncted Even at low levels of
gearmg, we will be caught by this to a small exient and the
result will be a modest increase in the tax charge. This will
be evaluated as a cost of debt when considenng gearing
levels but is not likely to influence gearing decisions when
nterest rates remain at current low levels, There are
exemplions o these restnctions for some categories of
business and Real Estate Investment Trusts are one
example, so most of our Investee companies will not
suffer the resinction, however some non-REIT businesses
may and they are engaging with therr advisers. The
Investrment Trust industry lobbied HMRC through the AIC
to extend the exemphons to regular Investment Trusts, but
this was rejected

Direct Physical Portfolio

The physical property portfolio produced a total retumn of
2.6% for the twelve months to March 2017 with an income
return of 3.4% and a capital return of 0 7%.

At our \ndustnal estate in Wandsworth, London we have
completed our programme of lease renewals, extending the
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expiry profile for the estate so all leases now expire In 2019.
This facilitates a redevelopment of the estate at that time.
Cverali 11 leases were extended and one new lething was
concluded with the rents recewed on those units increasing
by 255, Only two umts are vacant and one of those is
under offer. Our other industral assets in Gloucester, Bristol
and Plymouth have performed well over the year with the
new lettings 1IN Gloucester delivering further rental growth
with a voud period of only two mgnths.

Al the Colonnades in Bayswater, we have expenenced

a delay in the lettung of the ground floor retall units. Qur
planning applicaion merging two units to facilitate the
letting to Babay,, the restaurant operator, was tumed down
by the Qity of Westmenster planning committes. We beleve
that Babaj would be an exceilent restaurant operator and
we have therefore made an appeal to the Planning
Inspectorate with & deasion expected in late September.

At the time of wnhing we have strong interest in the

two remaining units from a range of occuplers We are keen
to ensure that the tenant mix s complementary as this wall
be essential to the success of the overall development and
therefore we are not rushing 10 secure the first possible
party The number of residential lease extensions was
modest with only five flats extending their tenure. This 1s not
a surprise and reflects the uncertainty generated by the
Referendum result. We are 1In no rush to complete lease
extensions as the effluxion of time towards each lease
expiry merely increases the landlord's residual value and
the ultimate extension premium which must be paid.

Qutlook

Property 1s a pro-cyclical asset class, without economic
growth market rents can't rise. Whilst that 1s an obvious
point it is worth reterating as investors have become
overly (in our view) cencerned about the threat of nising
bond yields Given the improving economic backdrop
across Europe, bond yields need to begin the slow path tc
normahisation following the almost decade long effort by
central banks to reduce the cost of debt through ultra
loose monetary policy. The economic survey data amongst
the masor euro-zone econoimies has converged, they are
all benefiting from low borrowing costs, good debt
avallability, a competitive Euro/Dollar rate, a pick up in
global demand and improving labour markets. Headhne
inflaton has ticked up but core consumer prices and
broad money growth remain muted. If core inflation
remains below 2% then the ECB have the latitude to

elongate the ‘glide path’ of reducing their bond buying
programme. Few are predicting an increase n the base
rate before late 2018 or even mto 2019. Meanwhile the
gap between property vields and real interest rates
remains at an &l time high. The combination of the
improving economic outlook wathin Continenta! Eurcpe,
the reduction in short term poliical risk and the modest
performance of property equies (they are not
overvalued) reinforces our posttive outlook.

The UK has perfoermed much better than many observers
expected since the Referendum. Values of commercial
property as measured by the MSCI/IPD data remain
robust. The very high proportion of international buyers in
the Central London office investment market 1s both a
positive (they see an opportunity) and a negative (how far
Is currency weakness the driver) We are concemed that
demand, particulady from financial services, will weaken
further as negotiations with Brussels drag on. The good
news 15 that equity prices have quickly adjusted and now
represent fair value The outperformance of the UK
econcmy versus most European economies over the last
mine months has been strong but that gap will narrow. The
UK has experienced a credit beorn and the UK consumers
remain far more indebted than therr Continental
counterpart We thirk stagnating real wage growth will be
an additional headwind for retall sales growth

Property will continue to be a valuable source of income
for so many investors and whilst we see risks to some
sub-sectars caputal growth prospects, there are many parts
of the market both in the UK and Continental Eurcpe
which we view as attractive opportunities for growth.
Underpinning the vast majonty of markets 1s the benign
backdrop of low levels of speculative construction in
commercal property markets and coupled with the strong
financial position of most listed property companies leads
us to feel confident that the asset class will remain a
relative outperformer.

Marcus Phayre-Mudge
Fund Manager
8 June 2017
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et " Distribution of Investments N
Distribution of Investments
. as ar 31 Merch
a3 af 1 March 2017 2017 2018 2015
£000 % £000 %
LK Secunties
— quoted 328,153 28.7 336,663 306
UK Investment Properties 97,304 8.5 97764 89
62 6% UK Total 426,457 372 434427 395
| Contmental Europe Sequrtes
‘ - quoted 718,319 62,6 663182 04 |
; ~ fixed nterest - - 951 o1
!
Investments held at fair value 1,144,776 99.8 1,098,560 1060 !
‘ - CFD debror 2,146 0.2 329 -
I
| Il o secunmes M Uk eopern, | Total Investment Positions 1,186,922  100.0 1,098,689 1000
Contnenial Furepe . C1D Mebror i i
/

.

[ Investment Exposure

as ar %1 Marcr

Investment Exposure

as al 31 March 2017 2017 2006 2016
£060 % 000 B
92 3%
UK Secunities
- guoted 329,153 26,1 536,665 281
— CHD exposure’ 65,119 5.2 43,567 36
UK Investment Froperhes 97,304 7.7 97764 82
| 491,576 39.0 4775994 399 |
| Contnental furope Secunties i
i - quoted 718,319 571 663,182 553 }
. — fixed nterest ~ - 951 01 |
; - (D exposure: 49,067 3.9 55902 47 |
W v Piopeny Fauihes | Total investment Exposure’ 1,258,962 100.0 1,198,036 1000
| !
L, . I e S - -
R e e e
(I;nrtfolio Summary Net Currency Exposures
as at At March 4> <1 X1 March
2017 2004 2015 2014 2013 Fund Benchmark
£G00 £'000 £000 £'000 £000 Y %
Total mvestments £1,145m  £1,099m  £1,056m £880m f 740m B )
Ner assels ELIIBM  £1065m  £1,010m  £80em  romam | | GBF 5691 3115
EUR 5476 54.67
UK quoted property shares 29% 31% 100 41, 37% |
UK fixed intorest 0% 0% 104 100 0% CHF 5.79 597
Overseas quuted property shares 63% 605 51% 50% 560 ] !
Overseas lixed interest 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% SEK 7986 167 |
i i : NOK 057 058 |
Duect property (externally valued) 8% 9o 7% 8% 7o "
- T - - e

I Net unrealised gain on CFD contracts held as balance sheet defrtor
2 Crass value of CFD pasitons
3 Total imvestrrents dlustrating merkel exposure icudeg the gross value of CFD postions
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Investment Portfolio by Country

as ar 31 March 2017

Maiket value

Market value

£000 Oy E'Re0 By
Austria Sweden
Buwog 52,49/ 28 Fabege 24,242 21
CA lmmobilien 2933 08 Fastighets Balder 15,538 14
Wihiborgs 13,779 12
41450 3.6 Kungsleden 13,738 1.2
Belgium Castellum 11,321 1.0
warehousing and Distnbution de Pauw 10,867 09 Klovern 3,551 03
Befimmeo 3,331 03 Pandox 3,228 03
wereldhave 561 01 Kungsleden - Rights 2,653 02
18759 13 Fastughets Balder (Pref) 785 0.
Kungsleden - Over Subscrption 96 -
Finland
Sponda 4979 04 88,931 18
4,979 0.4 Switzerfand
PSP Swiss Property 15,666 17
France Swiss Prime Site 13,785 12
Umibail-Rodameco 108,908 94
Kléplerre 40,787 36 33,431 2:9
Fonagre des Régions 23,038 20 United Kingdom
Terres 15,G10 14 Land Serurties 63,121 55
Gecina 12,804 11 Great Portland Estates 33,103 29
Argan 11,085 10 SEGRO 27652 24
Mercalys 10,898 10 Unrte Group 23524 21
Altarea 1,601 01 CL5 Holdings 22,704 20
ANF Immcbihier 851 01 Londonmetric Property 17485 15
Shaftesbury 16878 15
215,582 197 McKay Secunties 16,767 15
Germany Salestore Holdings 135,276 11
LEG 68,363 80 Hansteen Holdings 11,015 1o
Vonovia 66,842 58 Capital & Regional 9,382 o8
Deutsche Wohnen 21,348 1.9 Derwent London 9,154 o8
ADG Properties 20,527 18 NewRiver 8,530 0.7
VIB Vermoegen 15,518 13 5t Modwen 8,374 07
TLG 13,200 12 workspace Group 6,508 06
Alstria Office 3,187 03 Telford Homes 5,474 0.5
200,475 183 Kennedy Wilsen 5017 04
Tntax Big Box 4,684 04
Ireland Big Yellow Group 4,369 0.4
Creen Rett 8,405 o7 Secure Incomne Reit 4,366 04
8,405 0.7 Primary Health Properties 4,316 04
Picton 3,658 03
Netherlands Target Healthcare 2,605 Oz
Euroromimeraal Properties 15,464 13 Hammerson 2113 02
Wereldhave 4,320 04 Redefne 1,426 0.1
Intervest Offices & Warehouses 2,073 02 Granger 1,340 o1
NS 19 - Local Shepping Reit 962 01
21,876 19 Helical Bar 948 01
Nanette Real Estate 2 -
Norway
Fnitra 16,101 14 329,153 28.7
Norwegian Property 1,527 01 Direct Property 97,304 8.5
17,628 1.5
. CFD Positions (included in
Spain current assets) 2,146 0.2
Hispang Acivos dh,5549 31 .
Merlin 10,779 09 Total Investment Positions 1,146,922 100.0
Axiare Patrimomio 3857 0.4
Inmobiliana Colonal 1,628 02
51,803 4.5
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Twelve Largest Equity Investments

unibail-rodamco

LandSecurities

LEG

At
jgwdmffj
‘l Unibail-Rodamco Land Securities LEG
(France) (UK) (Germany)
31 March | 31 March 31 March | 31 March 31 March | 31 March
2017 2016 0z 20186 2017 201€
Shareholding value 125 %m | £1058m Sharcholding vahie Fe06m | F836m Shareholding value F684m | EBL Im
% of nvestmeant , to of nvestment . , % of investmenit . y
portfolic! 10 794 9 6% portfohe! 7.8% & 19% portfohol 58y 5 9%
o of equity owned 070 0 5% o of equity owned PO 107 % of equity owned | 70, 1.2%
Shdre pnce £2191 £241 8 Share price 1,0590p | 1,1000p Share price €7684 €82 85
Europe’'s  largest quoted property  The UK's largest real estate imvestment  LEG 15 a German residential company

cormpany by both market cap and
gross assets with an €41bn portfclio
located 1 France (539%), Central
Europe (11%), Scandinavia (9%),
Spain (9%), Germany and Austna
(13%) and the Netherlands {4%). The
focus 1s on large dominant shopping
centers m the main European cities,
which  generate  higher  sales
density/footfall and lower structural
vacancy. To supplement returns the
group also pursues an opportunistic
strategy (buy/build and sell) on offices
(9%) mostly located in Pans CBD and
La Défense. The company 1s guiding
for 6% EPS growth in 2017 and 6-8%
for the medwm term Earmings should
increase on the back of further rental
growth and delwvety of larger
development prajects ke Wrodlavia
{Poland) Carré Sénant (France) and
Tnmty  (France). The company s
conservabively financed with a loan to
value of 33% and low 1.6% cost of
debt.

trusl (REIT) by market c2p and
portfolo value, with a portfolio of
£14.2bn  including share of jont
ventures and developments. The
company Is exposed to Central London
Offices and Retal (57%), Shopping
Centres (26%), Retal Warehouses &
Supermarkets  (6%) and  other
investments  (predominantly  Accor
hotels  and  leisure-focused  assets)
(11%). The group has mamtained its
debt neutral strategy and invested n
development assets through disposing
mature ex-growth assets. This has
reduced LTV dramabcally, with [ast
reported loan 1o value only 23%.
Management hold a negative outiook
for the UK real estate market and
especially Central London Offices As a
result  management are remaining
cautious and waiting for a correction
before becoming acuve. Westgate
Shoppmg Centre in Oxford 15 now the
group's only remanmg development
exposure and this limited development
exposure  combined  with  the
aforemenuoned low 1TV provides
support. The five year total shareholder
retumn has been 72.2%.

"Percentage of Investment Purtfohe postons include exposure through CFis

8 L UL e R A

focused on the econormcally stiong
region of North Rhine-Westphalia. The
company 15 one of the largest real estate
companies n Germany with nearly
130,000 units under management with
a combmed value of €30bn. LEG 15
characterised by a strong balance sheet
with 3 net LTV of just under 45%, an
average debt maturty of more than
10 years and an average cost of debt of
1.9%. The company s ran by a
well-regarded management teamn, and
has a well mantamed portfolio with
974% occupancy and an  efficient
platforrn from which 1t intends to grow
further. The total shareholder retumn
since Nsting i February 2013 has been
93 9%,



Twelve Largest Equity Investments

continued

VONOVIA

SEGRO

WHERE BUSINESS WORKS

KLEPIERRE
4 Vonovia Klépierre 6 Segro
(Germany) (France) (UK)
31 March | 31 March 31 March | 31 March 3% March | 31 Mach
2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
Shareholding value (66 9m | £844m Sharchuiding value FR0Im [ E6D 2m Shareholding value £384m | £222m
% of nvestment . % of investment . - %o of investment . .
porticliol s 77 porifolo! 430 > 3% portfoho! 35% 1.9%
% of equity owned 057 Q.70 1 of equity owned 05 06l % of equity owned 0387 G 4%
Share pnce £3303 €3163 Share price £365 €42 10 Share prce 456Gp 392p
Vonovia 15 the largest German Keéperre owns a Pan-European  Segro is the largest operator of logistics
residential  landlord  following  the shopping centre portiolio valued at  and industnal property listed in the UK,

acquisiton of Gagfah in 2014 and
Sudewo portfolio in 2013, with more
than 330.000 units under
management. Vonowvia runs a large
in-house craftsman organisation which
enables the company to run an
innovative  strategy  focusing  on
improving and modermising its €27bn
portfolio, whilst  offenng  further
economies of scale by acquinng

additonal  portfolios  and  modular
construction. 1t recently  acquired
another publicly lsted company

Conwert 11 a cash deal which s
expected to close In Q2 2017 Vonovia
reported an LTV below 42% as of
December, m-hne with its longer term
target, and a cost of debt at 2 1%
following the refinancing of legacy
CMBS bands. The total shareholder
return since listing in July 2013 has
been 109%.

£224bn manly located in France
(38%), Scandinawia (16%), ltaly
(17%), Central Europe (10%) and
lberia (9%). Klépierre has an attractive
£2.3bn  development pipeline  (of
which €0.7bn committed) at an
average expected yield of 8.7%. Simen
Property Croup, the largest global
shopping centre REIT, remans its largest
shareholder with a 20% stake. Kléplerre
has been able to increase Iike-for-lixe
net rental mcome i its shopping
centres by 3 5%, and s targeting a
conservative 4% cash flow growth for
2017. The five year total shareholder
return has been 77 7%.

Ipercentage of lavestraent Fxposure, posiness nclude expusare tsugh CFDs

with a total portfolio of £6.4bn split
68% m the UK and 32% n
Continental Eurcpe. In the UK, the
group s exposed to Creater London
industnal and logistics space and
national logistics space. Rental growth
in these markets 1s running at record
levels as there remains an acute
supply-demand imbalance. In Europe,
Germany and France are the group’s
largest markets with Poland in third,
these markets have a flat rental outlook
but are continuing to expenence yield
compressicn as investors continue to
chase income. The group raised equity
twice within the year as it has matenally
increased its development exposure to
capitalise on the nsauable tenant
demand for logistics and industnal real
estate. We expect this to drnve strong
earmings growth over the short to
medwn term and high sharehoider
total returns The loan-to-value rato
post the recent capital raise 15 ¢ 30%
and wil increase shghtly on the back
of development expendiure. The
five year total shareholder return has
been 15249
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Twelve Largest Equity Investments

continued

~

’ fonciere

des Régions

7 Fonciere des Régions

ll HISPANIA

Hispania Activos

ESTATES

Great Portland Estates

(France) (Spain) (UK)

31 March | 31 March 31 March | 31 March 31 March | 31 March
2017 2016 2017 2006 2017 2016
Sharehalding value E570m | £257m Shareholding value £A56m £4 7m Shareholding value ES3Im [ £289m

v of Investment . U of nvestment e 4 of investment
34, G, RIS ar ENs T o,
portfoha! 32 220 portfolio? 50 | 04% portfolio! 30 2.8
" of equity owned Q80 050 e of equity owned 2.8 0.9% h of equity owned 157 120
Share price €783 €831 Share price £1347 | €11.65 Share price l 651 5p 723 0p

Foncigre des Régions 15 a diversified
European property company with a
consohdated portfolic of €19.3bn of
assets (€12.0bn in group share} The
company i1s mainly invested n French
and Wallan offices (60% group share),
German Residential exposure {2100
group share) and botels (16%). The
fialian office exposure 15 held through
tts 520 stake in hsted real estate
operator Bent Stabih (BNS), which
managed to sell a significant poartion of
its Telecom Wala portfolio for €700m
and will be reinvesting the proceeds In
the development pipeline and new
acquisitions, Fonciére des Régions also
holds a strategic stake In Fonciere des
Murs, a French and German letsure
and lodging business of which it cwns
49.9%.The company saw on average a
4.8% uplift in valuatien over the year,
mainly driven by strong revaluations in
its  German  Residential  porfolio
(+8.4%) The group has a 44.6% | TV
with an average cost ot debt of 2,20,
down from 2 8% a year ago, with an
average maturty of 5.7 years The five
year shareholder total return has been
80.7%,

Hispania 15 a Spanish soami (REIT)
that is invested m hotels in the Canary
and Baleanc Islands (60%), office
(26%) and residential (14%). The
company s benefitting from strong
tourism numbers as traditional travel
destinatons in the middle east are out
of favour due to continued threat of
terronst attacks, Unlike traditional triple
net hotel leases, Hispania 1s benefitiing
from this favourable trend as the
majority of the contracts have a
substantal vanable element. In March
2017 the company deaded 1o
crystalize the value of the portfolio by
the end of 2020, in-line with its onginal
proposal at the tme of the IPG in
2014, and return ali proceeds back to
sharehclders. In the mean-time, the
company will be upgrading and
refurbishing existing hotels which wall
drive further revenue growth. The total
shareholder return since listing 1n
March 2014 has been 48.2%

‘Percentage of Shareholding Valve and Equily Investment Partfolie, postions include expaswe thiough CFDs

20 TR BRIty st oo s

This Central London office investor and
developer manages £3.8bn  of
property with exposure to Wast End
and City Offices and Retail (77% and
23% respectively). The group has a
cautious wiew on the outlook for
London commercial property and has
been actwely reducing leverage
response.  The group’s  extensive
development programme started after
the financal crisis has now completed
and future schemes are not planned to
start untt 2018 at the earlest. 1t
recently disposed of 1ts largest
development, Rathbone Square, ahead
of completion and has decded to
return capttal to investors through a
special dividend and share
cancellation The group is keeping Ws
powder dry and 15 ready to deploy
capital in properties offering shortterm
mcome  with medium term
development potential as and when
these opportunities present
themselves. Post the disposal of
Rathbone, special dwvidend and receint
of residential sales proceeds at
Rathbone later in 2017 the group's LTV
will decline to mid-single digit from an
already low, proforma of 16% at the
half-year results. The five vear total
shareholder return has been 95.0%.



Twelve Largest Equity Investments

continued

BUWOG

group

] O %Xg?riga)

‘I '| Unite Group

Fabege

12 Eg\?vfegdeen)

(UK)
31 March | 37 March 31 March | 31 March 31 March | 31 March
07 2018 2017 2016 2017 2016
Shareholding value F375m | E126m Sharcholding value £2/9m [ £245m Shareholding value 2472m | £162m
% of nuesment pen| e oot mestment done| 22w ol ovesmen 2u| s
% of equity owned 1 Gy 065 o of equity owned 205 I 7% v of equity owned 1 2% 0 8%
Share price £2365 €16 85 Share phce 636 5p 636 5p Share price SEK 1425 |SEK 1367

Buwog s an Austrian-hsted residential
company, with residential holdings n
both Austna {47%) and Germany
(53%). The company was ornginally
spun off by Immofinanz in 2013, yet
Immofinanz  continued to hold a
significant stake in Buwog up untl July
2016, after which Immofinanz had
disposed virtually all its Buwog shares
in the public market. The company
clanfied 1ts corporate strategy after the
appointment of Andreas Segal n
Janiuary 2016 (former CFO of GSW
and Deutsche Wahnen} as Deputy
CEO and CFO. The company set itself
ambitious growth targets and earnings
should be boosted in the near and
medium term, mamly driven by s
hughty prefitable  €3bn  residential
development pipeline in Vienna, Berlin
and Hamburg The total shareholder
return since listing wn Aprl 2013 has
been 90 3090,

Unite 1s the UK's largest purpose-buult
student housing developer, owner and
operator. The group manages just over
48,700 student beds either
wholly-owned or within joint ventures
Over 2016/17 the asset class has
remained attracive for insttutional
nvestment. While yield compression
has  slowed rental growth has
remained strong. Unite offers a sirong
development pipeline funded through
retained resources and actve portfolio
recycling. This, alongside continued 3-
49 rental growth, 1s expected to drive
18.4% compound annual growth in
earnings per share over the next three
years. Despite concerns over EU
students post the EU referendum m
the UK, the demand-supply dynamic
remains strengly 10 landlords’ favour,
with  excessive  applications  vs.
acceptances to unwersity and EU
students making up less than 10% of
total student numbers The LTV of 34%
continues to decline and provides the
group with sufficent  firepower to
continue its develepment activity. The
five year total shareholder return has
been 255.1%,

‘Percentage of Lwestment Puitfalis: positons inctude expusure trough CFDs

Fabege owns a ¢ SEK 51bn high
guahty portfolio (including mvestment
property and development) exposed
to the strong fundamentals within
Stockholm ~ 43% n the inner cty,
49% m Solna to the North of the aty
and 8% in Hammarby Sjostad to the
South Recent renegotiated leases
have been at levels 20%+ above prior
rents and the market continues to
benefit from an extrernely
advantageous supply-demand
imbalance — low new supply, reduction
in space due to conversion to
residential, low vacancy rates, bigh
economic growth and high demand for
space. Fabege has an  actve
development exposure and  strong
pipeline of future projects,
Management expect these projects to
generate & minmum  return on
mvested capitel  (ROIC) of 20%,
however, due to the strong Stockholm
market,  projects  are  currently
generating a ROIC of 44% Swedish
LTVs are generally higher than the rest
of Europe but Fabege, at 44%, has the
second lowest i the region. The
five vear total sharehclder return has
been 193.34%.
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Investment Properties

as at 31 March 2017

Spread of Direct Portfolio by Capital Value (%) Lease Lengths within the Direct Property Purtfoliow
as at 31 Marth 2017 Fesiclenal asal 37 March 2017 Gross lentdh necine
(.ros':i p
Ot e ket industiat Repts Other fotal Less than 1 yr mcluding Vouds 2030
West End of London - 405 - 137 06 548 1o 3yt 24 7%
Inner London a4 12145 - - 200 4-5 years 11 8%
Around M25 92 - - _ - 93 6to 10 ys 15 404
South west - - 159 - _ 159 1 to 15 yrs 0 0%
Over 15 yrs 27 8%
Total 13.6 1.7 304 15.7 0.6 100.0
\ Mnner London defined as inside the North and South circufar J 100 0% »

Value in excess of £10 million

The Colonnades Bishops Bridge Road, London W2

Sector 'Mlxed Use
Tenure iFreehoId
Size (sq ft) :sa,ooo

Principal tenants EWaitrose Ltd

The property comprnses a Earge mixed-use block Bayswater, constructed n “the md-1970s. The site extends to
approximately 2 acres on the north east comer of the junction of Bishops Bridge Road and Porchester Road, close
to Bayswater tube station and the Whiteleys Shopping Centre The commeraial element was extended and refurbished
2015 with a new 20 year lease being agreed with Waitrose

Ferrier Street Industrial Estate, Wandsworth London SV\HB

Sector \Industnal

Tenure IFreehnld o T

;i;em(—sq ft) T ”uTSG,OOO T

;rinci;m;;;l-t; o ‘Ahsol-l'xnt”:faste T Mossimans
’Kougar Tool Hire Ltd Page Lacquer

e s s i irsson ik

Site of just over an acre, 50 meters from Wandsworth Town railway station in an area that is predominantly residential
The estate comprises 16 small industrial units generally let to a mix of small to medium-sized private companies.

Value less than £10 million

Yodel Unit, Woodlands Park, Almondsbury, Bristol BS32

Sector industrial

“MI':nure ) Freehoit? o [

site(sqfy  [sse00

Principal tenants _(Yodel Delivery
Network Ltd

e i+ Ml nsamams ninsmsamn, —in et # | s mnsssonn | o o nr e OO e O Y = At A GOCCTE 00 (et 06 ottt it o0t

Located on the junction of the M4 and M; this industnal building 1s let to Yodel, the parcel delivery company, on a lease
expiring in 2019 at a low rent of £5 per sq ft. The building sits on a 5.75-acre stte giving a low site density and a large
yard offering a variety of alternatives uses for the site.
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Investment Properties

as at 31 March 2017 — continued

Value less than £10 million

IO Centre, Gloucester Business Park, G|oucester GL3

Sector ;Industnal
Tenure ;Freeho!d T T e e
size {sq ft) 753 o000 T - J—

;SCI MX tnvestmems
rProcnck

FEDEX, Infusion GB
Infusion GB

The 10 Centre comprises six industrial units occupied by five tenants and sits on a 4.5-acre site Gloucester Busmess Pdrk
Is located to the east of Junction 11A of the M5 and one mile to the east of Gloucester City Centre. The property also has
easy access to the Ad17 providing good links to the M4 via junction 15.

Fteld House, Station Approach, Har!ow CM20

Sector Offices
Tenure Freehold

¢ Size {sq ft) 366.000
Principal tenants 1Teva UK Ltd

Located next to Harlow Town railway station, the bulidmg was COnstructed in the late 19805 and compnses a 66 000-5q
ft office building on a site of 3.5 acres. 80% of the building by ERV 15 let to Teva UK Ltd on leases expiing w1 2023,

Beacon House, Wimbledon, London SWIB

Sector jofﬁces
Tenure iFreehold
Size (sq ft) 112,000

Principal tenants

’Briﬁsh Red Cross

Beacon House 1s located in the main ofﬁce district of this affluent London suburb. The upper parts are vacant in

anticipation of a redevelopment/refurbishment, while the ground floor is let to The British Red Cross

Unit H1 Parkway Industrial Estate, Plymouth PL6

i Sector
iy,

ctor  |dustdal )
Tenure IFreehold
|
Size (sq ft) lGG,OOD
Principal tenants Invensys plc

ThIS mdustnal bulldmg Is Ioaated on the main industrial estate in Piymouth beside the A38. 1t s et to Invensys until 2021

off a low rent of £4 50 per sq fi.
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Investment Objective and Benchmark

The Company's Objective 15 to maximise shareholders' total return by investing in the shares and securniies of property
companies and property related businesses internationally and also in investment property located in the UK,

The benchmark 1s the FTSE EPRA/NAREIT Developed Europe Capped Net Total Return Index in Sterling. The index,
calculated by FTSE, 15 free-float based and currently has 103 constituent companies. The index imits exposure to any cne
company to 10% and reweights the other constituents pro-rata. The benchmark website www.epra.com contains further
details about the index and performance.

Business Mode]

The Company's business model follows that of an externally managed mvestment trust.

The Company has na employees, lts wholly non-executive Board of five Directors retans responsibility for corporate
strategy; corporate governance; fisk and control assessment; the overall investment and dwidend policies, seiting imits
on geanng and asset allocation and monitonng nvestment performance

The Board has appointed F&C Investment Business Limited as the Altermative Investiment Fund Manager with portfolo
managerment delegated o Thames River Capital LLP. Marcus Phayre-Mudge acts as Fund Manager to the Company on
behalf of Thames River Capital LLP and Alban Lhonneur 1s Deputy Fund Manager. Gearge Gay 15 the Direct Property
Manager and Joanne Elliott the Finance Manager They are supported by a team of equity and portfolio analysts,

Furiher information n relation to the Board and the arrangements under the investment Management Agreement can be
found in the Report of the Directors on pages 36 and 45 to 46.

In accordance with the AIFMD, BNP Partbas has been appomnted as Depository to the Company BNP Paribas alse provide
custodial and admmistration senaces to the Company Company secretarial services are provided by Capita Company
Secretarial Services.

The specific terms of the Investment Management Agreement are set out on pages 45 to 46.
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Strategy and Investment Policies

The investment selection process seeks o identfy well managed companies of all sizes. The Manager generally regards
future growth and capttal appreciation potential more hughly than immediate yield or discount to asset value,

Although the investment objective allows for mvestment on an international basis, the benchmark 1s a Pan-European
Index and the majority of the investments will be located in that geographical area. Direct property investments are
located in the UK only.

As a dedicated investor i the property sector the Company cannot offer diversification outside that sector, however,
within the portfolio there are limitations, as set aut below, on the size of individual Investments held to ensure
dversification within the portfolio.

Asset allocation guidelines

The maximum holding in the stock of any ane 1ssuer or of a single asset is fimited to 15% of the portfolio at the pont of
acquisition. In addiuon, any holdings in excess of 5% of the portfolio must not in aggregate exceed 40% of the portfolio.

The Manager currently applies the following guidelines for asset allocation;

UK listed equities 25 - 50%
Continental European listed equities 45 - 75%
Direct Property — UK 5 — 20%
Other listed equities 0 — 5%
Listed bonds 0 - 5%
Unquoted investments 0 - 5%
Gearing

The Company may employ levels of geanng from time to time with the aim of enhanaing returns, subject to an overall
maximum of 25% of the portfolio value,

In certain market condrtions the Manager may consider it prudent not to employ gearing on the balance sheet at all, and
to haold part of the portfolio i cash.

The current asset allocation gusdeline is 10% net cash to 25% net geanng (as a percentage of portfoho value).

Property Valuation

Investment properties are valued every six months by an external ndependent valuer. If a matenal event occurs in the
intervening period, then an interim valuation will be instructed on the property i question. Valuations of all the Group's
properties as at 31 March 2017 have been carmed out on a “Red Book” basis and these valuations have been adopted in
the accounts.

Allocation of costs between Revenue & Capital

On the basis of the Board's expected long-term splt of returns in the form of capital gains and income, the Group
charges 759% of annual base management fees and finance costs to capital All performance fees are charged to capital
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Key Performance Indicators

The Board assesses the performance of the Manager in meeting the Trust's objective against the following Key

Performance \ndicators ("KPIs™) :

KPl

Net Asset Value Total Return
relative to the benchmark.

The Directors regard the Company's net asset
value total retumn performance in comparison
with the benchmark as being an overall
measure of value delwered to the
shareholders’ over the longer-term

Board monitoring and outcome

® The Board reviews the performance in detall at each meeting and

discusses the results and outlook with the Manager.

NAY Total Return*

Outcome

8.0%

5 Years
122 7%

Benchmark Jotal Retumn

5.5%

87.3%

" NAY Total Rerurm s calculated by rearvesting the divdends 14 the assets and the Company

from the relevant ex-dwmdend date Didends are deemed 0 be renvested un the

ex-dwidends date

i

De!ivering a reliable dividend which | ® The Board rewiews statements on income received to date and
is growing over the 10ﬂger term income forecasts at each meeting.
, o Qutcome

The principal objective of the Company 15

a total return objectve, however, the fund

manager aims to deliver a reliable dividend Compound Annudl Dividend

with growth cver the longer-term. Growth* 25.7% 97%

Compound Annual 3.1% 2.3%

* The fingl dvidend m the tme senes dvigend by the intal dwidend n the penod rased o
ihe power of 1 dvided by the nurmber of y2ars in the senes

The Discount ot Premium at e The Board takes powers at each AGM to buy-back and ssue

which the Company's shares trade
compared with Net Asset Value

Whilst investment performance 1s expected to
be a key driver of the share price discount or
premium to the net asset vafue of an
investment trust over the fonger-term, there
are penods of volatility when the discount can

‘ Outcome
widen. The Board s aware of the vulnerabilty —_T;’—T_ pye
. ear ‘ears
of a sector-specialist trust to a change of 2
N . *
investor sentiment towards that secter Average discount 11.2% 6.8%
Total number of shares
repurchased 150,000 525,000
' pverage daty discount throughout the penod of share price fo capiat only NAY
Source Bloomberg
i

shares. When considenng the merits of share buy-back or
issuance, the Board looks at a number of factors 1n addition to the
short and longer-term discount or premium to NAV to assess
whether action would be beneficial to the shareholders overall.
Particular attention 1s paid to the potential impact of any share
buy-back activity on the liquidity of the shares and on Ongoing
Charges over the longer-term,
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Key Performance Indicators
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continued

KPI | Board monitoring and outcome

Leve| of Ongoing Charges ® [Expenses are budgeted for each financal year and the Board
reviews regular reports on actual and forecast expenses
throughout the year.

The Board is conscious of expenses and aims
to deliver a balance between strong senvice
and costs, Outcome

The AIC definition of Ongoing Charges
includes any direct property costs in addition

Ongoing charges
to the managerment fees and all other excluding Performance Fees and 0.64% 0.69%
expenses incurred in running a publicly fisted Property Costs

company. As no other Investment trusts hold
part of thewr portfclio in direct property (they
either hold 100% of theuwr portfolio as
properly secunties or as direct property), this
statistic 15 shown without direct property costs
to allow a clearer comparison of overall
admiristraion costs with other funds
Investing In securties.

*Ongoing chorges calculetion introduced in 2013 theretore this statistc has only been
produced for four years

Investment Trust Status ® The Board reviews financal informatien and forecasts at each

meeting which set out the requirements outlined in Section 1158
The Company must continue to operate n

order to meet the requiremants for Sechion e The Directors believe that the conditions and ongoing

1158 of the Corporation Tax Act 2010 requirements have been met in respect of the year to 21 March
2017 and that the Company will continue to 1neel the
requirements
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Principal Risks and Uncertainties

In dehwering long-term returns to shareholders, the Board must also identfy and menitor the risks that have been taken in
order to achieve that return. The Board has included below detatls of the prinaipal nsks and uncertainties facing the
Company and the appropriate measures taken In order to mitigate these nisks as far as practicabie

Risk Identified

Share price performs poorly in comparison
to the underlying NAV

The shares of the Company are listed on the Lendon
Stock Exchange and the share price 1s determined by
supply and demand. The shares may trade at a discount
or premium to the Company's underlying NAV and this
discount or premium may fluctuate over time

l Board monitoring and mitigation

® The Board monitors the level of discount or premium
at which the shares are trading over the short and
longer-term.

® The Board encourages engagement with the
shareholders. The Board recewves reports at each
meeting on the actvity of the Company's brokers, PR
agent and meetings and events attended by the Fund
Manager

® The Company's shares are avadable through the F&C
share schemes and the Company paricipates in the
active marketing of these schemes The shares are
also widely available on open architecture platforms
and can be held directly through the Company's
registrar.

® The Board takes the powers to buy-back and issue
shares at each AGM.

Poor investment performance of the
porifolio relative to the benchmark.

The Company's portfolic is actively managed. In addition
to investment secunties the Company also invests in
commercial property and accordingly, the porifolio may
not follow or outperform the return of the benchmark.

® The Manager's objective is to outperform the
benchmark The Board regularly reviews the
Company's long-term strategy and investment
guidelines and the manager's relative positions
against these.

e The Management Engagement Committee reviews
the Managet's performance annually The Board has
the powers to change the Manager if deemed
approprate.

Market risk

Both share prices and exchange rates may move rapidly
and adversely impact the value of the Company's portfolio.

Although the portfolio 1s dversified acress @ number of
geographical regions, the investment mandate 1s focused
on a single sector and therefore the portfolio will be
sensitive towards the property sector, as well as global
equity markets more generally.

Property companies are subject to many factors which
can adversely affect their investment performance, these

e The Board receves and considers a regular report
from the Manager detailling asset allocation,
investment decisions, CUTency exposures, geanng
levels and rationale in relation to the prevailing market
conditions.
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Principal Risks and Uncertainties

continuad

Risk Identified { Board monitoting and mitigation

include the general eccnomic and financial environment
in which their tenants oparate, interest rates, avallability of
investment and development finance and regulations
issued by governments and authorities

The UK property market may be adversely aftected by
Brexit The market will respond as the negotiations unfold
and the impact en occupation across each sector and
geographical location becomes clear.

The Company is unable to maintain its
progressive policy on dividends

Lower earmings In the underlying portfolio may put
pressure on the Company's ability to maintain a
progressive dividend cauld result from a number of factors;

® lower earmings and distnbutions in Investee companies
# prolonged vacancies in the direct property portfolio

® strengthening sterling reducing the value of overseas
dividend receipts in sterling terms

& adverse changes in the tax treatment of dividends or
other income receved by the company

® changes in the tming of dividend recempts from
nvestee companies .

The Company has seen a matenal mcrease in the level of
earnings in the current year and a significant factor in this
has bean the weakaning of sterling following the Brexit
decisien. This may reverse in the near or medium term as
the negotiations progress, leading to a fall n eamings.

& The Board receives and considers regular income
forecasts.

® Income forecast sensitivity to changes n FX rates 1s
also monitored.

e The Company has revenue reseves which can be
drawn upon when required.

Accounting and operational risks

Disruption or failure of systems and processes
underpmning the services prowided by third parties and
the nsk that these suppliers provide a sub-standard
service.

e Third party service providers produce penodic reports
1o the Board on their contral environments and
business continuation provisions on a regular basis,

® The Management Engagement Commitiee considers
the performance of each of the senice providers on
a regular basis and considers their ongoing appointment.

® The Custodian and Depaository are responsible for the
safeguarding of assets In the event of a loss of assets
the Depository must return assets of an identical type
or corresponding amount unless able to demonstrate
that the loss was the result of an event beyond therr
reasonable control.

[ N L T AR T 29

w1
=
=
rm
£
]
sl
m
)
o
A2
_._i




F—
o
o
o
L
4
O
)
=
<
o
|
w

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

continued

Risk Identified

Financial risks

The Company’s investment activities expose it ta a variety
of financial risks which include counterparty credit nsk,
Iquidity nsk and the valuation of financial snstruments,

Board moniforing and mitigation

® Detaiis of these risks together with the policies for
managing these risks are found In the Notes to the
Financial Statements on pages 74 to 81.

Loss of Investment Trust Status

The Company has been accepted by HM Revenue &
Custorms as an Investrment trust, subject to continuing to
meet the relevant eligibility conditons. As such the
Company is exernpt from capital gains tax on the profits
realised from the sale of investments.

Any breach of the relevant eligiblity condiiens could lead
o the Company losing investment trust status and being

subject to corporation tax on capital gains realised within

the Company's portfolio,

® The Investment Manager montters the investment
portfolic, income and proposed dvidend levels to
ensure that the provisions of CTA 2010 are not
breached The results are reported to the Board
at each meehng.

® The income forecasts are reviewed by the Company's
tax advisor through the year who also reports to the
Board on the year-end tax positron and ar CTA 2010
comphance.

Legal, regulatory and reporting risks

Fallure 1o comply with the London Stock Exchange Listing
Rules and Transparency and Disclosure rules; fallure to
meet the requirements under the Altarnative Investment
Funds Directive, the provisions of the Companies Act
2006 and other UK, European and overseas legislation
affecing UK companies. Failure to meet the reguired
accounting standards or make appropriate disclosures in
the Intenm and Annual Reports

& The Board recewves regular regulatary updates from

® The Baard recenves an annual report and update from

the Manager, Company Secretary, legal advisors and
Auditors The Board considers these reports and
recommendations and takes action accordingly.

the Depository.

® internal checklists and review procedures are in place
at service providers.

® External auditors review Interim & Annual Reports and
audit year end Financal Statements.

Inappropriate use of gearing

Gearnng, either through the use of bank debt or through
the use of derivatives rmay be utlised from time to time.
Whist the use of gearing 15 Intended to enhance the NAV
total return, it will have the opposite effect when the
return of the Company's nvestment portfollo 15 negative.

_ﬁ

e The Board recewes regular reporis from the Manager
on the levels of gearing in the portfolia. These are
considered agamst the geanng limits set in the
Investment Guidelines and also in the context of
current market conditions and sentiment.

Personnel changes at Investment Manager

Loss of portiolio manager or other key staff,

e The Chawrman conducts regular meetngs with the

® The fee basis pratects the core infrastructure and

Fund Management team.

depth and qualty of resources. The fee structure
incentivises good performance and is fundamental in
the ability to retain key staff

0 IR Proapoity Pesprenn Iroar



Viability Statement

In accordance with provision €,2.2 of the UK Corporate Gavernance Code, which requires the Cormpany to assess the
prospects of the Company over the longer term, the Directors have assessed the prospects of the Company over the

coming five years. This penod 15 used by the Board duning the strategic planming process and the Board consider this

penod of time appropnate for a business of our nature and size.

This assessment takes account of the Company's current position and the policies and processes for managing the
principal risks set out on pages 28 to 30 and the Company's ability to continue in operation and meet 1ts labilties as they
fall due over the pencd of assessment. In making this statement the Board carried out a robust assessment of the
principal risks facing the Company, iIncluding those that might threaten its business model, future performance, solvency
and hquidity.

In reaching their conclusions the Directars have reviewed five-year forecasts for the Company with sensitivity analysis to a
number of assumptions investee company dwidend growth, interest rate, foreign exchange rate, tax rate and asset value
growth.

In the assessment of the viability of the Company the Directors have noted that:

® The Company has a long-term investment strategy under which 1t invests mainly in readily realisable, publicly listed
securities and which restricts the level of borrowings.

e (Of the current portfolio, 69% could be quidated within seven trading days.

¢ The Company invests in real estate related companies which hold real estate assets, and invests in commercial real
estate directly. These investments provide cash receipts in the form of dividends and rental income.

* The Company 15 able to tzke advantage of its closed-ended Investment Trust structure and able to hold a proportion
of its portfolio in less liquid diract property with & view to long-term outperformance

#® The struciure has alsg enabled the Company to secure finance in excess of 10 years.

® The expenses of the Company are predictable and modest in comparison with the assets. Regular and robust
monitoring of revenus and expenditure forecasts are undertaken throughout the year.

& The Company has no employees and consequently does not have redundancy or other employment related labilities
or responsibilities.

e The Company retains title to its assets held by the Custodian which are subject to further safeguards imposed on the
Depository.

The following assumptions have been made in assessing the longer-term viability:

® Real Fstate will continue to be an 1nvestable sector of internatonal stock markets and inwvestors will continue to wish
to have exposure 1o that secior.

¢ (losed-ended invesiment Trusts will continue to be wanted by investors and regulation or tax legistation will not
change 1o an extent to make the structure uneconarmical in comparison te other investment products

o The performance of the Company will continue to be satisfactory Should the performance be less than the Board
deems 1o be satisfactary, it has the appropriate powers to replace the Investment Manager.

The Board has concluded that the Company will be able to continue in operation and meet its liabilities
as they fall due over the coming five years. The Company’s business model, capital structure and strategy
have enabled the Company to operate over many decades, and the Board expects this to continue into
the future.
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Corporate Responsibility

Exercise of voting power

The Board has approved a corporate governance voting policy which, nts opimon, accords vath current best practice
whilst maintaining a primary focus on finandial returns.

The exerase of voting nghts attached to the Company's portfolio has been delegated to the Manager who takes a global
approach to engagement with issuers and therr management in all of the junisdichiens in which it invests The Manager is
required to include disclasure about the nature of their commitment to the Financial Reparting Committee’s Stewardship
Code and details may be found at www.fandc.com

Environmental policy & Socially Responsible Investment

The Company considers that good corporate governance extends to pofices on the environment, employment, human
nghts and community relalionships. Corporates are playing an increasingly smportant role in global economic activity and
the adoption of good corporate governance enhances a company’s econornic prospects by reduang the nsk of
government and regulatory intervention and any ensuing damage to its business or reputation,

The Company has adopted an environmental policy in respect of its nvestments in both physical property and listed
oroperty companies. Within the cantext of the overall am of the Company te masimise shareholders’ returns the
Directors will seek 1o limit the Company’s and its Investee companies’ impact on the erwironment and will comply wath
all relevant legislation relating to 1ts operations and activities.

The environmental pohaies and behaviour of all the companies in which the Company invests are taken into account n
decision making

Good envwrenmental management can play a role in overall nisk management and also have a financial impact in terms
of savings through energy and water effiuency Where appropriate the Manager will engage with investee companies o
raise concerns about environmental matters.

So far as direct property investments are concerned, the Company conducts environmental audits prior to purchase to
dentify contarmnation or materials considered environmentally harmful The Company will take remedial action or
enforce tenant obligations to do so wherever appropnate. The Company's advisers assess the environmental impact of tts
properties on an ongeing basis and will take all necessary action to cemply with environmental respensibilities,

The Company has no greenhouse gas emissions to repori from the operations of the Company, nor does t have
responsibiity for any other emissions producing sources under the Comparues Act 2006 (Strategic Report and Directors’
Reports) Regulations 2013, including those within its underlying investment portfolio.

Diversity, Gender Reporting and Human Rights Policy

The Board recognises the requirement under Section 414 of the Companies Act 2006 to detail information about employee
and human nghts; including nformation about any policies 1t has i relation to these matters and effectiveness of these
policies. As the Trust has no employees, this requirement does not apply. The Directors are also satisfied that, to the best of
thewr knowledge, the Company's prinapal suppiiers, comply with the provisions of the UK Modem Slavery Act 2015.

The Board currently comprises four male and one female Directors. The Board's diversity policy 1s cutlined in more detail
in the Cotporate Governance Report. The Manager has an equal opportunidy pclicy which is set out on its website
www.fande.com.

By order of the Board
Hugh Seaborn

Chairman ’L \\&@/k -
8 june 2017 Q( - k///
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Directors

Hugh Seabomn

David Watson

Hugh Seaboen, juned the Board of the
Company on 24 July 2007 and became
Chairman in July 2016 He 5 a Chartered
Surveyor and has considerable expenence
in the property arena, he is the Chief
Execute Officer of the Cadogan Estate
He was a member of the Council and
Audit Committee of the Duchy of
l.ancaster until December 2013, From
2000 to 2009, he was Chief Executive
Officer of the Portman Estate, he is
Charman of the Knightsbridge Business
Croup, 15 past Charman of the Estates
Business Group and past Charman of the
Westrminster Property Owners Association

John Glen, jcined the Board of the
Company on 17 February 2014 and

15 presently the Chief Executive of
Buccleuch Previously, he was based

n Pans as CFO of Air Liguide and also
served as the Vice Chairman of the
European financal Reporting Group
{(FFRAG) He s a non-executive director
for BIC, and a member of the Board for
Project Scotland He s aiso a member of
the 2020 Clirate Change Group He s
also a Board Mernber of the Three Stills
Compary which s building a new whisky
distillery 1 the Scothish Borders

David Watson, joined the Board of

the Company on 1 Apnl 2012 He
became Charman of the Company's
Audit Cormymittec on 1 January 2013

and become the SIDin july 2016 He s
a Chartered Accountant énd has had

a distinguishied career in the Ainanaal
Services Industry He spent mine years

as Finance Director of M&G Group ple,
where he was a director of four equity
investment trusts, and most recently at
Aviva ple as Chief Finance Officer of Aviva
General Insurance He 1s currently
Deputy Charrman of Countrywide plc and
a non-executive director of Ageas {UK)
Lamited, Kames Capital plc and Hermes
fund Managers Limited, where he s
Chairman of the Audit Commuittee

Suzie Procter

Alt directars are independent of the manager and are mernbers of the Audit Committes

Simon Marrison, juined the Board of
the Cormpany on 28 September 2011,
he s CEQ of Europe at LaSalle
investrnant Management and has
responsibility for a portfolio of ever
€20bn across Furope He has been
based in Panis since 1990 having started
fus career 1n London Untl 1997 he was
a partner at Healey & Baker (now
Cushman & Wakefield} and from 1997
10 2007 he was at Rodamco where he
became Country Manager for france He
joined LaSalle n 2001 as Managing
Dvrector for Continental Europe and
become European CEQ and member of
the Clobal Management comrmittee in
2007

Suzie Procter, joined the Board of

the Company on 1 March 2013 She
joned Citibank m 1982 after graduating
from Bristol University with a Bachelor of
Scence degree in Psychology She
moved from Corpordte Banking to
Capital Markets i 1985, inally with
Citicorp #n Fixed Income Sales She has
worked in the investrment markets for
over 30 years of which 11 years was as
a Fxed income Portfolio Manager and as
a Director of Midland Montagu Asset
Management, then Pictet International
Management Since 2000 she has
worked i institutional business
develgpment in a varety of roles at
lnvesco (Head of Institutional Sales
and Consultant Relations), Lazard Asset
Managerment (Managing Dhrector,
Institutional) and Cantidlen Capital
Management (Partner and Executive
Commiltee}
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Managers

Marcus Phayre-Mudge, Fund Manager, joined the Management team for the Company at Henderson
Global investors in January 1997, nwally managing the Company's direct property portfolio and latterly
focusing on real estate equities, managing a number of LUK and Pan Europeen real estate equity funds
1n addrtion to activiies in the Trust Marcus moved to Thames River Caprial in October 2004 where he 15
also fund manager of Tharnes Rwer Property Growth & Income Fund Limited Prior to joining Henderson,
Marcus was an investment surveyor at Keight Frank {1990) and was made an Associate Partner i the
fund managerment dwsian (1995) He quahfied as a Chartered Surveyor in 1992 and has a BSc (Hons}
in Land Management from Reading University

%%, ..

Marcus Phayre-Mudge

OVERNANCE

5

1o Elliott, Finance Manager, has been Finance Manager since 1995, first at Henderson Global investors
then, since January 2005, at Thames River Capital, when she joined as CFO for the property team Sha
jomed Henderson Globel Inveslors n 1985, where she most recently held the position of Directer of
Prupenty, Finance & Operatons, Europe Prewously she was Curporate Finance Manager with London
and Edmburgh Trust ple and prior (o that was an investment/ireasury analyst with Heron Corporation ple
Jo has a BSc (Hons) n Zoology from the Unversity of Nottimgham and quahfied as a Chartered
Accountant with Ernst & Young in 1988

Jo Elliott

™ George Gay, Direct Praperty Fund Manager, has been the Direct Property Fund Manager since 2008
' He jomed Thames River Capital in 2005 as assistant direct property manager and qualified as a
} Chartered Surveyor in 2006 George was Dreviously at niche Oty mvestment agent, Morgan Pepper where
| as an vestment graduate he ganed considerable ndustry expenence He has an MA in Property
valuation and Law from City University

George Gay

Alban Lhonneur, Oeputy Fund Manager, joned Tharmes Rver Caprtal it August 2008 He was previously
at Citigroup Global Markets as an Bquity Research analyst focusing on Continental European Reat Estate
Prior 1o that he was at Socete Generale Secuntes, where he focused on lransport equity research, He has
2 BSC i Busmess and Managemenl from the 85C Toulouse incuding ene year at the Brunel University,
London He also attended CERAM Nice High Busimess Schoal in 2005 he obtained a post-graduate
Speciahised Master in Finance in 2005 from £5CP-EAP

Alban Lhonnear
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Report of the Directors

The Directors present the audited finanaa! staternents of the Group and the Company and their Strategic and Reports of
Directors for the year ended 31 March 2017, The Group compnses TR Property investment Trust plc and its wholly
owned subsidiaries, As permitted by legislation, some matters normally included in the Report of the Directors have been
mcluded 1n the Strategic Report because the Board considers them to be of strategic importance. Therefore review of the
business of the Company, recent events and outlook can be found on pages 4 to 32.

Status

The Company is an investment company, as defined in Section 833 of the Companies Act 2006, and cperates as an
nvestment trust In accordance with Section 1158 of the Corporation Tax Act 2010

FONYNHINOD

The Cempany has a single share class, Ordinary shares, with a nominal value of 25 pence each which are premium listed
on the London Stock Exchange

The Company has recewed confirmation from HM Revenue & Customs that the Company has been accepted as an
approved mvestment trust for accounting penods commencing on or after 1 Apnl 2012 subject to the Company
continuing to meet the eligibility conditions of Section 1158 Corporation Tax Act 2010 and the ongoing requirements for
approved companies in Chapter 3 of Part 2 Investment Trust (Approved Company) (Tax) Regulations 2011 (Statutory
Instrument 2011/2%99),

The Directors are of the opinion that the Company has conducted and will continue to conduct sts affars so as to
masntain investmant trust status. The Company has also conducted its affairs, and wilt continue to conduct its affairs, in
such a way as to comply with the indmvidual Savings Accounts Regulations The Ordinary shares can be held in Individual
Savings Accounts (15As).

Results and Dividends

At 31 March 2017 the net assets of the Company amounted to £1,118m (2016° £1,065m), on a per share basis
352.42p {2016: 335 56p) per share,

Revenue eamings for the year amounted to 11.38p (2016: 8.36p) and the Directors recommend the payment of a final
dividend of 6.40p (2016. 5.20p) per share bringing the total dwidend for the year to 10.50p {2016: 8.35p), an increase
of 26% for the full vear. In armving at their dividend proposal, the Board alsc reviewed the income forecasis for the year
to March 2018

Performance detalls are set out In the Financial Highlights on page 1 and the outcome of what the Directars consider to
be the Key Performance Indicators on pages 26 to 27 The Charman’s Statement and the Managers Report give full
details and analysis of the resulis for the year

Share Capital and Buy-back Activity
At 1 April 2017 the Company had 317,350,980 (2016: 317,500,980) Ordinary shares n 1ssue.

At the AGM in 2016 the Directors were given power to buy back 47,593,396 Ordinary shares Since this AGM the
Directors have bought back 150,000 Ordinary shares at the nominal value of 25p each under this authorty The
outstanding authority 15 therefore 47,443,396 shares.

This authonty will expire at the 2017 AGM The Company will seek to renew the power to make market purchases of
Ordinary shares at this year's AGM

Since 1 April 2017 to the date of this report, the Company has made no market purchases for cancellation
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Report of the Directors

continued

The Board has not set a specific discount at which shares will be repurchased. However, around 171 million Ordinary
shares have been repurchased since the Board first took the decsion to buy back shares in 1999,

Management Arrangements and Fees

Details of the management arrangements and fees are set out in the Report of the Management Engagement Commitiee
beginning an page 45 Tota! fees paid to the Manager in any one year (Management and Performance Fees) may not
exceed 4.99% of Group Equity Shareholders’ Funds, Total fees payable for the year to 37 March 2017 amount to 0.6%
(2016: 0.8%) of Group Equity Shareholders Funds. Included in this were perfermance fees eamed in the year ended

31 March 2017 of £7,148,000 (2016 £3,354,000).

Basis of Accounting and IFRS

The Group and Company finanaal statements for the year ended 21 March 2017 have been prepared on a going
concern basis in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS}, which comprise standards and
interpretations approved by the internatonal Accounting Standards Board (IASB), together with interpretations of the
Intermnational Accounting Standards and Standing Interpretations Committee approved by the International Accounting
Standards Committee (IASC) that remain in effect, to the extent that they have been adopted by the European Union and
as regards the Group and Company finanaal statements, as apphed in accordance with the provisions of the Comparues
Act 2006.

The accounting policies are set out In note 1 to the Finanoial Statements on pages 62 to 66.

Going Concern

The Directors” assessment of the longer-term viability of the Company is set out on page 31.

As the Board 1s of the opinion that the Company can continue in operation for the foreseeable future, being for a penod
of at least 12 months from the date that these finanaal statermnents were approved, it has been concluded that the going
concern basis should be adopted for the preparation of the Finanaal Statements for the year ended 31 March 2017

Internal Controls

The Board has overall responsibility for the Group's systems of internal controls and for reviewng ther effectiveness
The Portfalio Manager 1s responsible for the day to day investment management decisions on behalf of the Group
Accounting and company secretarial services have both been cutsourced

The internal controls aim to ensure that the assets of the Group are safeguarded, proper accounting records are
maintained, and the financial information used within the business and far publication 15 reliable. Control of the nsks
dentified, covenng financial, operational, comphance and nsk management, is embedded in the controls of the Group by
a senies of regular investment performance and attnbution statements, financial and risk analyses, AIFM and Portfolio
Manager reports and guarterly control reports. Key nsks have been dentfied and controls put in place to mitigate them,
including those not directly the responsibility of the AIFM or Portiolio Manager. The key nisks are explained in more detall
in the Strategic Report on pages 28 to 30.

The effectiveness of each third party prowider's internal controls is assessed on a continuing basis by the Comphiance and
Risk departments of the AlFM and Portfolio Manager, the Administrator and the Company Secretary Each mamntains its
own system of internal controls, and the Board and Audit Committee recetve regular reports from them The control
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Report of the Directors

continued

systems are designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against matenal misstatement or loss and to
manage, rather than eliminate, nsk of fallure to achieve objectives.

As the Company has no employees and its operational functions are undertaken by third parties, the Audit Committee
does not consider it necessary for the Company to establish ts own internal audit function. Instead, the Audit Commuttee
relies on intemal control reports recewed from its principal service providers to satisfy itself as to the controls in place.

The Board has established 2 process for identifying, evaluating and managing any major risks faced by the Group.

The Board undertakes an annual review of the Group's system of internal controls in line with the Turnbull guidance.
Business risks have also been analysed by the Roard and recorded in a nsk map that is reviewed regularly. Each quarter
the Board recewves a formal report from each of the AIFM, Portfolio Manager, the Administrator and the Company
Secretary detaling the steps taken to monitor the areas of nsk, including those that are not drectly their respansibility, and
which report the detarls of any known internal control failures.

AONVNYIAOCD

The Board also considers the flow of information and the interaction between the third party service providers and the
controls in place to ensure accuracy and completeness of the recording of assets and income. The Board receives
a report from the Portiollo Manager setting out the key controls and the results of the audit testing of these

The Board also has direct access to company secretanal advice and services provided by Capita Company Secretarial
Services, which, through its nominated representative, 1s responsible for ensuring that the Board and Committee
procedures ale followed and that applicable regulations are complied with.

These controls have been in place throughout the penod under review and up to the date of signing the accounts

Key nsks identified by the Audiors are considered by the Audit Committee to ensure robust intemal controls and
monitoring procedures are in place in respect of these nsks on an ongong basis.

Annual Ceneral Meeting (the "AGM")

The AGM will be held on 25 july 2017 at 2,00pm. The Notice of AGM is set out on pages 88 to 91. This notice contams
resolutions to receve the Report of the Directors and audited finanaial statements, approve the directors’ remuneration
repart and policy, re-appomt the auditors and empower the Directors to set their fees. The Duectors are also seeking
powers to allot Ordinary shares, dis-apply statutory pre-emption nghts, and buy back Ordinary shares for cancellation.
The full text of the resolutens and an explanation of each 1s contamned in the Notice of AGM and explanatory notes on
pages 92 to 93

Material Interests

There were no contracts subsisting dunng or at the end of the year in which a director of the Company 1s or was
materially interested and which 1s or was significant i relation to the Company's business. No Director has a contract
of service with the Company. Further details regarding the appontment letters can be found on page 44.

Donations

The Company made no political ar chartable donations during the year (2016, £nil),
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GOVERNANCE

Report of the Directors

continued

Voting Interests

Rights and Obligations Attaching to Shares

Subject to applicable statutes and other shareholders’ nghts, shares may be issued with such rights and restrctions as the
Comipany may by ordinary resolution decide, or (if there 1s no such resolution or so far as it does not make specific
provision) as the Board may decide. Subject o the Articles, the Cornpanies Act 2006 and other shareholders' nghts,
unissued shares are at the disposa) of the Board.

Voting
At a general meeting of the Company, when voung 1s by a show of hands, each share affords its owner one vote.

Restrictions on Voting

No member shall be entitled to vote if he has been served waith a restriction notice (as defined in the Articles) after farlure
to provide the Company with information concerning Interests In those shares required to be provided under the
Companies Act 2006

Deadlines for Voting Rights
Votes are exercisable at the general meeting of the Company 1n respect of which the business being voted upon is being
heard. Votes may be exercised in person, by proxy, or in relation to corporate members, by corporate representatives.

The Articies provide a deadline for submussion of proxy forms of not less than 48 hours (or such shorter time as the
Board may determine} before the meeting (not excluding non-working days)

Transfer of Shares

Any shares in the Company may be held in uncertficated form and, subject to the Articles, title to uncertificated shares
may be transferred by means of a relevant system. Subject to the Articles, any member may transfer all or any of his
certificated shares by an mstrument of transfer in any usual form or in any other form which the Board may approve

Significant Voting Rights
At 31 March 2017, no shareholders held over 3% of voting nghts on a discretionary basis. However, at 321 March 2017
the following shareholders held over 3% of the voting nghts on a non-discreticnary bas:s.

% of

Ordinary share

Shareholder voting rights*
Alllance Trust plc 772%
Brewin Dolphin 1td 6.91%
Quilter Cheviot nvestrent Management Ltd 6.619%
Rathbone Investment Management Lid 6.43%
Investec Wealth & Investment Ltd 5.98%
Hargreaves Lansdown Asset Management Ltd 3.65%

* See above for further mfgrmabon on the votng nghts of Qrdinary shares

Since 31 March 2017 to the date of this report, the Company has not been informed of any notifiable changes with
respect to the Ordinary shares.

i
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Report of the Directors

continued

Corporate Governance Report

The Board of Directors 1s accountable to shareholders for the governance of the Company's affarrs.

This staternent describes how the principles of the UK Carporate Governance Code (“the Code”) issued by the Financial
Reporting Council {the “FRC") in 2014 have been applied to the affairs of the Company. The Code can be viewed at
www frc arg.uk.

Application of the AIC Code’s Principles

in applying the pnnciples of the Code, the Directors have also taken account of the Code of Corporate Govermnance
published by the AIC (‘the AIC Code"), which established the framawork of best practice specifically for the Boards of
nvestment trust companies. There 1s some overlap 1n the principles Taid down by the two Codes and there are some
areas where the AIC Code 1s more flexible for nvestment trust companies, The AIC Code can be viewed at

wwav theaic.co.uk.

FONVNY3AOD

The Directors believe that dunng the penod under review they have comphed with the Main Principles and relevant
provistons of the Code, insofar as they apply to the Company's business, and with the provisions of the AIC Code

Compliance Statement
The Directors acknowledge that the Company did not comply with the following provisions of the Code in the year ended
31 March 2017

A2.1 Due 1o the nature and structure of the Company the Board of non-executive directors does not feel it 1s necessary
to appoint a chief executive

C.35 & C3.6 As the Company has no employees and its operational functions are undertaken by third parties, the Audit
Committee does not consider it necessary for the Company to establish its own mternal audit function

[2.2.1 The Board does not have & separate Remuneration Committee. The functions of a Retnuneraton Cornmities are
carried out by the Management Engagerment Committee

Composition and Independence of the Board

The Board currently consists of five directors, all of whom are non-executive and are independent of the Manager. None
of the Directors have any other links to the Manager. The Board believes that diversity of expenence and approach,
including gender diversity, amongst board members 1s of great iImportance and it is the Company’s policy to give careful
consideration to issues of board balance and diversity when making new appointments.

Powers of the Directors

Subject to the Company's Articles of Assoiation, the Companies Act 2006 and any directions given by special reselution,
the business of the Company 1s managed by the Board who may exercise all the powers of the Company, whether
relating to the management of the business of the Company or not I particular, the Board may exerase all the powers
of the Company to borrow money and to mortgage or charge any of s undertakings, property, assets and uncalled
capital and to 1ssue debentures and other secunhes and to give secunty for any debt, hability or obligation of the
Company to any third party

There are ne contracts or arrangements with third parties which effect, alter or terminate upon a change of control of the
Company.

TR UE AR T 59



IR}
P
s
<
=
e
e
=
@]
&)

Report of the Directors

continued

Directors

The Chairman is Mr Seaborn and the Senior Independent Director is Mr Watson. The Directors’ biographies, on page 33,
demonstrate the breadth of investment, commercial and professional experience relevant to ther posttions as Directors of
the Company.

Directors' retirement by rotation and re-election 1s subject to the Articles of Associaticn. In accordance with the Code, all
directors will be subject to annual re-election.

Mr Marrison, Mr Seabom, Ms Procter and Mr Watson will retire at the forthcoming AGM in accordance with the Code and,
being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election. All Directors are regarded as being free of any conflicts of interest and
no issues In respect of ndependence anse The Board has concluded that all Directors continue to make valuable
contnibutions and believe that they remain independent in character and judgement.

Re election/recruitment

Mr Glen, who has served on the Board since 2014, wll not be seeking re-election and he will retire from the Board of
Directors following the AGM on 25 July 2017

Board Committees

The Board has established an Audit Commuttee, a Normination Comnuttee and a Management Engagement Comnutteg,
which also carries out the functions of a Remuneration Commuttee The roles and responsibiliies of each Committee are
set out on the indwidual Committee reports which Tollow

Board Meetings

The number of meetings of the Board and Commuttees held during the year under review, and the attendance of
indmadual Directors, are shown below:

Board Audit MEC Nomination

Atternda Ehgble Attended Elgtbsle Atterided Elrgrbale Atterided Ehgible
Hugh Seaborn 6 6 2 2 1 1 2 2
John Glen 6 6 2 2 1 1 p) 2
Simon Marnsan 6 6 2 2 i 1 2 2
Suzie Procter 6 & 2 2 1 i 2 2
David Watson 6 6 2 2 1 1 2 2
Caroline Burton® 2 2 1 1 0 0] ] 1

* Caroline Burton retired from the Board on 26 July 2014

In addition to formal Board and Committee meetings, the Diractors also attend a number of informal meetings to
represent the interests of the Company.

The Board

The Board 1s responsible for the effective stewardship of the Company's aftars, Certain strategic 1ssues are menitored by
the Board ar meetings against a framework which has been agreed with the Manager. Addiional meetings may be
arranged as required. The Board has a formal schedule of matters spectfically reserved for its decision, which are
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Report of the Directors

continued

categonsed under vanous headings, including strategy, management, structure, capital, financial reporting, internal
conirols, gearing, asset allocation, share price discount, contracts, invesiment pelicy, finance, nsk, mnvestment restrictions,
perfermance, corporate governance and Beard membership and appentments.

In order to enable them to discharge their responsibilities, all Girectors have full and timely access to relevant information.
At each meeting, the Board reviews the Company's investment performance and considers financial analyses and other
reports of an operational nature, The Board monitars compliance with the Company's objectives and (s responsible for
setting asset allocation and investment and gearing limits within which the Portfolio Manager has discretion to act and
thus supervises the management of the investment portfoho, which is contractually delegated to the Portfolio Manager.

AONYNAFACD

The Board has responsibility for the approval of investments n unquoted investments and any investments i In-house
funds managed or advised by the Portfolic Manager. It has also adopted a procedure for Directors, in the furtherance of
therr duties, to take independent professional advice at the expense of the Company

Conflicts of Interest

tn ine with the Companies Act 2006, the Board has the power to authonse any petential conflicts of interest that may
anse and impose such limits or conditions as it thinks fit. A register of potenhal conflicts is mamtained and is reviewad
at every Board meeting to ensure all details are kept up-to-date Appropnate authonsabion will be sought prior to the
appointment of any new Director or if any new conflicts anse

Relations with Shareholders

Shareholder relations are given high prionty by the Board, the AIFM and the Pertfolio Manager The pnime medium by
which the Company communicates with shareholders 1s through the Interim and Annual Reports which aim to provide
shareholders with a clear understanding of the Company's activities and their results. Trus information 1s supplemented by
the daily calculation of the Net Asset Value of the Company's Ordinary shares which 1s published on the London Stock
Exchange

This information is also available on the Company's website, wwatrproperty.com together with a monthly factsheet
and Manager commentaty.

At each AGM a presentaticn 1s made by the Manager following the business of the meeting. Shareholders have the
opportunity to address questions to the Chairman and the Charman of the Audit Committee at the AGM. All shareholders
are encouraged to attend the AGM.

it 15 the intention of the Board that the Annual Report and Accounts and Notice of the AGM be issued to shareholders sc
as 1o provide at least twenty warking days' notice of the AGM. Shareholders wishing to lodge questions in advance of the
AGM, or to contact the Board at any cther time, are invited to do so by wniting to the Company Secretary at the registered
address given on page 94.

General presentations are given to both sharehaolders and analysts following the publication of the annual resuilts,

All meetings between the Manager and shareholders are reported to the Board

Directors’ Indemnity

Directors” and Officers’ hability insurance cover is in place in respect of the Directors. The Company’s Articles of
Assocation provide, subject to the provisions of UK legislation, an mdemnity for Directors in respect of costs which they
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GOVERNANCE

Report of the Directors

continued

may incur relating to the defence of any proceedings brought agamst thern ansing out of their positions as Directors, in
which they are acquitted or judgement 1s given in thewr favour by the court

To the extent permitted by law and by the Company's Articles of Association, the Company has entered into deeds of
ndemnity for the benefit of each Director of the Company in respect of labilities which may attach to themn in theyr
capacity as Directors of the Company. These provisions, which are qualifying third party indermnity prowisions as defined by
section 234 of the Cornpames Act 2006, were infroduced in January 2007 and currently remarn in force.

Directors’ statement as to disclosure of information to auditors

The Directors who were members of the board at the time of approving the Directors’ report are listed on page 33.
Having made enquines of fellow directors and of the Company’s auditors, each of these Directors confirms that

® 10 the best of each director's knowledge and belief, there 1s no mformation (that 15, information needed by the
Company's auditors in connection with prepanng thew report) of which the Company's audttors are unaware, and

e each Diector has taken all the steps a director might reasonably be expected to have taken to be aware of relevant
audit information and to establish that the Company's audttors are aware of that information.

This informabon 1s given and should be interpreted 1n accordance with the prowisions of Section 418 of the Companies Act
2006.

MROA

By order of the Board

Hugh Seaborn
Chairman
8 June 2017
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Report of the Nomination Committee

Role of the Committee

As reported 1n the last Annual Report and Accounts, the Board made the deaision sn March 2015 to put a Nomenation
Committee In place to ensure there was an appropniate level of focus on succession planning

The primary role of the Nomination Committee 15 to review and make recommendations with regard to Board structure,
size and compaesition, the balance of knowledge, expenence, skill ranges and diversity and consider succession planning
and tenure policy. The Nomination Commuttee is also responsible for reviewing the outcome of the board evaluation
process.

FONYNEIAOD

The Nomination Committee meets at least on an annual basis, and more frequently as and when required and last met
i March 2017,

Composition of the Committee

The Nemination Committee compnses all Directors of the Company and 1s chaired by Mr Seabarn,

Activity during the year

As reported last year, in May 2016 the Normination Committee approved the appaintment of Mr Watson as successor 10
the SID following Mr Seaborm's appointment as Charman at the conclusion of the 2016 AGM. Mr Watson has also
continued n his role as Charman of the Audit Committee.

The Committee also discussed succession planning of the Board, in particular the roles of the Chairman, Audit Committee
charman and SI0 o ensure appropriate plans were in place.

The Commuttee will continue to review succession planning and recrustment further at the Nominaton Committee
meeting in future meetings When considenng fuiure appointments of Directors, the Nominaticn Commitlee, will look at
the balance of skills, knowledge and expenence, including gender diversity of the Board and wil! also take into account
recommendaticns from the external board evaluztions The Committee will also consider the use of external consultants,
as appropnate, when shortlisting candidates.

Board Evaluation

During the year the Board engaged Tim Stephensen of Stephenson & Co, an independent party who specizhses in
investment trust board evaluations, to facilitate an independent evaluation of the effectiveness of the Board, its
committees and the performance of each director In addimon to the Directors, the most senicr members of the
Investment Management tearms were interviewed. The report was presented and discussed by the Committee.

The evaluation was provided by Tim Stephenson 1o the Chairman to discuss with the Board. The evaluation was
considered by the Committee to be constructive in terms of identifying areas for improving the functioning and
performance of the Board and the Committees, the contnbution of indmdual directors, as well as building on and
developing individual and collective strengths,

The Chairman confirms that, in light of the external performance evaluation, the perfarmance of each director continues
to be effective and demanstrates their comimitment to therr role This includes extensive tme for ad hoc communications
throughout the year in addition to formal board and commitiee meetings

The Board believas it has a good balance of skills, expenence and length of service to ensure & operates effectively. With
the exception of John Glen, all of the directors are offening themselves for re-electon at the Company's forthcoming AGM
it 1s considered that each of them ment re-election by shareholders In accordance with the provisions of the Code, it 1s
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Report of the Nomination Committee

continued

the intention of the Board to engage an external facilitator to assist with the performance evaluaton every three years and
the next extemal evaluation will be carried out for the year ended 31 March 2020,

Board Appointment Process

Appointment of New Directors

The Committee annually reviews its size and structure of the Board, Where a new appointment is requuied, the
Cormnmittee will appoint external recruttment consultants to assist i the process. Following the resignaton of Mr Glen, the
Commuttee are currently considenng future requirements of the Board and will commence a recruitment process in due
course,

Directors’ Training

When a new Director is appointed, he/she is offered traming to suit thewr needs. Directors are also provided with key
information on the Company's activities on a regular basis, including regulatory and statutory requirements and oternal
controls Changes affecting Directors’ respensibilives are advised to the Board as they anise. Directors ensure that they are
updated on regulatory, statutory and industry matters,

Letters of Appointment

No Director has a contract of employment with the Company. Directors’ terms and conditions for appointment are set out
in letters of appointment which are available for nspection at the registered office of the Cormpany and will be on display
at the AGM.

Hugh Seaborn
Chairmon of the Nomination Committee
8 fune 2017
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Report of the Management Engagement Committee

Role of the Committee

The primary role of the Management Fngagement Committee (“MEC") is to review on an annua' basis, the performance
of the AIFM and the Portfolio Manager and therr continued suitability to manage the Company's portfolio. It also reviews
the terms of the Investment Management Agreement, to ensure they are competitive and fasr and in the best interests
of the shareholders, and to negotiate terms where appropnate.

In additon to the Investment Management role, the Board has delegated to external third parties the depositary and
custodial services (which indlude the safeguarding of assets), the day to day accounting, company secretanal services,
administration and registration services. Each of these contracts was entered into after full and proper consideration of
the quality of the services offered, including the control systems n operation insofar as they relate to the affairs of the
Company. These contracts are reviewed annually by the MEC
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Directors’ remuneration is also reviewed by the MEC on an annual basis. The MEC determines and approves Directors’
fees following proper cansideration, having ragard 1o the level of fees payable to non-executive Directors in the industry
generally, the role that indwdual directors fulfil In respect of Board and Committee respensibilites and the time committed
to the Company'’s affairs. For further details please see the Directors” Remuneration Report on pages 48 to 49.

The MEC meets at least on an annuat basis, towards the end of the financial year and last met in March 2017,

Composition of the Committee

The MEC comprses all Directors of the Company and 1s chaired by Mr Seaborn.

Activity during the year
At the MEC meeting in March 2017, the Comrmuttee reviewed the overall perfarmance of the AIFM and Portfelio Manager

and considered both the appropriateness of the Manager's appointment and the contractual amangements (including the
structure and level of remuneration) with the Manager.

in addition to the reviews by the MEC, the Board reviewed and considered perfermance reports from the Portfolio
Manager at each Board meeting. The Board also receved regular reports from the Administrator and Company Secretary

The Board believe that the Manager's track record and performance remains outstanding. As & resuft, the MEC confirmed
that the AIFM and Portfolio Manager should be retained for the financial year ending 31 March 2018, A summary of the
signfficant terms of the investment Management Agreement and the third party service providers who support the Trust
are set cut below.

During the year the MEC also reviewed the performance of ali their third party service providers including BNP Paribas,
Capita Company Secretanal Services, Computershare, both the Company's brokers and PwC (as tax adwisors). The
Portfolio Manager provides regular updates on the performance of all thud party providers dunng the year and attended
this part of the MEC Meeting The MEC confirmed that they were satisfied with the Jevel of services delivered by each
third party provider

Management Arrangements and Fees

On 17 July 2014, the Board appointed F&C Investment Business Limited as the Alternative Investment Fund Manager
(in accordance with the Alternative Investment Fund Managers Directive) with portfolio management delegated to the
Investrnent Manager, Thames River Capital LLP.

The significant terms of the Invesiment Management Agreement with the Manager are as follows
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Report of the Management Engagement Committee

continued

Notice Period

The tnvestment Management Agreement (“IMAT) provides for termination of the agreement by either party without
compensation on the provision of not less than 12 months’ wniten notice

Management Fees

The fee for the period under review was a fixed fee of £3,105,000 plus an ad valorern fee of 0.20% pa based on the
net asset value (determined in accordance with the AIC method of valuation) on the last day of March, June, September
and Decernber, payable quartedy 1 advance

The fee arrangements have been reviewed by the Board for the year to 31 March 2018. For this period the fixed element
of the Management Fee will be £3,195,000.

The fee arrangements will continue to be reviewed on an annual basis.

Performance Fees

In addition to the management fees, the Board has agreed to pay the Manager performance related fees in respect of
an accounting period if certain performance objectives are achieved

A performance fee is payable If the total return of adjusted net assets (after deduction of all Base Management Fees and
other expenses), as defined in the IMA, at 31 March each year outperforms the total return of the Company's benchmark
plus 1% (the "hurdle rate”); this outperformance (expressed as a percentage) 15 known as the "percentage
outperformance” Any fee payable will be the amount equivalent to the adpsted net assets at 31 March each year
multiphed by the percentage outperformance, then muliphed by 15%. The maximum performance fee payable for a
penod is capped at 1.5%0 of the adjusted net assets However, If the adjusted net assets at the end of any penod are less
than at the beginning of the penod, the maximum performance fee payable will be imited to 1% of the adjusted net
assets.

if the: total return of shareholders’ funds for any performance peniod s less than the benchmark for the relevant
performance period, such underperformance (expressed as a percentage) will be carried forward to future
performance pernads.

If any fee exceeds the cap, such excess performance (expressed as a percentage) will be camed forward and applied to
offset any percentage underperformance in future performance penods.

In the event that the benchmark 1s exceeded but the hurdle 15 not, that ouiperfermance of the benchmark can be used to
offset past or future underperformance. These amounts can be used for oftset purposes only and therefore cannot have
the effect of creating a fee in a year where a fee would not otherwise be payable or increasing the fee m that year At

31 March 2017 there s a carry torward of outperformance of 1.8% (2016: 1.8%).

No fee will be payable unless the adjusted net assets outperform the hurdie rate, after taking into account any
accumulated percentage underperformance brought farward at the beginming of the financial year.

Performanice fees earned in the year ended 31 March 2017 were £1,148,000 (2016: £3,354,000).

Total fees paid to the Manager i any one year (Management and Performance Fees) may not exceed 4.99% of Group
Equity Shareholders’ Funds. Total fees payable for the year to 31 March 2017 amount to 0.6% (2016 0.8%) of Group
Equity Shareholders Funds,

46 (R Bty e T T



Report of the Management Engagement Committee

continued

Depository Arrangements and Fees

BNP Paribas was appointed as Depository on 14 July 2014 11 accordance with the Alternative Investment Fund Managers
Directwe. The Depository's respensibilities include: cash monitoring; segregation and safe keeping of the Company's
finanaial nstruments; and monttoning the Company’s compliance with investment and leverage requirements. The
Depository receives for its services a fee of 2.0 basis points per annum on the first GBP 150m of the Company’s assets,
1.4 basis points per annum on assets above GBP 150m and below GBP 500m and 0.75 basis points on assets above
GBP 500m

Review of Third Party Provider’s Fees

Custody and Admimistration Services are provided by BNP Paribas and Company Secretanal Services by Capita
Company Secretaria! Senvices. The fees for these senvices are charged directly to the Coempany and separately
disclosed 1n the accounts.

In previous financial periods the management fee included the fund accounting and admimisirative services, safe custody
and company secretanal services provided by third parties The Company had a direct contractual relationship with the
parties providing these services and the fees incurred were deducted fram the gross fees due to the Manager. For the
year to 31 March 2017 and going forward the fees incurred for the third party services descrbed above have been paid
directly by the Company and the fund management fee does not include these fees

Hugh Seaborn
Charrman of the Managerment Engagement and Remuneration Comimilitee
8 june 2017
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COVERNANCE

Directors’ Remuneration Report

introduction

The Board has prepared this repert and the Directors Remuneration Policy, in accordance with the requirements of
Schedule 8 of the Large and Medium Sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2013, Ordinary
resolutions for the approval of this report and the remuneration policy will be put to the members at the forthcoming
Annual General Meeting,

The law requires the Company's Auditors, KPMG LLP, to audit certain of the disclosures provided Where disclosures have
been audited, they are indicated as such The Auditors’ opinion 1s included in the ‘Independent Auditors’ Report’

Annual Statement from the Chairman of the Committee

The Management Engagement Commitiee ("MEC") comprises all the Dyrectors of the Company. The Chairman of the
Committee 15 Hugh Seaborm As the Company has no executive Directors, the MEC meets, at least annually, to review the
remuneration and terms of appoimment of the Investment Manager, and the level of the Director's fees, in accordance
with the UK Corporate Governance Caode,

The MEC met in March 2017 and considered the feedback receved as part of the Board evaluation alengside other
factors Non-executive fees of iisted compantes continue to nse, and the regulatory burden continues ever upwards
Following the MEC meeting in March 2017, it was agreed that Non-executive Director's tees would be increased from
£32,000 to £33,000 with effect from 1 April 2017. It was alsc agreed that those Directors holding the role of Audit
Chairman and Senior Independent Director would continue to receve an additional £5,000 to reflect their responsibility
It was further agread that the Charrman's fee would remain at £70,000 per annum.

Directors’ Remuneration Policy

The Company's policy s that the fees payable to the Directers should reflect the tme spent by the Board on the
Company's affairs and the responsibilites bome by the Directors and should be sutficient to enable candidates of high
calibre to be recruited. The policy is for the Chawrman of the Board, the Chairman of the Audit Committee and the Senior
independent Director fo be paid higher fees than the other Directors in recognition of their more onerous roles This pelcy
was approved by the members at the 2014 AGM, and the Directors’ intention 1s that this will continue for the year ending
31 March 2018. In accordanice with the regulations, an ardinary resolution to approve the Directors’ remuneration policy
will be put to Shareholders at the upcoming AGM on 25 July, as required every three years.

The Drrectors are remunerated in the form of fees, payable monthly in arrears, to the Director personally or o a third
party specfied by that Director There are no long-term incentive schemes, share option schemes or pension
arrangements and the fees are not specifically related 1o the Directors’ performance, either individually or collectively

The Board consists entirely of Non-executive Directors, who are appointed with the expectation that they will serve for

a pennd of three years Dweciors’ appointments are reviewed formally every three years thereafter by the Board as a
whole None of the Directors have a contract of service and a direcior may resign by notice in writmg to the Board at
any time; there are no notice periods. The terms of thewr appointment are detailed n a letter to them when they jon

the Board. As the Directors do not have semvice contracts, the Company does not have a policy on termination payments

Thete is no notice period and no payments for loss of office were made dunng the penod. The Company's Articles of
Association currently hmit the total aggregate fees payable to the Board to £300,0C0 per annum.

Sharehclders' views in respect of Directors' remuneration are communicated at the Company's AGM and are taken into
account in formulating the Directors remuneration policy. At the last AGM, over 98 7% of Shareholders voted for the
resolution approving the Directors’ Remuneration Report (1.3% against). At the 2014 AGM over 97% voted for the
resolution approving the Directors’ Rermuneration Policy (2% against), showing signihicant shareholder support.
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Directors’ Remuneration Report

continued

Annual Remuneration Report

For the year ended 31 March 2017, Directors’ fees were pard at the annual rates of Charman' £70,000 (2016: £70,000)
and all other directors: £32,000 {2016° £30,000). An additional £5,0C0 s paid per annum for the role of Audit
Committee Chairman and Senior Independent Director. The actual armounts paid to the Directors dunng the financial

year under review are as shown below. o
Q
s . ;i =
Amount of each Director's emoluments (audited) 2
The fees payable in respect of each of the Directors who served dunng the financial year were as follows =
31 March 2017 31 March 2016 Q
£ £
Hugh Seaborn 59,412 35,000
John Glen 32,000 30,000
Simon Marrison 32,000 30,000 |
Suzie Procter 12,000 30,000
David Watson 40,315 35,000 |
Carcline Burton (retired 26 July 2016) 22,346 70,000 |
T - /

Company Performance

The graph below compares, for the eight years ended 31 March 2017, the percentage change over each penod in the
share price total return to shareholders compared to the share price total retumn of benchmark, which the Board
considers to be the most appropnate benchmark for investrent performance measurement purposes An explanation of
the performance of the Company 15 given in the Chairman's Statement and Manager's Report,

Directors’ Interests In Shares (aud|ted) Performance Graph -~ Share Price Total Return
for Ordinary Share Class

The interests of the Directors in the shares of the P -
Company, at the beginning and at the end of the year, or [ 2000
date of appointment, if later, were as follows:

P 5,500 /\A'/\/\/\ m_/\/\/

31 March 33} Ma-ch
2057 2016 3,000 A [\N’

Ordinary Crdinary ,vaf\/N
shares of shares of I
25p 25p - M
C M Burten N/A 21,982 2008 W
J Glen 3.383 3,383 e £

1,A0%) L v ¥ i
S Marnson 25,338 25,000 /_J 1
[Nyl i
S E Procter 16'66! 3"364 Mar Mar tar Mar Mar fdar Mar Mar htar ‘
H Seaborn 34,668 34,668 20U 2010 2un MY 218 1 200 A6 RO }
D Watson 9770 9475 ——— Share Price Tatal Return assunmung investment of £1,000 on
¥ ’

31 March 2009 and remvestment of all dwidends (excluding
dealing expenses) {Souwce Thames Rwer Capital)

Since 31 March 2017 (o the date of this report, there have —— Benchinark Total Return assuming notonal investment mto the
been no subsequent changes ta the Directors’ interests 1 index of £1,000 en 31 March 2009 {Source Thames Rver Caprtal)
the shares of the Company

For and on behalf of the Board

Relative Importance of Spend on Pay .
Percentige (J//\ P
mm7 2016 naegse Hugh Seaborn /‘\ N _,-//J‘/ -

£000 L0000 “in
Chairman of the Management Engagement Commitiee
Dividends paid 29,521 25,083 17.7 g June 2017

Directors Fees 218 230 -56
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Report of the Audit Committee

Role of the Committee

The Committee meets at least twice a year to review the nternal finandal and non-fimancial controls and to review
reports thereon from the key third party service providers, to consider and recommend to the Board for approval the
contents of the draft Intenm and Annual Reports to shareholders, and to review the accounting policies and significant
financial reporting judgements, and, together with the Manager, reviews the Company’s compliance with financial
reporting and regulatory requirements.

Representatives of the Manager's internal audit and complance departments may attend these committee meetings at
the Committee Chairman'’s request.

Representatives of the Company's Audrtor attend the Commuttee meetings at which the draft Interim and Annual Report
and Accounts are reviewed, and are given the opportunity to speak to the Committee members without the presence of
the representatives of the Manager

Composition of the Committee

The Audit Commitiee (“the Commuttee™) comprises all the members of the Board. It has been the Company's policy, to
include all Directors on all committees, This encourages unity, clear communication and prevents duplication of
discussion between the Board and the Committee The Commuttee Charman is Mr Watson The Board has satishied itself
that at least one Cormmittee member has recent and relevant financial expenence.

The Committee has wnitten terms of reference, which clearly define its responsibilities and duties. These can be found on

the Company's website, are available on request and will also be available for inspection at the AGM

Activity during the year

During the year the Committee met twice with all members at each meeting and considered the foliowing;
® The Group's Intemal Controls and consideration of the Reports thereon and Risk Map
& The Audit Planning Memorandum setting out the scope of the annual audit and key areas of focus

¢ The reports from the auditors concerming their audit of the Financial Statements of the Company and Constderation of
Significant issues in relation to the Financial Staternents

e The appropriateness of, and any changes to, the accounting policies of the Company, including the reasonableness of
any judgerments required by such policies

® The Viability Statement and consideration of the preparation of the Financial Statements on a Going Concern Basis
® The finanaal disclosures in the Financal Statements

® The information presented in the Intenm and Annual Reports to ensure that, taken as a whole, the Reports are farr,
batanced and understandable and the nfermation presented enables the shareholders to assess the Company's
performance, business model and strategy

@ The performance of the external auditors, audit fees and assessment of Independence
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Report of the Audit Committee

continued

Internal controls and management of risk

The Board has overall responsibility for the Group's systern of Internal Controls and for reviewing their effectiveness.
Key risks 1dentified by the Auditors are considerad by the Audit Committee to ensure that robust internal controls and
monitoring procedures in respect of these are m place on an ongoing basis. Further details can be found on pages 28
o 30.

The Audit Committee receved and considered reports on Internal Controls from the key senvice providers. No areas of
concern were highlighted.

The Company's Risk Map was considered to identify any new nsks and whether any adjustments were required 1o
existing risks, and the controls and mitigation measures in place in respact cof these nisks.

Significant Issues in relation to the Financial Statements

The Committee has considered this report and financial statements and the Viability Statement on page 31.

The Committee considered the Auditor's assessment of nisk of matenal misstatement and reviewed the nternal contrals in
place in respect of the key areas identified and the process by which the Board monitors ach of the procedures to give
the Committee comfort on these nsks on an ongoing basis These nsks are also highlighted 1n the Company's Risk Map.

e Valuation of the Group‘s Quoted investments — The Group's investments are priced for the daily NAV by BNP
Paribas. The quoted assets are priced by the Administrater's Global Pricing Platform which uses independent external
pricing sources. The contro! process surrounding this is set out n the BNP Panbas AAF 01/06 Internal Controls Report
and testing by the reporting accountant for the penod reported to 31 December 2016 did not reveal any significant
exceptiens. The quarterly control report te the Board from BNP Panbas covering the period up to 31 March 2017 had
no 1ssues 1o report. in addition the Manager estmates the NAV using an afternative pricing source on a daily basis as
an independent check.

e Valuation of the Group's Direct Property Investments — The physical property portfoho 1s valued every
six months by professional independent valuers

Knight Frank LLP value the portfolic on the basis of Fair Value in accordance with the RICS Valuation — Professional
Standards VPS4 (1 5) Far Value and VPGA 1 Valuations for Inclusion in Financial Statements, which apply the
definttion of Fair Value adopted by the International Financial Reperting Standards. IFRS 13 defines Farr Value as:

"The amount for which an asset could be exchanged, a fiability settled, or an equity instrument granted could be
exchanged, between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction”.

(n undertaking their valuation of each property, Knight Frank have made their assessment on the basis of a collation
and analysis of approprate comparable investments, rental and sale transactions, together with evidence of demand
within the vicinity of each property This information has then been applied to the properties, taking inte account size,
location, terms, covenant and other material factors.

There has been nothing brought to the Committee’s attention in respect of the financial statements for the pencd ended
31 March 2017, which was material or significant or that the Commitiee felt should be brought to shareholders’ attention.

® Existence, ownership and completeness of investments portfolio — The Custodian, BNP Paribas, 1s
responsible for the custody of the Company’s investments Lists of investments held are reconciled to the Company's
records on a regular basis and a report on controls, which s audited by BNP Panbas’ independent reporting
accountants, s produced annually for consideration by the Manager and the Audit Commuttee, |n addition, the
quarterly control report from BNP Paribas to the Board covers any custody 1ssues. The Depositary’s responsibiiities
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Report of the Audit Committee

continued

include the segregation and safekeeping of the Companty's assets. The Depositary reports quarterly to the AlFi and
these reports are made available to the Board. The Depositary presents to the board at least once a year, The
Deposttary conducts safekeeping reviews as part of its monitoring and oversight responsibilines

Auditor assessment and independence

The Company's external auditor 1s KPMG LLP. In March 2016, the Company conducted a full audit tender process as the
previous auditors, Emst and Young, being i office for in excess of 20 years would have been required to retre under the
new legislation following the 2019 audit Four firms were invited to tender. Each firm was chosen as they offered
extensive Investment Trust experience alongside the necessary property, accounting, tax and financial reporting and
governance expertise Each firm's credentals were assessed against a standard set of cntena. The result of the tender was
that, on the recornmendation of the Committee, the Board selected KPMG LLP and this appointment was approved by
shareholders at the 2016 AGM.

The Committee expedts to repeat a tender process in 2026 in respect of the audit for the year ended 31 March 2027, in
line with the latest Corporate Governance provisiens and FU Requirernents

KPMG presented their Audit Plan for the year end at the ntenm Committee meeting and the Committee considered the
audit process and fee proposal. The Committee also reviewed KPMG's independence policies and procedures including
quality assurance procedures, it was considered that these policies are fit for purpose and the Board 1s satisfied that
KPMG are independent

Total fees payable to the Auditor for the year to 31 March 2017 were' £72,000, (2016: £97,000).

The Committee has approved and implemented a policy on the engagement of the Auditor to supply nen-audit sernices,
taking nto account the recommendations of the Accounting Practices Board with a view to ensuring that the external
Auditor does not provide non-audit services that have the potential to impair or appear to 1mpair the independence of
thewr audit role. The Committee does not believe there to be any impediment to the Auditor's objectivity and
independence

The fees for non-audit senaces for the year to 31 March 2017 were nii (2016: £5,000).
Full details of the Auditors’ fees are prowded in note 6 to the accounts on page 68,

Following each audit, the Commuttee reviews the audit process and considers its effectiveness and the quality of the
services provided to the Company. The review following the completion of the 2017 Audit concluded that the Commitiee
was satisfied with the Auditors effectiveness and performance. The Committee felt the intial audit under KPMG had run
well with a smaoth transition from EY and an effective and efficient audit process. The Committee was extremely satisfiad
with the auditors’ performance and a resoluton to re-appoint KPMG LLP as the Company's Auditor will be put to
shareholders at the forthcoming AGM.

David Watson
Charrman of the Audt Committee
8 June 2017
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Statement of directors’ responsibilities in relation to
the Group financial statements

The directors are responsible for prepanng the Report and Accounts in accordance with applicable United Kingdom
law and International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union.

Under Company Law the directors must not approve the Group and Company financial statements unless they are
satisfied that they present a true and fair view of the state of affairs and of proftt or loss of the Group and Cornpary
for that period.

In preparing the Group and Company financial statements the directors are required to:
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® select suitable accounting policies in accordance with 1AS 8: Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and
Errars and then apply them consistently;

e present infermation, including accounting policies, in a manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparable and
understandable information;

® provide addiional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements 1 1IFRS is insufficient to enable
users to understand the impact of particular transactions, other events and conditions on the Group and Company's
financial positien and financial performance,

® state that the Group and Company has complied with IFRS, subject to any matenal departures disclosed and
explained in the finanaial statements, and

e make judgements and esitimates that are reasonable and prudent

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the Group
and Company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any sime the finanaal position of the Group and
Company and enable them to ensure that the Group and Company financial statements comply with the Companies
Act 2006 and Arficle 4 of the I1AS Regulation. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Group and
Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregulanties.

Responsibility statement
Each of the directors listed on page 33 confirm that to the best of their knowledge:

& the financial statements, prepared 1n accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union, give a true and farr
view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit of the Group and Company and the undertakings included in
the consolidation taken as a whole, and;

¢ the Annual Report, includes a fair review of the development and performance of the business and the position of the
Trust, together with a description of the principal isks and uncertainties that it faces; and

e the accounting records have been properly maintained, and

¢ the Annual Report, taken as a whole, 15 {ar, balanced and understandable and provides the necessary information
for shareholders to assess the company's positian and performance, busmess model and sirategy

By order of the Board

Hugh Seaborn

Chamrman m,\\ﬁ@ffk -
8 June 2017 ‘ A .. ,/4//
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KPMG

Independent

auditors’
report

to the members of TR Property investment

Trust plc only

Opinions and conclusions

arising from our audit

1. Our opinion on the financial statements is
unmodified

We have audited the financial statements of
TR Property Investment Tiust plc for the year
ended 31 March 2017 set out on pages 58
to 87. In our opinion

— the financial statements give a true and fair
view of the state of the Group's and of the
parent company's affairs as at 31 March
2017 and of the Group's profit for the year
then ended,

— the Group financial statements have been
properly prepared n accordance with
Internatienal Financial Reporting Standards
as adopied by the Europesan Union {IFRSs
as adopted by the EU),

— The parent company financial statements
have been properly prepared 1n accordance
with IFRSs as adepted by the EU and as
appled in accordance with the provisions of
the Companies Act 2006, and

— the financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with the
requirements of the Companies Act 2006;
and, as regards the Group financial
staternents, Article 4 of the |1AS Regulation.

TR ey wesnr erl res

Materiality Group £11.9m
financial

statements as a 1% of Total Assets
whole

Risks of material misstatement

Recurring risks Valuation of direct
property investrenlts

Carrying amount of

quoted investrments




2. Our assessment of risks of material misstatement

In arriving at our audit opimon above on the financial statements, the nisks of matenal misstatement that had the greatest

effect on our audit, in decreasing order of audit significance. were as follows

The risk Gur response

Completeness, existence and Subjective vatuation

valuation of investment properties g5 o the Group's total assets iy
{f97.3m, 2016 £97.8m) value) 1s held In property mvestments
Refer to pages 50 to 52 (Audit where no queted market price 1S
Committee Report), page 63 avallable

faccounting pohcyl) and page 71 Each property is uniqug and the fair
ffinancial disclosures), value reguires significant jJudgement

and estimation, in particular over the
key assumptions of the estimated
rental value and the yield. The key
assurmptions will be impacted by a
number of factors including lacation,
guality and conditien of the building
and tenant credit rating.

Whilst comparable market transactions
provide good valuation evidence, the
unique nature of each property means
that a key factor in the property
valuations are assumptions with
significant judgements and the
methodology applied, on which we
tocused our audit

kPmc

Our procedures included
— Assessing valuer's credentials e

assessed the valuer's objectivity,
professional qualifications and
rasources through discussions with
the valuer and reading their valuation
report,

Methodology choice: We held
discussicns with the Group’s
external property valuer to
determine tne valuation
methodology used. We included
our own property valuation
specialist to assist us in critically
assessing the results of the
valuer’s report by checking that the
valuations were in accordance with
the RICS Valuation Professional
Standards ‘the Red Book” and IFRS
and that the methodology adopted
was appropriate by reference to
acceptable valuation practice ,

Benchmarking assumptions
WWith the assistance of our own
property valuation specialist, we
held discussions with the Group's
external property valuer to
understand moverments in property
values, For a sample of properes,
we challenged the key
assumptions upon which these
valuations were based including
those relating to forecast rents,
yields, vacant periods and
irrecoverable expenditure by
making a comparnson to our own
undarstanding of the market and to
industry benchmarks ,

Test of detail: \We compared a
sample of key inputs used In the
valuations, such as rental income
and cccupancy to the Group's
property management system and
leasa contracts.

Disclosure assessment We
considered the adequacy of the
Group's disclosures about the
degree of estimation and
sensitivity to key assumptons
made when valuing investment
properbes

ot oethe b smenl gl R



The risk Our response

Carrying amount of quoted Low risk, high value Cur procedures Included
investments The Group's portfolio of quoted — Control design Docurnenting and
(£1,047.5m, 2016 £1,000.8m) nvestments makes up 88% of the assessing the processes in place
Refer to pages 50 to 52 (Audit Group's total assets lby value) and is to record investment transactions
considered to be one of the key and to vaiue the portfolo,

Comnuttee Report), page 63
faccounting policy) and page 71
{financial disclosures)

drivers of resuits We do not consider
these investments to be at a high nsk
of significant misstatement, or to be
subject 1o a significant level of
Judgement because they comphise
hguid, quoted Investrments However,
due to therr maternality in the context
of the financial statements as a wholg,
they are considered {0 be one of the
areas which had the greatest effect on

— Tests of detail’ Agreeing the
valuation of 100 per cent of
Investments in the portfolio te
externally quoted prices, and

— Enquiry of custodians Agreeing
100 per cent of investrment
holdings in the partfolio to
independently received third party
confirmations from investment

cur overall audit strategy and aliocation custodians.
of resources in planning and
completing our audit
3. Our application of materiality and an
overview of the scope of our audit
Materiality for the group financial statements Materiality
as a whole was set at £11 9m, determined £118m

with reference to a benchmark of total assets,

of which, it represents 1%. £11.9m

Whole financial
In addition, we apphed matenality of £2 0m statements matenslity
(2016 £1 5m) to income from Investments
and rental income, for which we beleve
misstatements of lesser amounts than
matenality far the financial statements as a
whole could reasonably be expected to
influence the company’s members’
assessment of the financial performance of
the Group.

£10.7m

Performance materahty

"Total Assets £0.6
We reported to the Audit Committee any ®Matenality M.c;::t:;wems reported to the
uncorrected identified rmisstatements audit comimittee
exceeding £595,000 {2016 £530,000), in T"E?' 1‘;35“"5
. ™

additron to other identified nusstatements
that warranted reporting on gualitative
grounds

Qur audit of the Group was undertaken to the
matenahty level specified above and was
performed substantially at the administrator’s
office.
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4. Qur opinion on other matters prescribed by the
Companies Act 2006 is unmodified

In our opimien

— the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be
audited has been properly prepared in accordance
with the Companies Act 2008; and

— the information given in the Strategic Report and the
Directors’ Report for the financial year 1s consistent
with the financial statements

Based solely on the work required to be undertaken in
the course of the audit of tne financial statements and
from reading the Strategic Report and the Directors’
Report

— we have not dentified material misstatements in
those reports; and

— 1IN our apinicn, those reports have been prepared In
accordance with the Companies Act 2006,

5. We have nothing to report on the disclosures of
principal risks

Based on the knowledge we acguired during our auaut,
we have nothing maternal to add or draw attention to in
relation to

- the Viability Statement on page 31, concerning the
principal nsks, ther management, and, based on
that, the Directors’ assessment and expectations
of the Company’s continuing in operation over the
five years to 31 March 2022, or

— the disclosures in note 1 of the financial stateiments
concerning the use of the going concern basis of
accounting.

6. We have nothing to report in respect of the
matters on which we are required to report by
exception

— Under 1SAs (UK and lreland} we are required to
report to you if, ased on the knowledge we
acquired during our audit, we have identified other
information in the Annual Report that contans a
matenal \nconsistency with either that knowledge or
the financial statements, a matenal rmisstatement of
fact, or that 1s otherwise nusleading

— In particular, we are required to report to you if:

- we have identified matenal inconsistencies
betweean the knowladge we acguired during our
audit and the Directors’ statement that they
consider that the Annual Report and financial
statements taken as a whole s far, balanced
and understandable and provides the information
necessary for shareholders to assess the
Company’s position and performance, business
model and strategy, or

KPMG

— the Report of the Audit Committee does not
appropriately address matters communicated by
us to the Audit Committee

— Under the Companwes Act 2006 we are required to
report to you if, In cur opinion,

— adequate accounting records have not been
kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not
been recewvad from branches not wisited by us,
ar

— the financial statements and the part of the
Directors’ remuneration report 10 be audited are
not in agreement with the accounting records
and returns, or

— certain disclosures of Directors’ remuneration
specified by law are not made, or

— we have not received all the information and
explanations we reguire for cur audit,

— Under the Listing Rules we are required to review.

— the directors’ statements, set out on pages 36
and 31, in relation to gong concern and
longer-term viability respectively, and

- the part of the Corporate Governance Staternent
on page 39 relating to the company’'s
compliance with the eleven provisions of the
2014 UK Corporate Governance Code specified
for our review.

We have nothing to report in respect of the above
responsibilities

Scope and responsibilities

As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities
Statement set out on page 53, the Directors are
responsible for the preparation of the financial statements
and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view.

A description of the scope of an audit of financial
statements 1s prowvided on the Financial Reporting Council’s
website at www fre.org.uk/auditscopeukprivate. This report
1s made solely to the Company’'s members as a body and 1s
subject 1o 1mportant explanations and disclaimers regarding
our responsibilities, published on our website at

www kpmg com/ukfauditscopeukeco2014a, which are
ingorporated mnto this report as f set out n full and should
be read o provide an understanding of the purpose of this
report, the work we have undertaeken and the basis of our
opINIoNs.

Richard Kelly (Senior Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of KPMG LLP. Statutory Auditor
Chartered Accouniants
15 Canada Squars, Canary Wharf, London, E14 5GL

8 June 2017
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Group Statement of Comprehensive Income

for the year ended 31 March 2017

Year ended 31 March 2017 Yaar ended 31 March 2016
Revenue Capital Revenue Capital

Return Return Total Raturn Retwn Total
Noes £000 £000 £000 £1000 £000 o0

Income
investment iIncome 2 35,574 - 35,574 27358 - 27,358
Other operating incame 4 62 - 62 74 - 74
Gross rental income 3 3,781 - 3,781 3,330 - 3,330
Service charge income ) 1,549 - 1,549 1,023 - 1,023

Gains on investments held at
fair value 10 - 52,693 52,693
Net movemnent on foreign

exchange; nvestments
and [oan notes 10 - (1,130) {1.130) - 1,768 1,768

Net movement on foreign
exchange, cash and cash

{

64,087 64,087

equivalents - 2,450 2,450 - 709 709
Net returns on contracts

for difference 10 4,457 (1,487) 2,970 2,905 (4,166) (1,261)
Total Income 45,423 52,526 97,949 34,690 62,398 97088
Expenses
Management and performance fees 5 {1,314} (5.092) {6,406) (1,229} (7042) (8,271}
Drirect property expenses, rent

payable and service charge costs 3 (2.078) - (2,078) (1,533) - (1,533)
Other administrative expenses 6 {1.213) (546) (1,759) (1,269) (481) {1,750)
Total operating expenses (4,605) (5,638) (10,243) (4,031) (7.523) (11,554)
Operating profit 40,818 46,888 87,706 30,659 54,875 85,534
Finance costs 7 (621) (1.832) (2,463) (894) (2,682) (3,576)
Profit from operations

before tax 40,197 45,096 85,243 29,765 52,193 81,958
Taxation 8 (4,080) 1,822 {2.258) (3,221) 1,720 (1,501
Total comprehensive income 36,117 46,868 82,985 26,544 53913 80,457
Earnings per Ordinary share 9 11.38p 14.76p 26.14p 8.36p 16.98p 25 34p

The Total column of this statement represents the Group's Statement of Comprehensive Income, prepared in accardance
with IFRS. The Revenue Return and Capital Return columns are supplementary to this and are prepared under guidance
published by the Association of Investment Companies All items In the above statement derive from continuing operations.

The Group does not have any other income or expense that 15 not indluded in the above statement therefore "Total
comprehensive income” 1s alse the profit for the year

All income 1s attnbutable o the sharehalders of the parent company There are no minonty interests

The notes on pages 62 to 87 form part of these Financial Statements,
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Group and Company Statement of Changes in Equity

Group
Share Share Capital Retained
Capital Presmium Redempiion Earnings
Ocdinary Account Reserve Ordinary Tatal
For the year ended 31 March 2017 Notes £'000 £800 £000 £000 £000
At 31 March 2016 79,375 43,162 43,934 898,948 1,065,419
Net profit for the year - - - 82,985 82,985
Shares repurchased 14 (37) - 37 (459) (459)
Dividends paid 17 - - - (29,521) (29,521)
At 31 March 2017 79,338 43,162 43,97 951,953 1,118,424
Company
Share Share Capital Retained
Capital Premium Redemption Earnings
Ordinary Account Reserve Ordinary Total
For the year ended 31 March 2017 Netes £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
At 31 March 2016 79,375 43,162 43,934 898,948 1,065,419
Net profit for the year - ~ - 82,985 82,985 .M
Shares repurchased 14 37 - 37 {459) {459) %
Didends paid 17 - - - (29,521)  (29.,521) : g
=
At 31 March 2017 79,338 43,162 43,971 951,953 1,118,424 Y
=
=
m
Group et
Shere Share Capital Retained o
Caprtal Pramwum Radempnion Faraings
Orcinary Account Reserve Crdinary Total
For the year ended 31 March 2016 £000 £000 £'000 £000 £000
At 31 March 2015 79,375 43,1672 43,934 843,574 1,010,045
Net profit for the year - - - 80,457 80,457
Dividends paid 17 - - - (25,083) (25,083)
At 31 March 2016 79,375 43,162 43,934 898,948 1065419
Company
Share Shae Caputal Retained
Caprtal Premium Redemption Earmings
Ordinary Acuounat Reserve Ordinary Toal
For the year ended 31 March 2016 £000 £000 £000 £'000 000
At 31 March 2015 79,375 43,162 43,934 843574 1010045
Net profit for the year - - - 80,457 80,457
Dividends paid 17 - - - {25,083) (25,083)
At 31 March 2016 78375 43162 43,934 898,948 1065419

The notes on pages 62 to 87 form part of these Financial Statements
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Group and Company Balance Sheets

as at 31 March 2017

Group Company Croup Company
207 2017 2016 2016
Notes £000 £000 £000 £'000

Non-current assets
Investments held at fair value 10 1,134,776 1,144,776 1,098,560 1,098,560
investments in subsidianes 10 - 50,531 - 53,052

1,144,716 1,195.307 1,098,560 1,151,612
Deferred taxation asset 12 243 243 243 243

1,145,019 1,195,550 1,058,803 1,151,855

Current assets

Debtors 12 38,809 38,687 28,978 28,579
Cash and cash equivalents 6.445 6,420 22,754 22741
45,254 45,107 51,732 51,320
g Current liabilities 13 (14,081)  (64,465)  (30,473)  (83,113)
% Net current assets/(abilities) 31,173 (19,358) 21,259 (31,783)
(SN
<
‘j Total assets less current liabilities 1,176,192 1,176,192 1,120,062 1,120,062
=T
2
= Non-current habilines 13 (57,768) (57,768) (54,643) (54,643)
b
Net assets 1,118,424 1,118,424 1,065,419 1,065,419

Capital and reserves

Called up share capital 14 79,338 79,338 79,375 79,375
Share premium account 15 43,162 43,162 43,162 43,162
Capital redemption reserve 15 43,971 43,971 43934 43,934
Retained earrungs 16 951,953 951,953 898,948 898,948
Equity sharcholders’ funds 1,118,424 1,118,424 1,065419 1,065419

Net Asset Value per:
Ordinary share 19 352.42p 352.42p 335.56p 335.56p

These Financal Staternents were approved by the directors of TR Praperty Investrent Trust pic (Company No 84492)
and authonsed for issue on 8 June 2017

e WA

The notes on pages 62 to 87 form part of these Financial Statements.
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Group and Company Cash Flow Statements

as at 31 March 2017

Group Company Group Company
2017 2017 2016 3016
£000 £000 £000 £'000
Reconciliation of profit from operations before
tax to net cash inflow from operating activities
Profit from operations before tax 85,243 85,050 81,958 81,958
Finance costs 2,463 3.455 3752 3,140
Gains on mnvestments and denvatives held at
tair value through profst or loss {51,206) (48,671) (59,521) (59,456)
Net movement on foreign exchange; cash and cash
aquwalents and loan notes 669 669 223 223
(Increase}/decrease In accrued income (624) (1,016) 645 646
Net sales of nvestments 4,606 4,606 28,848 28,848
Increase In sales settlement debtor {5.591) (5,591) (415} (415)
(Decrease)/increase 1n purchase settlement creditor (3.2186) (3,216) 523 523
increase in other debtors {1,595) (1,602) (18,631} (18,631)
Decrease in other craditors {1,575) {4,237) (5,634} (21,097) -
Scrip dwidends included in investment income and %
net returns on contracts for difference (1,450) (1,450) (1,223} (1,223) %
Net cash inflow from operating activities ﬁ
before interest and taxation 27724 27.997 30,125 14,516 g
Interest paid (2,437) (3,042) (3,752) (3,140) 2
Taxation paid {4,066) (3,746) (1,383) {1,383) %
Net cash inflow from operating activities 21,221 21,209 24,990 9,993 7
Financing activities
Equity dividends paid (29,521)  (29,521) {25,083) (25,083)
Repayment of jcans {10,000) {10,000} (38,000 (38,000)
Repayment of debenture stock - - (15,000) -
Repurchase of shares {459) (459) - -
Issue of loan notes - - 53,711 53,711
Net cash used in financing actwvities (39,980) {39,980) (24,372) (9,372)
(Decrease)/increase in cash {18,759) {18,7711) 618 621
Cash and cash equivalents at start of year 22,754 22,11 21,427 21411
Net movermnent on foreign exchange; cash and cash equivalents 2,450 2,450 709 709
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 6,445 6,420 22,754 22,741
Note
Dividends received 35,834 35,820 30,199 30,199
Interest receved 43 41 194 194

The notes on pages 62 to 87 form part of these Financial Statements



[V
'_
=
Lt
=
=
=
[Wal
=
[
=
<L
=
.

Notes to the Financial Statements

62

Accounting policies

The financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2017 have been prepared on a going concern basis, In accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), which compnse standards and interpratations approved by the international
Accounting Standards Board (1ASB), together with imterpretations of the International Accounting Standards and Standing
interpretations Commutiee approved by the Intemnational Accounting Standards Committee (IASC) that remmain in effect, to the
extent that they have been adopted by the European Union and as regards the Company financial statements, as apphed in
accordance with the prowisions of the Companies Act 2005 The financial statements have also been prepared in accordance with
the Statement of Recommended Practice (SORP), “Financial Statements of Investment Trust Companies and Venture Capita!
frusts,” to the extent that it 1s cansistent with IFRS

The Group and Company finanaal stalements are expressed n Sterling, which 1s their functional and presemtational currency
Sterling 15 the functional currency because it 1s the currency of the primary econonuc environment in which the Group operates
Values are rounded to the nearest thousand pounds (£'000) except where otherwise mdicated

The preparaton of the financial statements necessarly reguires the exercise of judgement, both i application of accounting
policies, which are set out below, and in the selection of assumptions used in the calculation of estimates These estimates and
judgements are reviewad on an ongeing basis and are continually evajuated based on histunical expenence and other factors
However, actual results may differ from these estimates Such judgements are discussed further in section (f) of this note

a) Basis of consolidation
The Group financial statements consolidate the financial statements of the Company and its subsichanes to 31 March 2017 All
the subsidianes of the Company have been consolidaled in these finanwal slatements

In accordance wath [FRS10 the Company has been designated as an nvestment entity on the basis that
® [t obtains funds from investors and provides those investors vath investment management services;

* It commuts Lo its investors that 1ts busmess purpose 1s to rwest solely for returns Iram capital appreciation and investment
ncome; and

e it measures and evaluates performance ol substantally all of its investiments on a farr value basis

Each of the subsidiaries of the Company was established for the sole purpose of operating or supperting the investiment operations of
the Company (nduding rasing additonal finanang), and 1s not itself an rvestrment entity, IFRS 10 sets out that in the case of controlled
entites that support the mvestment actnaly of the nvestment entity, those entities should be conschdated rather than presented as
nvestments at fair value Accordingly the Company has consolidated the results and financiat positions of those subsidianes

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of they acquisiion, being the date on which the Company obtains control, and
continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases The financid! statements of subsidianies used n the preparation
of the conschdated fimancial statements are based on consistent accounting policies. Alk intra-group balances and transactions,
ncluding unreahsed profits ansing therefrom, are eliminated, This 1s consistent with the presentation in previous years

b} Income

Diidends recevable on equity shares are treated as revenue for the year on an ex-dwidend basis Where no ex-didend date 1s
avalable, dwdends recewable un or belore the yedr end are trealed as revenue for the year Provision ss made for any dmvidends not
expecled 10 be received Where the Group has eledted to receive these divdends in the furm of additiona! shares rather than cash
the amount of cash dwidend Toregone 15 recognised as income Differences between the value of shares recewved and the cash
dvidend foregone are recognised in the capital returns of the Group Statement of Comprehensive Income The fixed retumns on debt
secunlies are recognised on a time apportonment basis so as to refiect the effective yeld on each such secunty. Interest recevable
from cash and short term deposits 15 accrued to the end of the year Stock lending income 1s recognised on an accruals basis
Underwnnng comimussion 1s faken fo revenue, unless any shares undenwrntien ere required to be token up, in which case the
proportionate commission received 15 deducted from the cost of the investrment

<) Expenses
All expenses and finance costs are accounted for on an accruals basis An analysis of retained earings broken down nto revenue and
capital tems is given in note 16, In amving at this breakdown, expenses have been presentod as revenue itemns except as follows

e Expenses which are inadental to the acquisition or disposal of an investment;
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Notes to the Financial Statements

continued

1 Accounting palicies contmued

e Expenses are presented as capital where a connection with the maintenance or enhancement of the value of the investments
can be demaonstrared, this includes rrecoverable VAT incurred on costs relating to the extension of residential leases as
premiums receved for extending or terminating leases are recogmised n the capital account,

® Cne quarter of the base management fee 15 charged to revenue, with three quarters aliccated to capital retum to reflect the
Board's expedations of long term wnvestmant returns All performance fees are charged to capital return,

e The fund administration, depositary, cuslody and company secretanal services are charged directly to the Cornpany and are
included within 'Other administrative expenses’ in note 6. These expenses are charged on the same basis as the base
management fee, onc guarter to income and three quarters to capital

d) Finance costs
The finance cost in respect of capital mstruments other than equity shares 15 calculated so as to give a constant tate of returm on
the outstanding balance One quarter of the finance cost 1s charged to revenue and three quarters to capital return

e) Taxation
Current tax assets and liabilites are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authortties,
based on tax rates and laws that are enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date

Income tax 1s charged or credited directly to cquity 1f it relates to ttems thet are credited o charged to equity Otherwise ncome:
tax 1s recogmised in the Group Statement of Comprehensive Income

The tax effect of diferent nems of expenditure 1s allocated between capital and revenue using the Group's effective rale of tax lor
the year The charge for taxation is based on the proft for the year and takes nito account taxaton deferred because of temporary
differences between the treatment of certan tems for taxation and accounting purposes

In accordance with the recommendations of the SORP, the allocation method used o calculate Lax relief on expenses presented
aganst capital returns in the supplementary infarmation n the Statement of Comprehensive Income 1s the “margnal basis”
Under this basis, if taxable income 1s capable of being offset entirely by expenses presented in the revenue return column of the
Statement of Comprehensive Income, then no tax rehef 15 transferred to the capital column
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Deferred tax is the tax expecied (0 be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and habilties in
the Balance Sheet and the corresponding tex bases used i the computation of taxable profit, and 1s accounted for using the balance
sheet liability method Deferred fax labiities are recogrused for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assels are recogmsed
to the extent that it 1s probable that taxable profiis will be avalsble agamnst which deductible ternporary ditferences can be utiised

The Company is an mnvestrent rust under s 1158 of the Corparation Tax Act 2010 and, as such, 15 not hable for tax on capital
gains, Capital gains ansing in subsidiary companies are subject to capital gains tax

f) Investment property

investment property 1s measured nitally at cost including transaction costs Transaction costs include transfer taxes, professional
fees for legal services and initial leasing commissions to bring the property to the condition necessary for it to be capable of
operating The carmyng amount also ncludes the cost of replacing part of an existing investment property at the time 1hat cost 15
wicurred i the recognition crtena are met The purchase and sale of properties s recognised to be eftected on the date
uncendiional conlracls are exchanged

Subsequent to Innal recognition, investment properly s stated at fawr value Gains or lesses ansing from changes in the far values
are ncluded in the Group Slatement of Comprehensive Income in the year in which they anse

investment property 1s derecognised when it has been disposed of or permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic
benefit s expected from s disposal. Any gans or losses on the retirement or disposal of investment property are recognised in
the Group Statement of Comprehensive Income in the year of reirerment or disposal

Gains or losses on the disposal of Investment property are determined as the difference between net disposai proceeds and the
carrying value of the asset in the previous full period financial statements

Revaluation of investrent properties

The Group arnes 1ts investruent properties at fair value in accordance with [FRS 13, revalued twice a year, wath changes m fair
values breing recogrised i the Group Statement of Comprehensive ncome The Group engaged Kmght Frank LLP as
ndependent valuation specialsts to deterrmine far value as at 31 March 2017

ERITICRN HR S B T 6%
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Notes to the Financial Statements

continued

Accounting policies continved

Valuations of investment properties
Determination of the fair value of investment propertics has been prepared on the basis defined by the RICS Valuation Standards
6th Ediion (The Red Book) as follows:

“The estmated amount for which & property should exchange on the date of valuation between a willing buyer and a willing seller in an
arm's length transaction after proper marketing wherain the parties had each acled knowledgeably, prudently and without compulsion”

The valuation takes into account future cash flow from assets (such as letlings, tenants’ profiles, future revenue streams, capital values
of fxtures and fitings, plant and machinery, any environmental matters and the overall repair and condition of the property) and
discount rates applicable to those assets These assurnptions are based on local market condiions existing at the balance sheet date

In armving at therr estmates of fair values as at 31 March 2017, the valuers have used ther market knowledge and professional
judgement and have not only relied salely on histoncal transactional cormparables Examples of inputs to the valuation can be
seen in the sensitvity analysis disclosed in note 10 (f)

Rental income
Rental income recewable under operating leases is recognised on a straight-ine basis over the term of the lease, except for
contingent rental ncome which 15 recognised when 1t anses.

Incentives for lessees to enter nto lease agreements are spread evenly over the lease tarm, even if the payments are nat made
on such a basis The lease term is the non-cancellable penod of the lzaze wogether with any further term for which the tenant has
the option to continue the lease, where, al the mception of the lease, the directors are reasonably certain that the tenant will
exercise that option Prermiumns received 1o terminate or extend leases are recognised in the capital account of the Group
Statement of Comprehensive Income when they arise

Service charges and expenses recoverable from tenants

Income ansing from expenses recharged to tenants is recognisad in the penod n which the expense can be contractually
recovered Senvce charges and other such receipts are ncluded gross of the related costs in rovenue as the directors consider
that the Group acts as prinaipal m this respect

g) investments
When a purchase or sale 15 made under contract, the terms of which require delivery wathin the nimeframe of the relevant market,
the investments concemed are recogmised or derecognised on the trade date

All the Group's investments are defined under IFRS as nvestments designated as far value through profit or loss but are also
descnbed i these financial statements as investments held at fair valua,

All investments are designated upon initial recognition as held at fair value, and are measured at subsequent reporting dates at
fair value, which, for quoted investments, is deemed to be closing prices for stocks sourced from European stock exchanges ang
for SETS stocks sourced from the L ondon Stock Fxchange SETS 15 the London Stock Exchange electramic trading service covering
most of the market including all the FTSE All Share and the most lquid AIM constituents Unqueted investrments of investments
for which there 1s only an mactive market are held at farr value which is based on valuations made by the directors in accordance
with IPEVCA guidelines and using current market prices, trading conditions and the general economic climate

In its financial statements the Company recogrises s nvestments in subsidianes at adjusted net assct value The subsidiancs
have histoncally been holding vehicles for direct property investrment or financing vehicles. No assets are currently held through
the subsidiary structure and all finanang instruments are directly held by the company

Changes n the {air value are recogrised in the Group Statement of Comprehensive Income On dispusal, reahsed gans and
losses are also recogmised 1 the Group Statement of Comprehensive Income

Derivatives

Derwvatives are held at fair value based on traded prices Gains and losses on denvative transactions are recogrised in the Group
Statement of Comprehensive Income Gains and [osses on CFDs resutting from movements in the price of the underlying stock
are treated as capital Dividends from the underbyng investment and finarnang costs of CFDs are treated as revenue/revenue
expenses

Gamns and losses on forward currency contracts used for capttal hedging purposes are treated as capital
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Notes to the Financial Statements

continued

1 Accounting policies continued

Contracts for Difference (“CFDs") are synthetic equibies and are valued by reference to the investments’ underlying market values.

The sources of the returns under the denvative contract {e.g notional dividends, financing costs, interest retums and capital
changes) are allocated to the revenue and capital accounits in alignment with the nature of the underlying source of income and
in accordance with the guidance given in the AIC SORP Notional diidend income or expenses ansing on long or short positions
are apportioned whally to the revenue account Notional interest expense on long posiions is apportioned between revenue and
caprtal m accordance waith the Board's long term expected returns of the Company (currently determined to be 25% to the
revenue account and 75% (o capilal reserves) Changes in value relating to underlying price movements of secuntes in relation
to CFD exposures are allocaled wholly to capital reserves.

h) Borrowings, loan notes and debentures
All loans and debentures are inimally recognised at cost, being the fair value of the consideration recelved, less issue costs where
applcable After initial recognition, all mterest bearing lodans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost,

Amortised cost s calculated by taking into account any discount or premmium on settlernent The costs of arranging any interest
beanng loans are capitalised and armortised over the life of the loan on an effective interest rate basts

i} Foreign currency transkation
Transactions mvolving foreign currencies are converted at the rate ruling et the date of the transaction

Foreign currency monetary assets and liabilmes are transtated into Sterhng at the rate ruling on the belance sheet dale Foregn
exchange differences are recognised in the Group Statement of Comprehensive tncome.

j) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents compnse cash in hand and dermand deposits

k) Dividends payable to shareholders
Intenm dvidends are recogmised in the penud in which they are paid and tinal dividends are recognised when approved by
shareholders
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I} Adoption of new and revised Standards

Standards and Interpretations effective in the current period
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous conselidated financal statements

Early adoption of standards and interpretations

The standards 1ssued before the reporting date that become effective after 31 March 2017 will not have z matenal effect on
equity or profit for the subsequent perod The Group has not early adopted any new International Financial Reporting Standard
or Interpretation

Standards, amendments and mterpretations ssued but not yet effective up 1o the date of 1ssuance of the Group financial
statements are listed below

IFRS @ — Financial Instruments (2014) replaces 'AS 39 and deals with ¢ package of inprovements including prinaipally a revised
model for classification and measurement of financial instruments, & forward looking expected loss imparment model and a
revised framework for hedge accounting I terms of dassification and measurement the rewised standard 15 prinaples based
depending on the business model and nature of cash flows. Under this approach, mstruments are measured at oither amortised
cost of fair value, though the standard retans the fair value option allowing designation of debt instruments at inimal recognition to
be measured at far value The standard 1s effectve from 1 January 2018 with earlier application permitted  The Group does not
plan to early adopt this standard end expects the eventual impact to be nsignihicant for its current investment porttohio, which s
substantially compnsed of quoted equities

IFRS 15 — Revenue from Contracts wilh Customers (effective 1 Jlanuary 2018} speafies how and when an entity should
recognise revenue and enhances the nature of revenue disclosures, Given the nature of the Croup's revenue streams from
financial instruments, the provistons of this standard are not expected to have a matenal impect,

IFRS 16 - Leases (effocive 1 lanuary 2019) The Group does not expect the finanaal impact of this standard on the finanaial
staterments 1o be matenial The standard requires more extensive disclesures than are currently required
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Notes to the Financial Statements

continued

I Accounting policies continued

Amendments to 1AS 7 — Disclosure Initiative (effective 1 January 2017) The amendments are part of an imtiative to asstst users
of fimancial statements to better understand changes in an entity's debt The amendment 15 not expected to have a matenal
impact ¢n the Group's Statement of Cash Flows

Amendments 16 1AS 12 — Recagrion of deferred tax assets for unrealised losses (effective 1 January 2017) The amendment is
not expected to have a significant effect on the measurement of amounts recognised n the financal staternents of the Group

Amendments to IFRS 2 — Classification and Measurernent of Share based Payment Transactions (effective 1 January 2018)

The amendments relate to speafic arcas of classification and measurement and are ot expected to have @ matenal imipact on
the Group’s financial statements as such transactions are nat undertaken

Transfers of Investment Property (Amendments to 1AS 40) (effective T January 2018) The amendments clanty when an entity
should transler property, incuding property under construction or development into, or out of nvestment property

The amendments are not expected 1o have a matenal i/mpact on the Group's finanaal statements
IFRIC Interpretation 22 Foreign Currency Transaction and Advance Consideration (effective 1 January 2018)

The interpretabon clanhes that in determining the spot exchange rate to use on mtal recagribion of the related asset, expense or
income on the derecogmtion of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary lability relating to advance consideration, the date of the
transaction 1s the date on winch an entity intially recognises the non-monetary asset or non-ronetary hability ansing from the

ke advance consideration
=
03
= .
B 2 Investment iIncome
0 2017 2016
5(-—: £000 £'00U
% Dividends from UK listed investrments 2,660 2,025
% Dindends from overseas histed investments 26,018 18,063
- Scrip dividends from listed investments 935 1,223
Interest from listed investments 21 109
Property income distnbutions 5940 5,038
35,574 27358
3 Net rental income
2017 2016
£000 £000
Gross rental income 3,781 3,330
Service charge income 1,549 1,023
Direct property expenses, rent payable and seraice charge costs (2,078) (1,533)
3,252 2,820
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Notes to the Financial Statements

continued

Operating leases

The Group hds entered mito comimeraal leases on sts property portfolio Commercial property leases typically have lease terms
between 5 and 15 years and include dlauses to enable penodic upward revision of the rental charge according to prevaling
rmarket condrtions, Some leases contain options to break before the end of the lease term

Future minimum rentals under nan cancellable operating leases as at 31 March are as follows

2017 2016
E'000 £000
Within 1 year 3,850 100
After 1 year but ngt more than 5 years 12,000 9,700
More than 5 years 15,500 14,900
31,350 27700

4 Other operating income
2017 2016
£'000 £000
Interest recevable 7 24
Stock lending income - 50
Linderwriting commissian 55 -
62 74

Stock lending 1s the temporary transter of secuniies by a lender to a borrower, with an agreement by the borrower (o return
equivalent secunties 1o the lender at an agreed date. Fee income 15 received for making the investments available to the
borrower The principal nsks and rewards of secunties ownership, namely the market movements in share prices and associated
dwrdend income are retamed by the lender Dunng the penod n which the secunties are on loan the fender is restncted from
trading in the secunnes on loan In all cases the secunties fent continue to be recognised on the balance sheet.
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All securities lent under these arrangements are fully secured aganst collateral. At 31 March 2017, there were no secunties on loan

The maximuim aggregate value of secunties on foan dunng the year was £nil (2016 £74,809,000)

LUnderwniting 1s part of the process of Introducng new securties to the market The Company may participate in the underwriting
of Investee companies’ securties, as one of a number of participants, for which compensation in the form of commission 1s
received, The Cormpany only parbaipates in undenwnting having assessed the nsks invelved and in secunties in which it1s
prepared to INcrease 1ts holding should that be the outcome The cominission earned s taken to revenue unless any securties
undenwritten are required to be taken up in which case the proportionate commussion 1s deducted from the cost of the
investrent Duning the year the Company parbapated in one {2016 nd) underwrting and all commission eared was taken to
revenue

5 Management and performance fees

2017 2017 2017 2016 2015 2016
Revenue Capital Total Ravenue Capital Total

Return Return Return Return
£000 E000 £000 £'000 000 F'O00
Management fec 1,314 3,944 5,258 1,229 3,688 4,917
Perlormance fee - 1,128 1,148 - 3,554 3,354
1,314 5,092 6,406 1,229 7,047 8,271

A summary of the torms of the management agreement 1s given on pages 45 to 4/
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Notes to the Financial Statements

continued

6  Other administrative expenses

2017 2016
£000 £:000
Directors’ {ees {Directors’ Remuneration Report an pages 48 to 49} 218 230
Auditors’ remuneration:
— for audit of the conschdated and parent company financil statements 72 75
- for audit of the financial statements of subsidianes pursuant to legislation - 17
— for other assurance senaces (ntenm accounts and Trustee letters) - 5
Legal fees 2 16
Taxation fees 17 65
Other administrative expenses 177 161
Other expenses 444 531
Irrecoverable VAT 183 169
Expenses charged to Revenue 1.213 1,269
Expenses charged to Capnal 546 481
1,759 1,750
. Other administrative expenses Include depositary, custedy and company secratanal senaces These expenses aie charged on the
*‘Z‘“ same basis as the base management fee; one quarter to income and three quarters to capital
L
UEJ VAT on costs incurred in connection with the extension of the residential leases on The Colonnades are charged to he capital
= account
=
(]
I
] 7 Finance costs
e
< 2017 2016
= £000 £'000
Ll
Bank loans and overdratts repayable within 1 year 1,094 1,793
Debentures repaid m February 2016 - 1,601
Loan notes repayable after 5 years 1,362 182
HMRC interest 7 -
2,463 3,576
Amount allocated to capitaf retum (1,842) (2,682)
621 8494
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Notes to the Financial Statements

continued
8  Taxation
a) Analysis of charge in the year
2017 2017 2017 2016 2016 2016
Revenue Capital Total Revermwe Capital Total
Return Return Return Return
£000 £000 £000 £'000 £000 £'000
UK corporation tax at 20% (2016 20%) 2,180 (2.180) - 1,799 {1,702) g7
Owverseas taxation 2,060 - 2,060 1,359 - 1,399
4,240  (2.180) 2,060 3198  (1,702) 1,496
(Over)/under prowsion n respect of prior years (160} 358 198 29 (18) 11
Current tax charge for the year 4,080 (1,822) 2,258 3,237 (1,720) 1,507
Deferred taxation - - - (6) - (&)

4,080  (1,822) 2,258 3221 (17200 1,501

b) Factors affecting total tax charge for the year
The tax assessed Tor the year 1s lower than the standard rate of corporate tax in the UK tor a large company of 20 26 (2016 200)
The ditference 15 explained below

2017 2017 2017 2018 2010 2016
Revenue Capital Totai Rovenue Capid’ Total
Retuen Return Retlurn Return
£000 £'000 £00C oo £000 £000
Net profit on ordinary actvities belore taxation 40,197 45,046 85,243 29,765 52,193 81,958
Corporation lax charge at 209 (2016 2006) 8,039 9,009 17048 5,853 10,439 16,392
Effects of
Non taxable gans on mvestments - (10,539) (10,539) - {12,817 (12811
Currency movements not taxable - {264) {264) - (496) (196
Tax relef on expenses (charged)/credited to caprtal - (683) (683) - 339 339
Non taxable income - 297 297 - B33 833
Non-taxable UK didends (719) - (719) (650) - (6550}
Non-taxable averseas dividends (5,208) - (5.208) (3,659) - (3,659}
Cverseas withholding taxes 2,060 - 2,060 1,399 - 1,399
(Over)/under provision i respect of prior years {160) 358 198 29 (18) 11
Losses utlised nut charged for - - - (66) - (66)
Disaliowable expenses 23 - 23 12 - 37
Deferred tax not provided 44 - 44 93 - 93
Rate change on delerred tax 1 - 1 (6) - (6)
Tax expenses charged (o revenue account - - - 96 - 96

4080 {1,822) 2258 3221  {1720) 1501

The Group has not recognised doferred tax asscts of £1,096,000 (2016 £1,714,000) ansing as a result of losses camed forward
These losses do not have an expiry date, however, 1t 1s considered too uncertain that the Group will senerate profits in the
relevant comparies that the lesses would be available to offset against and, on this basis, the deferred tax asset in respect of
ihese expenses has not been recognised

Due to the Company's slalus as an investment Trust, and the intention Lo continue meeting the condimons regured Lo oblan
approval for the loreseechle future, the Company has not provided deferred tax on any capital gams ansing on the revalustion or
disposal of Invesiments 1n respect of properties held in subsicdianies, provision for capital gains tax has been made for revaluation
surpluses not shellered by broughlt torward capital losses or non trade debits
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Notes to the Financial Statements

continued

8 Taxation continued

<) Provision for deferred taxation
The amounts for deferred taxation provided at 19% {2016 19%) comprsc’

2007 2017 2017 2018 2015 2018
Revenue Capital Total Ravenue Caprial Towl
Return Return Return Return
Group £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £'o00
Accelerated capital allowances 107 - 107 107 - 107
Unutilised losses carmed forward - (350) {350) - (350} (350)
Shown as
Deferred tax habilty/(asset} 107 {350) (2a3) 107 (350) (243)
2017 2017 2017 2008 2016 2008
Revenue Capital Total Revenue Caprtal Tatal
Retuen Return Returi Return
Company £000 £000 £000 £'000 £/000 E'000
Accelerated capital allowances 107 -~ 107 107 - 107
v Unutiised losses carried forward - (350) {350) - (350} (350)
P=d
=
= Shown as,
é Deferred tax habibty/(asset) 107 (350) (243) 107 (350} (243)
“g’l The movement in provision in the year 1s as follows
L
=
<Z( 2017 2017 2017 2015 2016 2016
o Revenue Capital Total Revenye Capital Total
Return Return Return Return
Group £000 £600 £000 £000 £000 £000
Provision at the start of the year 107 {350) (24%) 13 (350 (237)
Accelerated capital allowances - - - (6) - (&)
Prowsion at the end of the year 107 (350) (243) 107 (350 (243)
2017 1017 2017 2016 2016 2016
Revenue Capital Total Ravenue Capital Totai
Return Return Retwn Return
Company £000 £000 £000 000 L0000 £'000
Pravision at the start of the year 107 {350} {243} 113 {350) (237}
Accelerated capral allowances - - - (/) - (6)
Prowsion at the end of the year 107 (350) {2a3) 107 (350) (243)
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Notes to the Financial Statements

continued

9  Earnings per share

Earnings per Ordinary share
The eamings per Crdinary share can be analysed between revenue and capital, as below

Year ended Yedr ended
31 March 37 March
2017 2015
£000 £000
Net revenue profit 36,117 26,544
Net capital profit 46,868 53,913
Net total profit 82,985 80,457
Weighted average number of shares i ssue dunng the year 317,435,090 317500,980
pence penca
Revenue eamings per share 11.38 836
Capital earnings per share 14.76 16.58
Earnings per Ordinary share 26.14 25.34
o
3
. 3
10 Investments held at fair value A
>
- - r—
a) Analysis of investments n
- et
Group Campany Grous Camparty ;gl
2017 2017 206 2016 M
£000 £000 £020 E000 %
Listed in the United Kingdom 329,153 329,153 336,663 336,663 g
Listed Cverseas 718,519 718,31% 664,133 6G4,133
Investment properhies 971,304 97,304 97./64 Q//64
Investments held at fair value 1,144,776 1,144,776 1,098,560 1,098 560
Investrments in subsidiaries at fair value - 50,531 - 53,052

1,144,776 1,195,307 1,098,560 1,151,612

b} Gains on investments held at fair value

Year ended Year ended

31 March 35 March

2017 2016

£°000 E'000

Gains on sale of investments 81,756 83,271
Maoverment in investrnent holding gains (29,063} (15,184}
Gains on mvestments held at far value 52,693 64,087




Notes to the Financial Statements

continued

10 Investments held at fair value contnued

¢) Business segment reporting

Gross Gross

Valuation Met Net Valuation revernue revenue

31 March additions/ apprecanon,’ 31 March 31 March 31 March

2016 {disposals) (depreaation) 2017 2017 2016

£000 £000 €000 £000 E'000 £'000

Listed inwvestments 1,000,796 (7555) 54,737 1,047,472 35,574 27,358
Direct property’ 97764 361 (821) 97,304 5,330 4,353
1,088,560 (7194} 53,410 1,144,776 49,904 3711

Contracts for difference 329 2304 {1,487) 2,146 4,457 2,905
1,098,889 (3,890) 51,923 1,146,922 45,361 34,616

In seeking to achieve its investment objeciive, the Company invests in the shares and securties of pioperty companies and
property related businesses mitermnationally and also in investment property located in the UK The Comipany therefore considers
that there are two dishingt reporting segments, histed investments and direct property, which are used for evaluating pertormance
and alfocation of resources The Board, which s the prinapal decision maker, recewes information on the two segments on a
regular basis Whilst revenue streams and direct property costs can be attibuted to the reporting segments, general admimstrative
expenses cannot be split to allow a profit for each segment to be delermined, The assets and gross revenues for each segiment
are shown above

The property costs included within note 3 are £2,078 (2016 £1,533) and deducting these costs from the direct property gross
revanue above would result in net income of £3,252 (2016° £2,820) for the dwecl property reporting segment

d) Geographical segment reporting

Gross Gross

Valuation Net Net Valuation revenue revenue

31 Marzh adarons/ aporaciation/ 31 March 31 March 31 March

2016 disposalsy (depracanon) 2017 2007 2016

£000 E£020 £000 £000 £000 £000

UK Iisted equittes and canvertibles! 336,663 {5,452} {2,058} 329,153 8,600 7,963
UK direct property 97,764 301 (821) 97,304 5,330 4,353
UK fixed interest - - - - - 75
Contnental Furopean hsted equities 663,182 (1,069) 50,200 718,319 26,953 19,286
European fixed interest 951 (1,034} 83 - 21 36
1,098,560 (7.194) 53410 1,144,776 40,904 LIWAR

UK contracts for difference” (98) 2,071 (650) 1,323 2,081 1,505
European contracts for difference’ 427 (8,375) 5771 823 2,376 1,400
1,098,889 (10,498) 58,531 1,146,922 45,361 34,616

Included in the above figures are purchase costs of £768,000 (2016 £437,000) and sales costs of £298,000 (2016 £278,000)
These compnse mainty stamp duty and commission

! Ingluded vetlun UK Iisted equities and convertisles 1s a holdng in NewRver which 1s Tisted on the Alternative Investment Markat (AM) with a fair value of
£8,530,300 (2016 £12,366,000)

? Net additons/(dsposals) ncludes £1,177,000 (2016 £4,765,000) of capttal expenditure Net appreciation/{depreciation) includes amoats in respect of
tent free penods

¥ Gross revenue for contracts for difference relates to dividends recewable, on an ex dividend Hasis, o0 the underfyng positions held

e) Substantial share interests

The Group held interests n 3% or more of any class of capital n & companies we mvest N None of these investments 1s
considered significant in the context of these financial statements See note 21 on page 86 for further details of subsidiary
nvestments
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Notes to the Financial Statements

continued

10 Investments held at fair value continved

fy Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities

Finanaal assets and finanaal labilihes are carned in the Balance Sheet either at then far value (nvestments) or the balance
sheet amount Is a reasonable approxmation of farr value (due from brokers, diwndends and nterest recewvable, due to brokers,
accruals and cash at bank)

Fair value hierarchy disclosures
The table below sets out fair value measurements using 1FRS 13 farr value fuerarchy.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
At 31 March 2017 £000 £000 £000 £000
Equity investments 1,047,470 - 2 1,047,472
Investment properties - - 97,304 97,304
Contracts far difference - 2,146 - 2,146
1,047,370 2,156 97,306 1,346,922
Level Level 2 Level 3 Total
At 31 March 2016 £000 £000 £000 £000 it
Equrty investments 999,843 - 2 999,845 <
Investment propertics - - 97764 97,764 (Z.‘
Fixed interest nvestments a51 - - 951 E :
Contracts for difference - 329 - 329 Y
Foreign exchange forward conlracts - 809 - 809 {%‘
1,000,784 1,138 97766 1,099,698 g :
B
[¥al

The table above represents the Croup’s fair value hierarchy The Company's tair value hierarchy 1s identical except for the
inclusion of the farr value of the nvestment in Subsidianes which at 31 March 2017 was £50,531,000 (2016 £53,052,000}
these have been caregonsed as level 3 in both years The total financial assets at fair value for the Company at 31 March 2017
was £1,197,453,000 (2016 £1,151,3941,000).

The moverment from 31 March 2016 of £2,521,000 represents a redassification of £2,100,000 to a subsidiary intercompany
account together with deprecation of £421,000 (2016 £465,000 depreaatien} n the penod

Categonsation within the hierarchy has been determined on the basis of the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurernent of the relevant asset as follows.

Level 1 — valued using quoted prices in an active market for idenuical assets
Level 2 — valued by relerence to valuation techmques using observable nputs other than quated pnces within Leve! 1
Level 3 — valued by reference to valuation techmiques using inputs that are not based on observable market data

The valuation techmiques used by the Group are explained in the accounting policies in notes 1 (f) and 1 (g)
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Investments held at fair value continued

f) Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities continued
Reconciliation of movements in financial assets categorised as level 3

31 March Appreciation / 31 March

2016 Surchases Sales (Depreciztion) 2017

At 31 March 2017 £000 £'000 £'000 £'000 €000

Uniisted equity mvestments 2 - - - 2
Investment Properties

— Mixed use 54,152 773 (755) (1,083) 53,087

- Industnal 20,290 15 - 964 31,269

- Offices 13,322 328 - (702) 12,948

97,764 1,116 (755) (821) 97,304

97766 1,118 (755) (821) 97,306

All appreuation/(depreciation) as stated above relates to unlisted equity investments and mvestment properties held at 31 March
2017

Transfers between hierarchy levels

There were no transfers during the year between level | and level 2 nor between levels 1 or 2 and level 3

Key assumptions used in value in use calculations are explamed in the accounting polices in note 1 ()

Sensitivity information

The significant uncbservable inputs used i the far value measurement categonsed within Level 3 of the far value hierarchy of
mvestment properiies are

e bstimated rental value' £4-£50 per sq ft (2016° same)
e  Capralisabion rates 3.5% 9 7500 (2016 4 0%-9 000)

Significant increases (decreases) in estimated rental value i (solation would result in a significantly higher (lower) fair value
measurement A sigivficant increase (decrease) in Capitalisation Rates imisolauon would result in a significantly lower (lugher) farr
value measurement,

Financial Instruments

Risk management policies and procedures

The Group invests in equities and other mstruments for the long term in the pursuit of the Investiment Objective set out on

page 24 The Group 1s exposed to 4 vanety of nsks that could result m either 4 reduction or an increase in the profits availabie for
distnbution by way of dnidends,

The princmal nsks the Group faces i its portfolio management actiities are
¢ Market nsk (compnsing price nisk, currency nsk and interest rate risk)

®  iquicity nsk

& Credit nsk

The Manager's policies and processes for managing these nsks are summansed on pages 28 to 30 and have been applied
throughout the year.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

continued

11 Financial Instruments continued

11.1 Market price risk
By the very nature of its activities, the Group's investments are exposed to market price fluctuations

Management of the risk
The Manager runs a dverssfied portfolo and reparts to the Board on the porttolio actwity and performance at each board
meeting. The Board monitors the investment activty and strategy to ensure 1t 1s companble with the stated objectives

The Group's exposure 1o changes In market pnices on s quoted equity investments, CFDs and mvestment property portfolio, was

as follows
2017 2016
E'000 E'D00
Investmenis held at fair value 1,144,776 1,098,560
CFD long gross exposure 114,186 85,476

Concentration of exposure to price risks

As set out in the Investment Policies on page 25, there are guidelines to the amount of exposure to a single company,
geographical region or direct property These guidalines ensure an appropnate spread of exposure to mdwidual or sector price
nsks As an investiment company dedicated to investment in the property sector, the Group 1s exposed 10 price movements across

the property asset class as a whole, %
=
Price risk sensitivity %
The following table itlustrates the sensitvity of the profit after taxation for the year and the value of shareholders’ funds to an =
iIncrease or decrease of 15% in the far values of the Group's equity, fixed mterest, CFD and direct property investments The level hed |
ol change 15 Lonsistent wath the diustratien shown i the previous year The sensiivity based on the Group's equaty, fixed nterest, E
(_FD and direct property exposure at edch balance sheet date, with all other vanables held conslant r_?;l
2017 2017 2016 2018 5
Increase Decrease Increase Deaease ¥,
in fair value in fair value i tair vatue 19 falr walue
£'000 £000 060 00U
Staternent of Comprehensive Income — proht after tax
Revenue returmn (77) 77 (73) 73
Capital return 171,832 (171,832) 164,635 {164,635)
Change to the profit after tax for the year/shareholders’ funds 171,155 (171,755) 164,562 {164,5G2)
Change to total earmings per Ordinary share 54.12p (54.12)p 51.82p {(5182)p

11.2  Currency risk
A proportion of the Group's portfolo s Invested in overseas secunties and ther Sterling value can be significantly affected by
movements n foreign exchange ratas

Management of the risk

The Board recetves a report at each board mesting on the propaortion of the mvestment portioho held i Sterling, Euras or other
currenaes The Group may somenmes hedge foreign curency moverents outside the Furozone by funding investments in
overseds secunties with unsecured loans denommated in the same currency or through lorward currency cortlracts

Cash deposits are held in Sterling and/or Eure denominated aceounts
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Notes to the Financial Statements

continued

11 Financial Instruments continued

11.2  Currency risk continued

Foreign currency exposure
At the reporting date the Group had the following exposure
(Sterling has been shown for reference)

Curmancy 2017 2016
Sterling 35.1% 34 0%
Euro 51.9% 53.a%
Swedish Krona 7.3% 6 7%
Other 5.7% 5 7%

The following table sets out the Group's total exposure to foreign cunency risk and the net exposure to foreign currencies of the
net monetdry assets and labilies

Swedish
Sterling Euro Krona Other
2017 £'000 £000 £000 E'000
Recewables (due from brokers, dwidends and other income recewable} 30,993 7030 786 -
g Cash at bark and on depostt 3,403 2,137 a46 459
% Bank loans, loan notes and overdrafts (20,000) (42,768) - -
e Payables (duc to brokers, accruals and other creditors) (3.617) {1.460) (a74) (2,736)
é FX forwards (70,217) 47,070 - 22,413
= CFD Positons (Gross exposure) 65,119 49,067 - -
g Total foreign currency exposure on net monetary iterms 5,621 61,076 758 20,136
<ZE Investments held at fair value 426,457 578,309 88,931 51,079
e Non-current assets 243 - - -
Total currency exposure 432,321 639,385 89,689 71,215

Swedish
Sterhng Euro Krona Other
2016 £000 £000 £'000 £000
Recewables (due from brokers, dwdends and other income tecewable) 26,334 2,073 5 -
Cash at bank and on deposit 14,015 8,320 21 398
Bank loans, loan notes and overdrafts (30,000} (39,643) - -
Payables (due to brokers, accruals and other creditors) (12,567} (2,439) (467) -
FX forwards {79,729} 48,079 7,730 24,729
CFD Posiions (Gross exposure) 43,5G7 55,902 - -
Total foreign currency exposure on net moneltary items {38,380) 72,299 7289 25,127
Investiments held at far value 434,427 552,182 70,806 41,145
Non-current assets 243 - - -
Total currency exposure 596,280 674,481 78,095 66,272

Foreign currency sensitivity

The following table Wlustrates the sensitivity of the profit after tax for the year on the Group's equity 1n regard to the exchange
rates for Sterling/Furo and Sterling/Swedish Krona and other currencies.

It assumes the following changes in exchange rates

Stering/Eurc +/—15% (2016 1540)

Steding/Swedish Krona +/-15% (2016°15%)

Stering/Other 1+ /-15% (2016 15%)
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Financial Instruments continued

11.2  Currency risk continued
Fareign currency sensitivity

If Sterling had strengthened against the currencies shown, this would have the following effect:

Yeac ended March 2017 Year ended March 2016
Swedish Swedish
Euro Krona Other Eure Kigna Other
E£000 E£000 £000 £'000 E£000 £'000
Statement of Comprehensive Income - profit after tax
Revenue return (2,454} {288) 307 (1,906) (203) (241)
Capital return (68,993} (13,093) (6,653) (55362) (9,222) (5,358)
Change to the profit after tax for
the year/shareholders’ funds (71.847) (13,381) (6,386) (57268) (9.425) (5599)
2017 2016
Change 1o total earnings per Ordinary share (28.72)p {(2277)p

If Sterhing had weakened against the currencies shown, this would have had the following effect

Year ended March 2017 Year ended March 2016
Swedish Swedish
Euro Krona Other Fuo Krana Other
£000 £000 £000 £'0006 £'000 £000
Staternent of Comprehensive Income - profit after tax
Revenue return 3,960 354 770 2,335 249 317
Capital retumn 101,810 V15127 9,000 101,015 12,485 7253

Change to the profit after tax for the year/shareholders’

fuids 105,770 18,081 9,770 103,350 12,734 7570
2017 2018
Change fo total earmungs per Ordinary share 42.09p 3895p

11.3 Interest rate risk

Interest rate movements may affect

the fair value of any mvestments in fixed interest secunties

the fair vaive of the loan nutes

the level of income recevable from cash at bank and on deposit

the level of mterest expense on any vanable rate bank loans

e & & &

the prices of the underlying secunties held m the portfolios

Management of the risk

The possible effects on far value and cash flows that could anse as a result of changes in nterest rates are taken into account
when meking investment decisions Property companies usually have borrowings theniselves and the level of geanng and
struclure of its debt portfolio s a key factor when assessing the nvestment 0 a property company

The Group has fixed and vanable rate borrowings The interest rates on the loan notes 1s fixed, detals are set outin note 15 At
31 March 2017, 1n addimon to the loan notes the Group had unsecured, mulh currency revolving loan facilines which carry vanable
rates of nterest based on the currencies drawn, plus a margin These taciliies totalled £70,000,000 (2016 £80,000,000}

Ihe Manager considers both the level of debt on the balance sheet of the Group (1e the loan noles and any bank loans drawn)
and the: “sew through® geanng, laking into dccount the assets and habiliies of the underlying nvestments, when considenng the
investment porifolio These geanng levels are reported regularly tw the Board
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Financial Instruments continued

11.3  Interest rate risk continued
The mayority of the Group's investment portfolio s non-interest beanng As a result the Group's financial assets are not directly
subject to significant amounts of nsk due to fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market interast rates.

interest rate exposture

The exposure at 31 March of financial assets and financial iabihties to interest rate nsk 15 shown by reference to.

«  floating interest rates when the interest rate 1s due to be re-set

v fixed interest rates when the finanaial instrument 1s due to be repaid.

The Group's exposure to floating interest rates on assets' £27,943,000 (2016' £42,146,000)

The Group's exposure to fixed interest rates on assets £nil (2016 £951,000)

The Group’s exposure to fixed interest rates on liabilites. £57,768,000 (2016 £54,643,000)

The Group’s exposure to foating interest rates on habilibes £5,000,000 (2016° £15,000,000)

Inlerest recewvable and hnance costs are at the following rates.

+ Interest recenved on cash balances, or paid on bank overdrafts, 1s at & margin over LIBOR or its foreign curmency equivalent (2016 same)

+  Interest paid on borrowings under the mult-currency loan facilites, 1s at a margin over LIBOR or its foreign currency equivalent
for the type of loan

+  The finance charges on the £50m and £15m loan notes are at interest rates of 1.92% and $.59% respectvely.

The year end amounts are not representative of the expasure to mterest rates dunng the year as the level of exposure changes as
investrrients dre made n fised nterest secunties, borrowngs are drawn down and repard, and the mix of barrowings between
tleating and fixed witerast rates changes

Interest rate sensitivity
A change of 29 oninterest rates at the reporing date would have had the following direct impact.

2017 2017 18 2016

2% 2% 20 204

increase Decrease inziease Devrease

£000 £000 £000 £000

Change to shareholders’ funds (557) 557 (440) 440
Change to total eamings per Ordinary share {0.18)p 0.18p O 14)p 0 14p

Thus level of change 1s not representative of the year as a whole, simce the exposure changes throughout the period This
assessiment does not take into account the impact of interest rate changes on the market value of the investments the Group
holds

11.4  Liguidity risk

Unguoted investments in the portfolio are subject to hqudity nsk. The Group held one unquoted investment at the year end
(see 116 below)

in certain market cendimons, the iquidity of direct property investments may be reduced At 31 March 2017 8% {2016 9%) of
the Group's investment portfoho was held in direct property inwvestments

At 31 March 2017, 92%0 (2016° 9190) of the Group's investment pertiolio 15 held in listed secunties which are predominantly
readily realisable.

Ihe debenture loan of £15m was repaid in February 2016, Bank loan facilities are short term revolving loans which 1t s intended
are renewed or replaced but renewal cannot be certam Loan notes of €50m and £15m are repayable in February 2026 and
2031 respectively.

The table shows the tming ot cash outflows to settle the Group's current iabliies together with anticipated interest costs
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Financial Instruments continued

11.4 Liquidity risk contimued
Debt and Financing maturity profile:

Withia Within Within Within Within More than
1year 1-2years 2-3years 3-8 years  4-5 years 5 years Total
At 31 March 2017 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Bank loans* 5,000 - - - - - 5,000
Loan noles - - - - - 57,768 57,768
Projected nterest cash flows on bank and
loan notes 1,413 1,360 1,360 1,360 1.360 8,130 14,983
Secunties and properties purchased for
[uture setltlement 5,869 - - - - - 5,869
Foreign exchange forward contracts for
satilement 794 - - - - - 793
Accruals and deferred incorne 2,090 - - - - - 2,090
Other creditors 328 - - - - - 328
15,494 1,360 1,360 1,360 1,360 65,898 86,832
Warhun Within Within Within Wi bore than
1 year 1.2 yorrs 2 B oyears 3-4 years 45 yaars 5 yozrs Toval
At 31 March 2016 £000 £000 £000 faelele £000 £'002 £000
Bank loans* 15,000 - - - - - 15,000
Loan notes - - - - - 54,643 54,643
Projected interest cash flows on bank and
loan notes 1,496 1,300 1,300 1,300 1,300 8,009 15,704
Securtties and properties purchased for
future selttement 9,08% - - - - - 9,085
Tax payable 1,601 - - - - - 1,601
Accruals and deferred income 4,550 - - - - - 4,530
Other crediors 457 - - - - - 457
31,969 1,500 1,500 1,500 1,500 63,652 100,821

¥ A £50m one year mutticunen.y facility wath RBS exprred i January 2017, £40im was renewed for one year untl january 2018 Thes faclty was undrawn at
the balance sheet date A £30m cne year fackity with ING Luxermbourg was entered into m July 2016 Discussiors for a renawal when this 1s due to expue in
luly 2017 aie underway £5m wes drawn on this faclity at the balance sheet date

Management of the risk

The Manager sets guidelines for the maxmum exposure of the portfolio to unquoted and direct property investments These are
set cut In the Invesiment Policies on page 25. All unquoted smvestments and direct property investmeants with a value over

£5 million must be approved by the Board for purchase

The Comparny mamtains regular contact with the banks providing revolving fachiies and renewal discussions commence well
ahead of faclity renewal dates In additon the Company 15 explonng new opportunities for the provision of debt on an ongaing
basis.

11.5  Credit risk

The: failure of a counterparty 1o a transaction to discharge its obhgations under that transaction could result in the Group suffenng
a loss, At the: penod end the largest counterparty nsk, winch the Group was exposed to was within Detrtors and Cash and cash
equivalents where the total bank balances held with one counterpaity was £27,882,000 (2016 £22,054,000)

Management of the risk

Investrnent transdctions are carmed out with o number of brokers, whose credit standing s reviewed penodically by the Manager,
and lirmits are set on the amount that may be due from any one broker Cash at bank i< only held with barks with bigh qualiy
external credit ratings
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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11

Financial Instruments contnued

11.5 Credit risk continued
Credit risk exposure

In summary, compared 1o the amounts n the Balance Sheet, the maximum exposure to credit risk at 31 March was as follows.

2017 2017 2018 2016

Balance Maximum Balance Maaimum

Sheet exposure Sneet exposLre

£000 E£000 £000 £000

Debtors 38,809 38,809 28,9/8 28,978
Cash and cash equivalents 6,445 6,445 22,754 22,754
Fixed interest nvestments ~ - 951 931
45,254 45,254 52,683 52,683

Cffsetting disclosures

In order to belter define its contractual nghts and to secure nghts that will help the Group mitigate 1ts counterparty nisk, the Group
may enter o an 1SDA Master Agreement or similar agreement with 1ts OTC denvative contract counterparties An 1SDA Master

Agreement 15 an agreement belween the Group and the counterparty thal governs OIC denvatives and foreign exchange

conlracts and typically contans, among other things, collateral posting terms and netung provisions in the event of a default
and/or termingnion event Under an 1SDA Master Agreement, the Group has a contractual right to offset with the counterparty
certan dervative finanaal instruments payables and/or recewvables with collateral held and/or posted and create one single net
payment in the event of default Including the bankruptcy or insolvency of the counterparty However, bankruptcy or insolvency
laws of a partcular junsdicion may 1mpose restnicions on or prohubitions agamst the right of offset in bankruptey, nsolvency or

other events

The disclosures set out In the following tables include financial assets and financial habiliies that are subject to an enforceable

master neting arrangament or sumilar agreement,

At 31 March 2017 and 2016, the Group's denvative assets and liabilihes (by type) are as follows
Year ended 2017

Year ended 2016

Gross Net Cross Net
amounts of amounts amaounts of amounts
recognised of financial recogmisad  of finanaial
Gross financial assets Qrass financial assels
amounts of  liabilities presented amounts of liabilities presented
recognised  set off in inthe recogmsed set off m in the
financial the Balance Balance financial  the Balance Balance
assets Sheet Sheet assets Sheel Sheet
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £'000
Description
CFD positions 2,305 {159) 2,136 911 (582) 329
X forward contracts 86,913 (87.713) (794) 80,539  (79,730) 809
89,224 (87.872) 1,352 81,450 (80,312) 1,138
Year ended 2017 Year ended 2016
Net amounts of Net amodnts of

financial assets Cash  finanaal assots Cash
presented in the collateral  presented mthe collateial
Balance Sheet pledged Balance Shoot pledged
£000 £000 £'000 F1000

Counterparties
ING 2,146 22,882 329 22,094
BNP Panbas {794) - 809 -
1,352 22,882 1,138 22,094
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Financal Instruments continued

11.6 Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities

Cxcept for the loan notes which are measured at amortised cost, the far values of the iinancal assets and financial habiliies are
erther carned In the balance sheet at their fair value (investments) or the balance sheet amount is a reasonable approximation of
fair value {debtors, creditors, cash at bank and bank overdrafis, accruals and prepayments)

The fair values of the listed investments are denved from the dosing pnce or last traded prce at which the secunities are quoted
on lhe Londen Stock Exchange and other recognised exchanges

The fair value of contracts for difference are based on the underlying listed investment value as set out above and the amount
due from or to the counterparty under Lhe contract 1s recorded as an asset or hability accordingly

The fair values of the properties are derved from an cpen market {Red Book) valuation of the properties on the Balance Sheet
date by an independent firm of valuers (Frank Knight)

There was one unquoted investment at the Balance Sheet date, Nanette Real Estate, with a total value of £2,000
(2016, £2,000)

The amounts of change in far value for investments recognised in the profit or lnss for the year was a profit of £51,192,000

(2016 profit of £59,921,000)

11.7 Capital management policies and procedures

The Group's capital management ebjectives are

* 1o ensure that it wll be able to continue as a gong concern, and

® to maxmise the total return to 1ts equity shareholders through an appropniate balance of equity capttal and debt

The equity capitai of the Group at 31 March 2017 cansisted of called up share capital, share premium, capital redemption and
revenue reserves totalling £1,118,424,000 (2016 £1,065,419,000) The Group does not regard (he loan notes and loans as
permanent capital

The loan notes agreement requires compliance with 4 set of inanaial covenants, incduding’
* Total Borrowings shall not exceed 3390 of Adjusted Net Asset Value,
® lhe Adjusted Total Assets shall at all tmes be equavalent to a miimum of 300% of lotal Borrowings; and

¢ (he Adjusted NAV shall not be less than £260,000,000

Debtors
Group Company aroup Cumpany
m7 2017 2016 2016
£000 £'000 £000 o000
Amounts falling due within one year
Sccurties and properties sold for future settlement 8,557 8,557 2,966 2,966
Tax recoverable 718 606 524 524
Prepayments and accrued income! 4,755 4,755 4,131 3,739
Foreign exchange forward contracts for settlement - - 809 809
Amounts recawvable in respect of Corttracts for Difference 2,146 2,146 329 329
Other debtors 22,623 22,623 20,219 20,212
38,809 38,687 28,978 28579
Nan current assets
Deferred laxation asset 243 243 243 243

Uncludes amounts in respect of rent {ree perods
neludes CFO margin cash ol £21,498,000 (2016 £19,39.2,000)
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Notes to the Financial Statements

continued

13 Current and non-current liabilities

Group Company Qroup Company
2017 2017 2016 2016
£000 £000 £'000 £'000

Amounts falling due within one year.
Bank loans and overdrafts 5,000 5.000 15,000 15,000
Secunties and propertias purchased for future settlement 5,869 5,869 3,085 5,085
Amounts due to subsiclanes - 50,390 - 52,807
Tax payable - - 1,601 1,601
Accruals and deferred income 2,090 2,090 4,330 4330
Other creditors 328 3 457 250
Foreign exchange forward contracts for settlement 794 794 - -
14,081 64,465 30,473 83,113

Non-curtent iabilities

1 9260 Furn Loan Notes 20976 42,768 42,768 39,643 39,643
3 53% GBP Loan Notes 2031 15,000 15,000 15,000 15,000
57,768 57,768 54,643 54,643

The total amount of secured crediors s £nil (2016 Enl)

Loan Notes

On the 10th February 2016, the Company ssued | 92% Unsecured Furo 50,000,000 Loan Notes and 3 59% Unsecured
GBP 15,000,000 Loan Notes which are due to be redeemed at par on the 10th February 2026 and 10th February 2031
respectvely The fair value of the 1 92% Euro L oan Notes was £42,218,000 (2016. £39,797,000) and the 3.58% CBP Loan
Notes was £15,511,000 (2016, 15,301,000) at 31 March 2017, Using the IFRS 13 fair value hicrarchy the Loan Notes are
deemed to be categonsed within Level 2

2
e
[SN]
=
L
b=
=
W
-
e
U
Z
Z

>

The loan notes agieement requites compliance wath a set of financial covenants, including:

¢ Total Borrowings shall not exceed 33% of Adjusted Net Asset Value,

+ the Adjusted Total Assets shall at all tmes be equivalent to a mimmum of 300% of Total Borrowings; and
® the Adjusted NAV shall nat be less than £260,000,000

The Company and Group comphied with the terms of the luan noles agreement throughout the year

Multi-currency revolving loan facilities
The Group also had unsecured, mutt-currency, revolving short-term loan facliies totalling £70,000,000 (2016 £8G,000,000}
at 31 March 2017 At 31 March 2017 £5,000,000 was drawn on these faaliies (2016, £15,000,000)

The matunty of these faciliies and detail of thair renewal 1s shown in notes 113 and 11.4
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Notes to the Financial Statements

continued

13 Current and non-current liabilities continued

Net debt
Net dabt includes the value of the loan notes, loans, the notenal exposure to CFDs, less cash {(including cash collateral held by
the CFD provider which 1s shown as a debtor in the Financial Statements) as a proportion of equity shareholders’ funds

The net geanng has been calculated as follows

Group Group
2017 2016
£000 £'000
Loan notes 57,768 54,643
Loans 5,000 15,000
CFD posttions (notional oxpostire) 114,186 99,476
Less Cash (6,445) (22,754
Less Cash collateral (included wittun ‘Other debtors” in Note 12) {21,498) {15,392}
149,011 176,973
Equity shareholders' funds 1,118,424 1,065,419
Net gearing 13.3% 11.9% -
z
=
&
14 Called up share capital =
B (%]
Ordinary share capital ‘“)_3
The balance classified as Ordinary share canpitel indudes the nomimal value proceeds on the issue of the Ordinary equity share g
capital compnsing Ordinary shares of 25p i
Issued, aliotied —
and fully pard o
Number £003
Ordinary shares of 25p
At 1 Apnl 2016 317,500,880 79,375
Shares repurchased (150,000) (N
At 31 March 2017 317350980 79,338

The votng nghts are disclosed in the Report of the Directors on page 32

During the year, the Cormpany made market purchases for cancellation of 150,000 Crdinary shares of 25p each (2016, ni),
representing 0 05% of the number of shares in issue at 31 March 2016 The aggregate consideration paid by the Company for
the shares was £459,000 {2016, rul),

Smee 31 March 2017 no Ordinary shares have been purchased and cancelled

15 Share premium account and capital redemption reserve

Share premium account
The balance classified as share prenwum includes the piemium above nominal value from the proceeds on issue of the equity
shaie capital compnsing Orcinary shares of 25p

Capital redemption reserve
The capital redemption reserve 15 used ta record the amaount equivalent o the nomimnal value of purchases of the Company's awn
shares in order o mantain the Company's capital

)
i
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Notes to the Financial Statements

contitived

16 Retained earnings

Group Company Croup Camparty

2017 2007 2016 2016

£000 £000 £'000 £'000

Investment holding gans 335,083 367,644 365,491 400,573
Realised capital reserves 560,340 533,656 483,523 456,008
895,423 201,300 849,014 856,581

Revenue reserve 56,530 50,653 49,934 42,367
951,953 951,953 898,548 898,948

Group investment holding gains at 31 March 2017 include a £1,348,000 loss (2016, £1,348,000 loss) relating to unhsted
nvestments and gams of £33,518,000 (2016 £33,978,000) refating to investment properties.

Company investment holding gains at 31 March 2017 include gains of £64,730,000 (2016 £67,711,000) relating to unhsted
and subsidiary iInvestrments with a £32,378,000 revaluaton gan (2016 £32,838,000 gan) relating to mvestment properties
Dividends are only distrbutable from the revenue reserve

17 Dividends
ﬁ Year ended vear ended
LZL! 31 March 31 March
= 2017 1016
UEJ £000 E'000
7 Amounts recogmised as distributions to equity holders in the year
52: Final dwvidend for the year ended 31 March 2016 of 5 20p
"2" (2015 4.75p) per Ordmary share 16,510 15,081
% Intenim dividend for the year ended 31 March 2017 of 4.10p
oo (2016 315p) per Ordinary share 13,011 10,002
29,521 25,083
Amounts not recognised as distributtons to cqurty holders n the year
Proposed final didend for the year ended 31 March 2017 of 6.40p
(2016 5.20p) per Ordinary share 20,310 16510

The final dwidend has not been included as a hability in these financial statements in accordance with LAS 10 “Events alter the
Balance Shect Date”

Set out below 15 the 10tal dwidend 1o be paid In respect of the year. This is the basis on which the requirements of s 1158 of the
Corporation Tax Act 2010 are considered.

Year ended Year ended
31 March 31 March
017 2016
£000 £000
intenm dividend for the year ended 31 March 2017 of 4 10p

{2016 3 15p) per Ordinary share 13,011 10,002

Proposed final dividend for the year endad 31 March 2017 of 6 40p (2016 5 20p) per
Ordinary share 20,310 16510
33,321 26,512

84 PPty et st



Notes 1o the Financial Statements

continued

18 Company Statement of Comprehensive income

As permitted by Section 406 of the Companies Act 20086, the Company has not presented its own Staterment of
Comprehensive Income. The net profit after taxahon of the Company dealt with in the accounts of the Group was
£82,985,000 (2016, £80,457000).

19 Net asset value per Ordinary share

Net asset value per Ordinary share 1s based on the net assets atnbutable to Grdinary shares of £3,118,424,000 {2016:
£1,065,415,000) and on 317,350,980 (2016° 317,500,980) Ordinary shares in ssue at the year end

20 Commitments and contingent liabilities

At 31 March 2017 and 31 March 2016 the Group had no capital comimitments or contingent habilines

21  Subsidiaries

The Graup has the followang subsidiaries, alt of which are regislerad and operating n Scotland, England and Wales

Name Reg. Number Principal activity
New England Properties Limited 788895 Non trading company %
The Colonnades Limited 2826672 Non-trading company %
Showarl Limited 2500726 Non-trading company g
Trust Union Properties Resiaential Developmenls Limited 2365575 Non-trading company ;
The Property Investment Trust Ltd 2415846 Non-trading company g
The Real Estate lnvestment Jrust Limited 2416015 Noi-trading company E
The Terra Property Investment Trust Limited 2415843 Non-trading company L
Trust Uruon Property Investment Trust Limited 2416017 Non-trading company o
Trust Uruon Properties (Number Five) Limited 2415839 Non-trading company
Trust Urion Properties (Number So) Limited 2416018 Non-trading company
Trust Uruon Properties (Number Seven) Limited 2415836 Non-rading company
Trust Urnon Properties (Number Eight) Limrred 2416019 Non-trading company
Trust Umion Properties (Number Nine) Limited 241583% Non-trading company
Trust Union Properties (Number Ten) Limited 2416021 Non-trading company
Trust Union Properties (Nurmber Eleven) Lirmited 2415830 Non-trading company
Trust Union Properties (Number Twelbve) imed 2416022 Non-trading company
Trust Unien Properties (Number Thirteen) Lmited 2415818 Non-trading company
Trust Urnon Properties (Number Fourteen) Limited 2416024 Non-trading company
Trust Urion Properties (Number Fifteen) [imited 2416020 Non trading company
Trust Union Properties (Nurmber Sixteen) Lirnined 2415800 Non-trading company
Trust Uniion Properties (Number Seventeen) bimited 2416027 Non-trading company
Trust Union Properties (Number Eighteen} Limited 2415768 Non-trading company
Trust Union Properties (Bayswater) Limited: 2416030 Property investiment
Irust Union Properties (Cardiff) Limned 2415772 Non-trading company
Trust Union Properhias (Thedle) Limited 2416031 Non-trading company
Trust Union Properties (Number Twenty-Two) Limiled 2415765 Non-rading company
Trust Union Properties (Number Twenty-Three} Limited 2416036 Non-trading compary
Skiffion finance Limited 2420758 Non-trading company
Trust Union hinance {1991} Ple 2663561 Investrnent inanang
FGH Developments Limited 1481476 Non-trading company
FGH Developments (Aberdeen) Limited (F18030) SCHR/GY Non trading company



Notes to the Financial Statements

continued

21

22

86

Subsidiaries contnued

Name Reg. Number Principal activity
FGH {Newcastle) Limited 1466619 Non-trading company
NEP (1934) Lumited 977481 Non-trading company
New England Developments | imited 1385909 Non-rading company
New England Investments Limited 2613905 Non-trading cormpany
New England Retal Properties Limited 1447221 Non-rading company
New England (Southern) Lirmited 1787371 Non-trading company
Sapco One Lirmited 803340 Non-trading company
Trust Union Praperties Limited 2134624 Non trading company
Trust Union Finance bimited 1233398 Investment holding and finance company
TR Property Finarce Limited’ 2415341 Investment holding and finarce company
Trust Umian Properties (South Bank) Limited 2420097 Non-trading comipany

The Company has provided a guarantee for each of these subsidianes in order for them to take the exemption from the
requirernent of an audit, in ine vath the requirements of S 479A of the Companies Act 2006

All the subsidianes are wholly owned and all the holdings are orchinary shares.

All companies have the registered office of 11-12 Hanover Street, London, W15 1YQ with the exception of FGH Developments
(Aberdeen) Limited which 1s registered to 50 [ othian Road, Festival Square, Edinburgh FH3 9BY

Related party transactions disclosures

Balanices and transactions between the Company and its subsichanes, which are related parties, have been eiminated on

censolidation and are not disclosed in this note

Remuneration of key management personnel

The remuneration of the directors, who are the key management personnel of the Company for each of the relevant categenes
specifiied N IAS 24- Related Party Disclosures 1s prowided in the audited part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 48

and 45

Directors’ transactions

Transactions in shares by directors are considered to be a related party transaction due 1o the nature of therr role as directors
Mavements in directors’ shareholdings are disclosed within the Directors” Resnuneration Report on page 49 Diidends totalling
£8,000 (2016: £6,000) were paid in the year in respect of shares held by the Company's directors.

Investment Managet's fees

Dunng the year ended 31 March 2017 Thames Rwver Capital charged management fees totalling £5,258,000 {2016 £4,917,000)
to the Group m the normal course of business The balance of management fees cutstanding at 31 March 2017 was £75,000
(2016 £75,000) In additon a performance fee of £1,148,000 was ocutstandmg al 31 March 2017 (2016° £3,354,000).
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Alternative Investment Fund Managers Directive ("AIFMD")

In accerdance with the AIFMD, information i relation to the Company's leverage and remuneration of the Company’s AIFM, F&C
Investment Business Limited, 1s required to be made avallable to investors Detalled regulatory disclosures including those on the
AIFM's remuneration policy and costs are available on the FAC website or from FEC on request

Leverage
Under the AIFM Directive, 1t 15 necessary for AlFs to disclose therr leverage in accordance with prescnbed caleulations

Although leverage 1s olten used as another term for gearing, under the AIFMU 1t leverage 15 spechialy defined  Two types of
leverage calculations are defined, the gross and commitment methods. These methods summarly express leverage as a ratio of
the exposure of the AIF against i1s nel asset value. ‘Exposure’ typically includes debt, the value of any physical properiies subject
to morlgage, non- sterling currency, equity or currency hedging at absolute national values (even those held purely for nsk
reduction purpases, such as forward foreign exchange contracts held for curency hedging) and denvative exposure (converted
into the equivalent underlying positions) The commitment method nets off denvative instruments, while the gross method
aggregates them

The table below sets out the current maximum permitted mit and the actual level of leverage for the Company as at
31 March 2017,

Leverage exposure Gross method Commitment method
Maximum permitted Timit 200% 200%
Actual 12304 123%:

The leverage hmits are sel by the AIFM and approved by the Board and are in ine wath the imits sel oul in the Company’s
Articles of Association

This should not be confused with the gearing set out in the Finanaal Highlights which 1s calculated under the traditional method
set out by the Asseciation of Investment Companies The AIFM is also required to comply with the geanng parameters set by the
Board n relation o borrowings



NOTICE OF AGM

Notice of Annual General Meeting

THIS NOTICE IS IMPORTANT AND REQUIRES YOUR IMMEDIATE ATTENTION

If you are 1 any doubt as to the action you should take you should seek your own adwice from a stockbroker, solicitor, accountant or other
independent professional adviser.

If you have sold or othenwise translerred all of your shares, please pass this document, logether with the accompanying documents tc the
purchaser, or transferee, or to the person wha arranged Lhe sale or transfer so they can pass these documenits to the person who now
holds the shares

Notice 15 hereby given that the Annual General Meeting of

TR Property investment Trust ple {the “Company”) will be held at
2 00 pm on 25 July 2017 at Grosvenor House, A JW Mamott
Hotel, 86-20 Park Lane, London W 1K 7TN for the purpose of
transacting the following business.

To consider and, if thought fit, pass the following Resolutions,
of which Resolutions 1 to 11 will be proposed as Ordinary
Resolunons and Resolutions 12 and 13 shall be proposed as
Speaa! Resolutions
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10

11

88

To recewe the Report of the Directors and the Audited
Accounts for the year ended 31 March 2017,

To approve the Directors’ Remuneration Report for the year
ended 31 March 2017,

To approve the Cirectors Remuneration Policy

To dedare a final dvidend of 6 4 pence per Ordinary share
To re-elect Stmon Marrison as a director.

To re-elect Dawvid Watson as a director

To re-elect Hugh Seaborn as a director

To re-elect Suzie Procter as & drector

To reappoint KPMG LLP as auditors of the Cornpany to hold
office untl the condusion of the next Annual General Meeting
of the Company.

To authorise the directors to determime the remuneration of
the audnors

THAT the directors be generally and uncondiionally authonsed
pursuant to and 1 accordance with Sectien 551 of the
Companies Act 2006 (the "Act”) to exercse all the powers of the
Company to allot shares in the Company and to grant nghts to
subscribe for, or to convert any security into, shares 111 the
Company up to a nominal value of £26,181,455 (baing
approximately 33% of the total ssued share capital of the
Company as at the latest praciicable date prior Lo publication of
the notice of the meetng) provided that this authority shall expire
at the date of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company
(ur, f earlier, at the dose of business on 25 Ocluber 2018), save
that the Company shall be entitted 1 make ofters ur agreements
betore the expiry of this authonty which would cr might require
shares to be allotted or nghts 10 be granted atter such expiry and
the directors shall be entilied to altel shares and grant nghts

| R ERTEICED P Wi s B R

purstant to any such offers or agreements as if this authonty had
nol expired

THAT

(a) (subject to the pasaing of Resolution 11 set out above) the
directors be empowered pursuant to Sectien 570 and
Section 573 of the Act to allat equity securties (as defined
m Section 560 of the Act) for cash pursuant to the authorty
conferred by Resoluton 11 above and/or to sell shares
held by the Company as treasury shares for cash as if
Sertion 5G1(1) of the Act did not apply to any such
allotrment, provided that this power shall be irmited to:

(1 the allotment of equity secunties and sale of treasury
shares for cash 1 connection with an offer of, or
invitation to apply for, equity secunties

(8a) o shareholders 1 proportion (as nearly as may
be practicsble) to their exsing holdings, and

(bb)to holders of other equity secunties, as required
by the nghts of those secunties, or as the Board
otherwise considers necessary,

and so that the Board may impose any limits or
restnctions and make any arrangements which it
considers necessary or appropriate to deal with treasury
shares, fractional entitlements, record dates, legal,
regulatory or practical problems 1n, or under the laws of,
any temitory or any other matler, and

{1y n the case of the authority granted under Resolution 11
and/or w the case of any sale of treasury shares for
cash, to the allolment (otherwise than under
paragraph {1y above) of equity securities or sale of
treasury shares up to a nomingl amount of £3,966,887
(being approxmately 5% of the total 1ssued share
capiial of the Company as atf the latest practcable date
prior o publcation of the notice of meeting),

(b) the power given by this resolution shall expire upon the
expiry of the authonty conferred by Resolution 11 above,
save that the Company shdll be entiled to make offers or
agreements before the expiry ot such power which would
ur right require equity secunties 1o be aflotted after such
exprry and the directors shall be entitled to allot equity
securilies pursuant to any such offer or agreement as if
the power conferred hereby had not expired




Notice of Annual General Meeting

continved
13 THAT the Company be and 1s hereby generally and {c) the minimum pnce (exclusve of expenses) which may
unconditionally authonsed in accordance wath Section 701 be paid for an Ordinary share shall be 25 pence, being
of the Act 1o make market purchases (within the meanng the nommnal value per Ordinary share,
of Section 683(4) of the Act) of Ordinary shares of 25 pence
each in the capital of the Company on such terms and 10 such (d) the authonty hereby conferred shall exprre at the
manner as the directors may from tme to time determine conclusion of the Annual General Meeting of the
provided that' Company 1n 2018, save thet the Company shall be
entitled to enter nto a contract to purchase Grdinary
(a) the maxmum number of Crdinary shares hereby shares which waill, or may, be completed or executed
authonsed to be purchased shall be 14.99% of the wholly or partly after the power exprres and the Company
Company's Ordinary shares i 1ssue at the date of the may purchase Ordinary shares pursuant lo such contract
Annual General Meeting (equwalent to 47570,911 as if the power conferred hereby had nol exprred

Ordinary shares of 25 pence each at 7 June 2017, the
latest practicable date prior to publication),

(b) the maxmum price {exclusive of expenses) which may
be paid for any such share shall not be more than the

tigher of
Registered Office
() 105%% of the average of the middic market Registered in England No 84452
quotations for an Ordinary share as taken from the 11--12 Hanower Street
tondon Stock Exchange Daily Official List for the five London
business days immediately preceding the date on W15 1YQ
which the Company agrees to buy the shares
concerned, and By Order of the Board
(1) the higher of the price of the last iIndependent krade For and en behalf of
and the highest current independent tid for an Capita Company Secretarial Services
Ordinary share in the Company on the trading venue Secretary
where the purchase is camed outl at the relevant ume, 8 Jure 201/
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Directions Grosvenor House
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Dress code - smart casual

Please note that the hatels man entrance 1s on Park Street
(hetween upper Grosvenor Street and Mount Street) winch
runs parallel to Park Lane in a one way direction towards
Oxford Street

Notes to the Notice of Annual General Meeting

1

Members are entitled to appoint a proxy Lo exerase all or any
of therr nghts to attend and to speak and vote on their behalf
at the meeting A sharcholder may appoint more than cne
proxy 1n relation to the Annual General Mcetng ("AGM™)
provided that each proxy s appomted to exerase the rights
attached to a different share or shares held by that
shareholder A proxy need not be a shareholder of the
Company To appoint mere than one proxy, the proxy form
should be photocopied and the name of the proxy lo be
appointed indicated on each proxy form together with the
number of shares Lhat such proxy 15 appomted n respect of.

To be valid any proxy form or other instrument appointing a
proxy musl be returned by post, by couner or by hand to the
Company's Registrars, Computershare Investor Senvices PLC,
The Pavilions, Bridgwater Road, Bristol 8599 62, or
alternatively, by going to www eproxyappointment com and
following the instructions provided Al proxies must be
appanled by no later than 48 hours before the tme of the
AGM. The return of a completed proxy form or other such
instrument will not prevent a shareholder attending the AGM
and voting in person if he/she wishes o do so.

in order te be able (o altend and vote at the AGM or any
adjourncd meeting, (and also far the purpose of calculatng

TR Pl N shaent TURb

how many votes a perscn may cast) a person must have
his/her name entered on the Register of Members of the
Company by 6 00 pm on 23 July 2017 (or 6 00 pm on the
date 2 days before any adjoumned meeting) Changes to
entries on the Register of Members after this time shall be
disregarded in determining the nghts of any person to attend
or vote at the meeting

Shareholders should note that it1s possible that, pursuant to
requests made by sharehclders of the Company under
Section 527 of the Companies Act 2006, the Company may
be required to publish on a website a statement setting cut
any matter relating to* (1 the audit of the Company’s accounts
(induding the auditor's report and the conduct of the audit)
that are to be laid before the AGM, or (ir) any arcumstance
connected with an auditor of the Company ceasing to hold
office since: the previous meeting at whuch annual accounts
and reports were laid in accordance with Section 437 of the
Comparues Act 2006

e Company may not require the shareholders requesting
any such website publicalion to pay fts expenses in complying
with Sechons 527 o 528 of the Companies Act 2006 Where
the Company is 1equired to place a statermnent on a website
under Section 527 of the Companies Act 2008, it must
torward the statement to the Company’s auditor not later than
the time when It makes the slatement availlable on the
website The business which may be dealt with at the AGM
ncludes any stalement that the Company has been required
under Section 527 of the Companies Act 2006 to publish on
a website

Any corperation which 1s a member of the Company can
appoint one or more corporate representatves who may
exercise on its behalf all of its powers as a member provided
that they do not do so in relation to the same shares

The nght to appoint a proxy dees not apply to persons whose
shares are held on their behalf by ancther person and who
have been nominated to recetve communication fiom the
Company in accordance with Section 146 of the Companies
Acl 20056 ("nerminaled persons”) Nomunated persons may
have a nght under an agreement with the registered
shareholder who holds shares on their behalt o be apponted
(or to have someone else appomnled) as a proxy Alternatively,
i nominated persons do not have such a right, or do not wish
to exerase 1, they may have a nght under such an agreement
to give instructions (o the person holding the shares as to the
exerase of voling nights

CREST members who wish to appoint a proxy or proxes
through the CREST electronic proxy appointment senice may
de su for the AGM to be held on 25 July 2017 and any
adjournment{s) thereof by using the procedures descrbed in
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continued

the CREST Manual. CREST persanal members or other CREST
spansored members, and those CREST members who have
appomnted a voting senice prowvider should refer to their
CREST sponsors or voting service provider(s), who will be able
to take the appropnate action on their behalf

In order for a proxy appamntment or instruction made by means
of CREST to be valid, the approprate CREST message (a
"CREST Proxy Instruction™) must be properly authenticated in
accordance with Euredear UK & freland Limited's speciiications
and must contain the information required for such instructions,
as described in the CREST Manual, The message must be
transmutted so as to be receved by the Company's agent,
Computershare Investor Services PLC (CREST Participant 1D
3RAS0D), no later than 48 hours before the tme apponted for
the meeting For this purpose, the time of receipt will be taken
to be the tme (as determined by the time stamn apphed to the
message by the CREST Application Host) from which the
Company's agent s abla to retneve the message by enquiry to
CRFST i the manner prescribed by CRFST

CREST members and, where applicable, their CREST spensor
or voting service provider should note that Euroclear UK &
freland Limited does not make available special procedures in
CREST for any particular imessages.

Normal systerm timings and imitations wall therefore apply 1n
relation to the input of CREST Proxy Instructions 1t 1s the
responsbility of the CREST memiber concerned to take (or, if
the CREST mamber s a CREST personal member or sponsored
member or has appointed a voting scrvice provider, to procure
that his CREST sponsar or voting service provider takes) such
achion as shall be necessary to ensure that a message Is
transrrutted by means of the CREST system by any particular
time In this connection, CREST members and, where
applicable, thew CREST sponsor or voting service provider are
referred in particelar o those sections of the CREST Manual
concerrung practical himatations of the CREST system and
nrmings The Comipany may treat as invahd a CREST Proxy
Instruction n the arcumstances sel out in Regulation 35(5)a)
uf the Uncertficated Secunties Regulations 2001

Any member aftending the meetmg has the nght 1 ask

questions The Company mus! cause to be answered any such
question relating to the business being dealt with at the meeting
but no such answer need be gven f (&) 10 do so would interfere
unduly with the preparation {or the meeting or involve the
disclosure of confidential information; (b) the answer has already
been given on awebsite i the form of an answer to a question,
or {3 115 undesrable in the mterests of the Company or the
good order of the meetng that the question be answered
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A copy of this notice, and other information required by
section 311A of the Compantes Act 2006, can be found at
WwWW.Lrproperty com.

Members satisfying the thresholds in section 338 of the
Companies Act 2006 may require the Company to give, to
members of the Company entiled to receve notice of the
AGM, notice of a resolution which those members intend to
muve {and which may properly be moved) at the AGM

A resolubion may properly be moved at the AGM unless:

{0t would, if passed, be ineffective (whether by reason of any
inconsistency with any enactment or the Company's
constitution or otherwise), (i) 1t 1s defamatory of any person,
or (m} 1ts fnvolous or vexatious A request made pursuant to
this night may be in hard copy or electronic form, must identify
the resclution of which notice 1s to be given, must be
authentcated by the person(s) making it and must be
recewved by the Company not later than six weeks before the
date of the AGM

Members satisfymg the thresholds in section 338A of the
Companies Act 2006 may request the Company o include m
the business 1o be deaft with at the AGM any matter (othet
than a proposed resolution) which may properly be included
i the business at the AGM A matler may properly be incuded
in the business at the AGM unless' {1) it 15 defamatory of any
person; or (1) it 1s frvolous or vexstious A request made
pursuant 1o this night may be m hard copy or electrome form,
must idenufy the matter to be included in the business, must
be accompanied by a statement setting out the grounds for
the request, must be authenticated by the person(s) making 1t
and must be receved by the Company nol later than six
weeks before the date of the AGM

Bingraphical detalls of the directors are shown on page 33 of
the Annual Report & Accounts.

As at 7 June 2017 (being the latest practicable day prior to
publicanon of the notice of the meeting), the 1ssued share
capital of the Company 15 317,350,980 Ordinary sharcs of 25p
cach Therefore, the total number of voting nghts in the
Company at 7 fune 2017 1 317,350,980

ihe lerms of reference of the Audit Committee, the
Managerment Engagement Commuittee, the Nominaton
Committee and the Letters of Appomtment Tor directors will
be availlable tor nspection for at Teast 15 minutes prior 10 and
dunng the { ompany's AGM

You may not use any electromc address provided either in this
Notice or any related documents la communicate for any
purposes other than those expressly stated.
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Explanation of Notice of Annual General Meeting

Resolutions 1, 2, 3 and 4: Accounts,
Directors’ Remuneration Report, Directors’
Remuneration Policy and Dividend

These are the resolutions which deal with the presentation
of the audited accounts, the approvat of the Directors’
Rernuneration Report, the Directors’ Remuneration Policy
and the declaration of the final dvidend. The vote to
approve the remuneraticn report I1s advisory anly and will
not require the Company 1o alter any arrangements
detailed in the report should the resolution not be passed
The vote to approve the remuneration policy 1s binding.

Resolutions 5, 6, 7 and 8: Re-election of
directors

These resolutions deal with the re-election of Simon
Marnson, David Watson, Hugh Seaborn and Suzie Procter,
In accordance with the UK Corperate Governance Code, all
directors will retire on an annual basis and have confirmed
that they will offer themselves for re-election

A performance evaluation has been completed and your
Board has determined that each of the directors continues
to be effective and demonstrates ther commitment to
thetr role,

Resolutions 9 and 10: Auditors

These deal with the reappointment of the auditors, KPMG
LLP, and the authonsation for the diredtors to determine
their remuneration,

Resolution 11: Allotment of share capital

Our Board considers 1t appropriate that an authority be
granted to allot shares in the capital of the Company up
to a maximum nominal amount of £26,181,455
(representing approximately 33% of the Company's
issued share capital as al 7 June 2017, being the latest
practical date pnor to publication of the Notice of the
meeting) As at the date of this notice the Company does
not hold any shares in treasury.

The directors have no prasent intention of exercising this
authonty and would only expect to use the authonty If
shares could be 1ssued at, or at a premium to, the NAY
per share,

This authonity will expire at the earlier of close of business
on 25 October 2018 and the conclusion of the annual
general meeting of the Company to be held in 2018,

92 TR P 2ope oo spmet [<0s)

Resclution 12: Disapplication of statutory
pre-emption rights

This resalution would give the directors the authority to
allot shares {or sell any shares which the Company elects
to hold in treasury) for cash without first offenng them to
existing shareholders in proportion to their existing
shareholdings.

This authority would be limited to allotments or sales in
cannection with pre-emptive offers and offers to holders
of other equity securities if required by the nghts of these
shares or as the board otherwise considers necessary, or
otherwise up 10 an aggregate nominal amount of
£3,966,887 This aggregate nominal amount represents
5% of the total 1ssued share capital of the Company as at
7 June 2017, the latest practicable date prior to publication
of this Notice. In respect of this aggregate norminal
amount, the directors confinm their ntenticn to follow the
provisions of the Pre-Emption Group's Staternent of
Principles regarding cumulative usage of authonties within
a rolling 3-year penod where the Principles provide that
usage in excess of 75% should not take place without
prior consultation with shareholders.

The authonty will expire at the earlier of close of business
on 25 October 2018 and the conclusion of the annual
general meeting of the Company to be held in 2018.

Resolution 13: Authority to make Market
Purchases of the Company's Ordinary
shares

At the AGM held on 26 July 2016, a special resolution was
proposed and passed, giving the directors authority, untl
the conclusion of the AGM In 2017, to make market
purchases of the Company's own issued shares up to

a maximum of 14 99% of the 1ssued share capital.

Your Board 1s proposing that they should be gwen
renewed authority to purchase Ordinary shares In the
market. Your Board believes that to make such purchases
in the market at appropriate times and prices 1s a suitable
method of enhancing sharehelder value, The Company
would, within guidelines set from time to time by the
Board, make either a single purchase or a senes of
purchases, when market conditions are sustable, with

the aim of maximising the benefits to sharehalders.



Explanation of Notice of Annual General Meeting

continued

Where purchases are made at prices below the prevailing
Net Asset Value per share, this will enhance the Net Asset
Value for the remaining shareholders. It is therefore
intended that purchases would only be made at prices
below Net Asset Value. Your Board considers that it will be
most advantageous to shareholders for the Company to be
able to make such purchases as and when t considers the
nming to be favourable and therefore does not propose 1o
set a timetable for making any such purchases.

The Companes (Acquisition of Own Shares) (Treasury
Shares) Regulations 2003 enable companies in the United
Kingdem to hold in treasury any of their own shares they
have purchased with a view to possible resale at a future
date, rather than cancelling them If the Company does
re-purchase any of its shares, the directors do not currently
intend to hold any of the shares re-purchased in treasury.
The shares so re-purchased will continue to be cancelled

The Listing Rules of the UK Listing Authority imit the
maximum pnce (excluswe of expenses) which may be
paid for any such share. It shail not be more than the
higher of:

(1) 105% of the average of the middle market quotations
for an Ordmary share as taken from the London Stock
Exchange Daily Official List for the five business days
immedately preceding the date on which the
Company agrees to buy shares concemed; and

(i) the hugher of the price of the last independent trade
and the hughest current independent bid for an
Ordinary share in the Company on the trading venue
where the purchase 15 camed out

The mimimum price to be paid will be 25p per Ordinary
share {being the nominal value) The Listing Rules also limit
a Iisted company to purchases of shares representng up to
15% of its issued share capital in the market pursuant to a
general authonty such as this. For this reasen, the Company
is hmiting rts authonty to make such purchases to 14.99%
of the Company's Ordinary shares in 1ssue at the date of the
AGM, this 1s equivalent to 47,570,511 Ordinary shares of
25p each {nominal value £11,892,727) at 7 June 2017, the
latest practicable date prior to publicaticn. The authority vall
last until the AGM of the Company to be held in 2018

Recommendation

Your Board believes that the resolutions contained in this
Notice of Annual General Meeting are in the best interests
of the Company and shareholders as a whoie and
recommends that you vote in favour of them as your
Directors intend to do in respect of ther beneficial
shareholdings
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Directors and Other information

Directors

H Seaborn (Chairman)
J Glen

S Marnson

S Procter

D Watson

Registered Office

3rd Floor
11-12 Hanover Street
London W1S 1YQ

Registered Number
Registered as an investrnent company in England
and Wales No. 84452

AIFM

F&C Investment Busimess Limitad
Exchange House

Primrose Street

London EC2A 2NY

Portfolio Manager

Thames River Capital LLP, authonsed and regulated by the

Finanaial Conduct Authonty
3rd Floor

1 1-12 Hanover Street
London W1s 1YQ
Telephone: 020 7011 4100

Fund Manager
M A Phayre-Mudge MRICS

Finance Manager and Investor Relations
J L Eliot ACA

Deputy Fund Manager

A Lhonneur

Direct Property Manager
G P Gay MRICS

e
The Association of
Investment Companies
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Secretary

Capita Company Secretanal Services
40 Dukes Place
London EC3A 7NH

Registrar

Computershare Investor Senvices PLC
The Pavilions, Bridgwater Road
Bristol BS99 6ZY

Telephone: 0370 707 1355

Auditor

KPMG LLP
15 Canada Square
London E14 SGL

Stockbrokers

Cenkos Securities plc
6, 7, 8 Tokenhouse Yard
London EC2R 7AS

Stifel Nicolaus Europe Limited
150 Cheapside
London EC2V 6ET

Solicitors

Slaughter and May
One Bunhili Row
London ECTY 8YY

Depositary, Custodian and Fund
Adminsstrator

BNP Panbas Securiies Services
7 Harewood Avenue
London NW1 6AA

Website

Waww ArpIoperty.corm

Tax Advisers

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Central Square South

Crchard Street

Newcastle upon Tyne NE1 3AZ



General Shareholder Information

Release of Results

The half year results are announced in late November The
full year results are announced in early June.

Annual General Meeting
The AGM is held in London in July.

Dividend Payment Dates

Dividends are usually paid on the Ordinary shares as
follows:

Intenm: January

Final: August

Dividend Payments

Dwvidends can be paid 1o shareholders by means of BACS
(Bankers’ Automated Clearing Services); mandate forms
for this purpose are available from the Registrar.
Alternatively, shareholders can wrte to the Registrar (the
address 15 given an page 94 cf this report) to give therr
mstructions: these must include the bank account number,
the bank account title and the sort code of the bank to
which paymenis are to be made.

Dividend Re-investment Plan ("DRIP”")

TR Property Investment Trust plc now offers shareholders
the opportunity to purchase further shares 1n the company
through the DRIP, DRIP forms may be obtained from
Computershare Investor Services PLC through their

secure website wwwanvestorcentre.co.uk, or by phonming
0370 707 1694, Charges do apply; dealing commission
of 0 5% (subject tc a minimum of £1.00). Government
stamp duty of 0 5% also applies.

Share Price Listings

The market prices of the Company's shares are published
daily in The Financial Times. Some of the information 1s
published in other leading newspapers. The Financal
Times also shows figures for the estimated Net Asset
Values and the discounts applicable.

Share Price Information

ISIN GBOG09064097
SEDOL 0906409
Bloomberg TRY LN
Reuters TRY.L
Datastream TRY

Benchmark

Details of the benchmark 1s given in the Strategic Report
on page 24 of this Report and Accounts. The benchmark
index 15 published daily and can be found on Bloomberg,

FTSE EPRA/NAREIT Developed Europe Capped Net Total
Return Index in Sterling
Bioomberg' TRORAG Index

Internet

Details of the market price and Net Asset Value of the
Ordinary shares can be found on the Company's website
at www trproperty.com.

Shareholders who hold their shares in certificated form
can check therr holdings with the Registrar, Computershare
Investor Services PLC, via www computershare com,
Please note that to gain access to your details on the
Compttershare site you will nead the helder reference
number stated on the top left hand corner of your

share certficate.

Disability Act

Copies of this Report and Accounts and other dacuments
1ssued by the Company are available from the Company
Secretary. If needed, copies can be made available n a
vanety of formats, including Braille, audio tape or larger
type as approprate.

You can contact the Registrar, Computershare investor
Services PLC, which has installed textphones to allow
speech and hearing mpaired people who have their own
textphone to contact them directly, without the need for
an intermediate operator, by dialling 0870 702 0005.
Specially trained operators are available dunng normal
business hours to answer queres via this service.

Alternatively, if you prefer to go through a ‘typetalk’
operator (provided by the Royal National Institute for Deaf
People) you should dial 18C01 followed by the number
you wish to dial.




General Shareholder Information

continued

Nominee Share Code

Where notification has been prowided in advance, the
Company will arrange for copies of shareholder
communicatons 1o be provided to the operators of
neminee accounts. Nominee investors may attend general
meetings and speak at meelings when nvited to do so by
the Chairman

COT Base Cost

Taxation of capital gains for shareholders who
formerly held Sigma shares

Upcn a disposal of all or part of a shareholder's holding
of Ordinary shares, the impact on the shareholder's capttal
gains tax base cost of the conversion to Sigma shares in
2007 and the redesignation to Crdinary shares i1 2012
should be considered.

In respect of the conversion to Sigma in 2007, agreement
was reached with HM Revenue & Customs ("HMRC") to
base the apportonment of the capital gains tax base cost
on the proportion of Qrdinary shares that were converted
by a shareholder inte Sigma shares on 25 July 2007

Therefore, if an Ordinary shareholder converted 200 of
their existing Ordinary shares into Sigma shares on 25 July
2007, the capital gans tax base cost of the new Sigma
shares acquired would be equal 1o 20% of the onginal
capital gans tax base cost of the Ordinary shares that they
held pre-conversion The base cost of therr remaining
holding of Ordinary shares would then be 80% of the
original capital gains tax base cost of their Ordinary shares
held pre-canversion.

As part of the re-designation of the Sigma shares into
Ordinary shares in December 2012, a further agreement
was reached with HMRC that a sharehalders capital gans
tax base cost In their new Ordinary shares should be
equivalent to therr capital gains base cost in the
pre-existing Sigma shares {1.e. ther capral gains base cost
under the existing agreement if applicable).

If in doubt as tc the consequences of this agreement
with HMRC, shareholders shouid consult with their own
professional advisors.
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Investing in TR Property Investment Trust plc

Market Purchases

The shares of TR Property Investment Trust plc are listed
and traded on the London Stock Exchange. Investors may
purchase shares through their stockbroker, bank or other
financial intermediary

Holding shares in Certificated Form

fnvestors may hold their investment in certificated form.
Our registrars, Computershare cperate a dealing service
which enables investars te buy and sell shares quickly and
easily online without a broker or the need to open

a trading account. Alternatively the Investor Centre allows
Investors to manage portfolios quickly and securely,
update detalls and wiew balances without annual charges
Further details are available by contacting Computershare
on 0370 707 1355 or visit www.computershare.com.

TR Property Investment Trust plc now offers shareholders
the opportunity to purchase further shares in the company
through the Dividend Re-investment Plan {“DRIP")
through the registrar, Computershare Shareholders can
obtain further information on the DRIP through their
secure webste www nvestorcentre co.uk, or by phoning
Q370 707 1694 Charges do apply. Please note that to
gain access to your details or registar for tha DRIP on the
Computershare stte you will need the holder reference
number stated on the top left hand comer of your share
certificate.

Saving Schemes, ISAs and other plans

A number of banks and wealth management crganisations
provide Savings Schemes and 1SAs through which UK
chents can invest in TR Property investment Trust plc

§SA and savings scheme providers do charge dealing and
other fees for operating the accounts, and investors should
read the Terms and Conditions provided by these
companies and ensure that the charges best suit their
planned mvestment profile Most schemes carry annual
charges but these vary between provider and product.
Where dealing charges apply, In some cases these are
apphed as a percentage of funds invested and others as
a flat charge. The optimum way to hold the shares will be
different for each investor depending upon the frequency
and size of investrments to be made.

Details are given below of two prowviders offening shares in
TR Property fnvestment Trust, but there are many other
options

Alliance Trust Savings

Alliance Trust provide and admuister a range of self-select
investment plans, including tax-advantaged 1SAs and SIPPs
(Self-lnvested Pension Plans) and also Investment Plans
and First Steps, an Investment Plan for Children For more
information Allance Trust can be contacted on

01382 573 737, or visit www.allancetrustsavings.co.uk

investors i1 TR Property through the ATS Investment Plan
and ISA recewe all shareholder communications. A voting
nstruction form 15 provided te faciltate voting at general
meetings of the Company

F&C Asset Management Limited (“F&C")

F&C offer a number of Private Investor Plans, investrment
Trust and Junior 1ISAs and Children’s Investment Plans.
Investments can be made as lump sums or through
regular savings. For more mformation see nside the back
cover. F&C can be contacted on 0800 136 420, or vistt
wwwiandc.co.uk

Please remember that the value of your investments and
any income from them may go down as well as up Past
performance 15 not a guide to future performance. You
may not get back the amount that you invest. If you are in
any doubt as to the surtability of a plan or any investment
avallable within a plan, please take professional adwice.

Saving Schemes and ISAs transferred from
BNP Paribas

In 2012 BNP Panbas closed down the part of therr business
that operated Savings Schemes and 1SAs. Investors were
given the choice of transfernng their schemes to Alliance
Trust Savings ("ATS") or to a provider of therr cwn choice,

or to close thew accounts and sel! the holdings

If investors did not respond to the letters from BNP
Paribas, their accounts were transferred to ATS.

Any questions regarding accounts transferred to ATS
should be directed to ATS on 01382 573 737
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Investing in TR Property Investment Trust plc

continued

Share Fraud and boiler room scams

Shareholders in a number of Investment Trusts have been
approached as part of a share fraud where they are
informed of an opportunity 1o sell their shares as the
company Is subject to a takeover bid This is not true and
Is an attempt to defraud shareholders. The share fraud
also seeks payment of a "commission” by shareholders to
the parties carrying out the fraud.

Shareholders should rernain alert to this type of scam and
treat with suspicion any contaci by telephone offering an
attractive investment opportunity, such as a premium price
for your shares, or an attempt to convince you that
payment is required in order to release a settlement for
your shares These frauds may also offer to sell your
shares in companies which have little or no value or may
offer yau bonus shares. These so called “boiler room”
scams can also involve an attempt to obtain your personal
and/or banking informatien with which to commut identity
fraud.

The caller may be friendly and reassuning or they may take
a more urgent tone, encouraging you to act quickly
otherwise you could lese money or miss out on a deal.

If you have been contacted by an unauthorised firm
regarding your shares the FCA would ke to hear from you
You can report an unauthorised firm using the FCA helphne
on 0800 111 6768 or by visiting their website, which also
has other useful information, at www.fea.org uk.

If you recewve any unsolicited investment advice make
sure you get the correct name of the person and
arganisation. If the calls persist, hang up. If you deal with
an unauthonised firm, you will not be eligible to recewe
payment under the Financial Services Compensation
Scherne,

Please be advised that the Board or the Manager
would never make unsolicited telephone calls of
such a nature to shareholders.
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How to Invest

One of the most convenient ways to invest in TR Property Investment Trust plc is through one of the savings plans run by

F&C Investments.

F&C Investment Trust 1SA

You can use your ISA allowance to make an annual
tax-efficient investment of up to £20,000 for the
2017/18 tax year with a lump sum from £500 or
regular savings from £50 a month per Trust. You
can also transfer any existing iSAs to us whilst
maintaining the tax benefits

F&C Junior ISA (JISA)*

You can invest up to £4,128 for the tax year
2017/18 from £500 lump sum or £30 a month per
Trust, or a combimation of both Please note, if your
child already has a Child Trust Fund (CTF), then you
cannot open a separate HSA, however you can
transfer the existing CTF (held either with F&C or
another provider) tc an F&C JISA

F&C Child Trust Fund (CTF)*

if vour child has a CTF you can invest up to £4,128
for the 2017/18 tax year, from £100 lurmp sum or
£25 a menth per Trust, or a combination of both. You
can also transfer a CTF from ancther provider to an
F&C CTF. Please note, the CTF has been replaced by
the JISA and 15 only available to investors who
already hold a CTF.

F&C Private Investor Plan (PIP)

This 15 a flexible way to invest in our range of
Investment Trusts There are no mawmum
contributions, and investments can be made from
£500 lump sum or £50 a month per Trust. You can
also make additional lump sum top-ups at any time
from £250 per Trust.

F&C Children’s Investment Plan (CIP}

This is a flexible way to save for a child in our range
of Investment Trusts There are no maximum
contrbutions, and the plan can eastly be set up
under bare trust (where the child is noted as the
beneficial owner) or kept 1 your name if you wish
to retain contrel over the investment. Investments
can be made from a £250 lump sum or £25 a
month per Trust. You can also make additional lump
sum top-ups at any tme from £100 per Trust

*The CTF and JISA accouns are opened n the chitd’s narme and they
have access to the money af age 18 **Lal's may be racordnd o
e ored foe rainng and qudiity purpds.s

The value of nvestments can go down as well as up and you may not get back your ongindl mvestment Tax benefits depend on your indmdual
arcumstances and tax allowances and rules may change Please read our Key Features Document before you invest and this can be found on our
websile fande co uk FAC cannat give adwire an the siitability of nvesting i our nvestment trust or savings plans It you heve any doubt as to the
suitability of an investment, please contact a professional financial adviser

BAG e A part of BMO Hinanal Group

F&C Management Limited

FaC westmonts and ke FRE Investmentts g 20 nadtomarks of TRC Marageraenst L d © PR Managom.aat Trmeted 2017 e iod andd epprove By FRE Managemenl
L= d which s aabinnsed and regalaied by the Fnanoal Carduc A borsy FRN V18237 356 = a mmemiler of the FAC Croup nfwhieh e alimare parent commany 15 the
tank of Montedl Registered O e Frchange Pouse, Parmase Street, Londun [O2A 2NY Regsered in Bagla d & Wales ha 517895 [50_02/17_CMI1 1482

Charges
Annual management charges and other charges apply according to the type
of plan.

Annual account charge

15A: £60+VAT

PIP: £40+VAT

JISA/CIP/CTF: £25+VAT

You can pay the annual charge from your account, or by direct debit
{in addiion to any annual subscription limits)

Dealing charges
1SA: 0.2%
PIP/CIP/HISA: postal instructions £12, online nstructions £8 per Trust

Dealing charges apply when shares are bought or sold but not on the
reinvestment of dwdends or the iInvestrent of monthly direct debits for
the PIF, CIP and JISA

There ara no dealing charges on a CTF but a switching charge of £25
apphes if more than 2 switches are carned out In one year

Government stamp duty of 0 5% also applies on the purchase of shares
{where applicable).

There may be addiional charges made if you transfer a plan to another
provider or transter the shares from your plan

For full details of our savings plans and charges, please read the Key
Features and Termns and Conditions of the plan — available on our website
fandc.co.uk

How to Invest
To open a new F&C savings plan, apply online at fandc.com/apply

Note, this 1 not avalable if you are transfernng an existing plan with another
providar to F&C, or 1f you are applying for a new plan in more than one
name

New Customers
Calk: 0800 136 420** (8 30am — 5.30pm, weekdays)
Ematl: info@fandc.com

Existing Plan Holders

Call 0345 600 3030™* (9.00am — 5 00pm, weekdays)
Email investor.enquiries@fandc.com
By post: F&C Plan Admiristration Centre

FOBox 11114

Chelmsford

ChM9g 2DG

You can also invest in the trust through online dealing platforms for private
irwestors that offer share dealing and 15As Companies include: Alliance
Trust Savings, Barclays Stockbrokers, Halifax, Hargreaves
Lansdown, HSBC, interactive investor, LLoyds Bank, Selftrade, TD
Direct Investing, The Share Centre

[
ek
e
LU
R




- :5|d 151] JUSLLISOALY Au_adwd L

'33?.

. Trast pl¢ is manaied

%

.“‘Kﬁ) o - : . ’
s e e LT : . - P
o P

_ ) s Tt e . .
-= 27, This document is printed on Amadeus 50.White-Silk; 2 ggéfkg:on‘tda'iningkjoﬂlo recycled fibre and 50% virgin fibre sourced from well-managed, . :
responsible, FSC¥ certified ,fggesl&“f"ﬁié pulp Géegmtﬁ%iifg:dud s blgached using an Elemental Chlorine Free (ECF) process. Lo

R .

s SRR
gt e

Sage




